
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA

 
Monday, September 29, 2014

1:30 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

This meeting is open to the public and all representations to Council form part of the
public record.  A live audio feed is being broadcast and recorded by CastaNet and a
delayed broadcast is shown on Shaw Cable.

2. Confirmation of Minutes 6 - 21

Regular PM Meeting - September 15, 2014

3. Public in Attendance

3.1 Paddle Centre Update 22 - 39

4. Development Application Reports & Related Bylaws

4.1 Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal No. A14-0007 - 1185 McKenzie Road, David
Sollosy & Cynthia Davis  

40 - 53

Mayor to invite the Applicant or Applicant's Representative to come
forward.
To consider a staff recommendation NOT to exclude 1185 McKenzie Road from
the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).

4.2 Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal No. A14-0008 - 1670 DeHart Road, Jane
Hatch

54 - 64

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for a
subdivision under the ALC Act, to allow for the subdivision of 283.5 square
metres of 1670 Dehart Road for the use of a columbarium for the Immaculate
Conception Church Cemetery.

4.3 Text Amendment No. TA14-0017 - Norr Architexts Planners, Bryce Tupper 65 - 84

To amend the existing CD18 Vintage Landing Comprehensive Resort

1



Development zone with a renamed/revised CD18 - McKinley Beach
Comprehensive Resort Development zone which reduces and refines the
permitted uses and provides greater clarification to the regulations pertaining to
the development of “McKinley Beach”.

4.3.1 Bylaw No. 11012 (TA14-0017) - Vintage Landing Comprehensive
Reosrt Development

85 - 92

To give Bylaw No. 11012 first reading.

4.4 Official Community Plan Amendment Application No. OCP14-0013 & Rezoning
Application No. Z14-0027 - 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue, Meiklejohn
Architects 

93 - 130

To consider the proposed OCP and Zone Amendments in order to
accommodate a 3.5 storey mixed use health services building.

4.4.1 Bylaw No. 11005 (OCP14-0013) - 310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue, Dr.
Heather Martin Inc. and City of Kelowna

131 - 131

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5)
To give Bylaw No. 11005 first reading.

4.4.2 Bylaw No. 11006 (Z14-0027) - 310 and 320 Strathcona Avenue, Dr.
Heather Martin Inc. and City of Kelowna

132 - 132

To give Bylaw No. 11006 first reading.

4.5 Rezoning Application No. Z13-0044 - City Parks, City of Kelowna 133 - 137

To rezone 26 properties from various zonings to P3 – Parks and Open Space in
order to recognize their current use as parks.

4.5.1 Bylaw No. 11014 - Various Addresses, City of Kelowna 138 - 142

To give Bylaw 11014 first reading.

4.6 Text Amendment No. TA14-0016 - Health District Amendments 143 - 148

To consider proposed bylaw amendments to clarify interpretation and
consistency for the Health District 2 (HD2) and Health Services Transitional 3
(HD3) zone regulations.

4.6.1 Bylaw No. 10997 (TA14-0016) - Amendments to Health District Zone 
in the City of Kelowna  Zoning Bylaw No. 8000

149 - 153

To give Bylaw No. 10997 first reading.

4.7 Text Amendment No. TA14-0018 - City of Kelowna 154 - 157

To amend the P1- Major Institutional zone to allow Non-accessory Parking as a
secondary use.

2



4.7.1 Bylaw No. 11013 (TA14-0018) - Amendments to the Zoning Bylaw No.
8000 - Section 16 - Public and Institutional Zones

158 - 158

To give Bylaw No. 11013 first reading.

4.8 Rezoning Application No. Z14-0030 - 519-539 Truswell Road, GTA Architecture 159 - 171

To consider rezoning the subject properties from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing
zone to the C9 – Tourist Commercial zone to accommodate the development of
a 6 storey mixed use (residential/commercial) development.

4.8.1 Bylaw No. 11015 (Z14-0030) - 519, 529 and 539 Truswell Road, MKS
Resources Inc.

172 - 172

To give Bylaw No. 11015 first reading.

4.9 Rezoning Application No. Z12-0046 - 1350 St. Paul Street, Joseph Higgins 173 - 175

To extend the date of adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10757 from
October 2, 2014 to February 2, 2015.

4.10 Development Permit Application No.  DP14-0152 - 505 Doyle Avenue, David
Roche (Bentall Kennedy)

176 - 216

To consider a development permit application for the proposed Interior Health
Authority building located on the subject parcel

4.11 Official Community Plan Amendment No. OCP14-0012 and Rezoning
Application No. Z14-0025 - 1650 KLO Road, Danco Developments Ltd.

217 - 217

To give initial consideration to the Official Community Plan and Zoning
Amending Bylaws in order to forward the application to a Public Hearing.

4.11.1 Bylaw No. 11007 - 1650 KLO Road, Danco Developments Ltd. 218 - 219

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5)
To give Bylaw No. 11007 first reading.

4.11.2 Bylaw No. 11008 - 1650 KLO Road, Danco Developments Ltd. 220 - 221

To give Bylaw No. 11008 first reading.

5. Bylaws for Adoption (Development Related)

5.1 Bylaw No. 10833 (TA13-0004) - Pier Mac Petroleum Intallation Ltd. - 1760,
2025 and 2137 Quail Ridge Boulevard

222 - 222

To adopt Bylaw No. 10833 in order to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw
No. 8000.

5.2 Bylaw No. 10989 (Z14-0017) - Comfortcrafted Homes Inc. - 815 Juniper Road 223 - 224

3



To adopt Bylaw No. 10989 in order to rezone the subject property from the RU1
- Large Lot Housing Zone to the RU6 - Two Dwelling Housing zone.

5.3 Bylaw No. 10995 (TA14-0009) - Amendment to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 - Boat
Signage Definition

225 - 226

To adopt Bylaw No. 10995 in order to amend the definition of 'Boat Storage' in
Section 2 of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000.

5.4 Bylaw No. 10856 (OCP13-0005) - 1982 Kane Road, Raisanen Construction Ltd 227 - 228

Requires a majority of all members of Council (5).

To adopt Bylaw No. 10856 in order to change the future land use designation of
portions of the subject property from the MRL - Multiple Unit Residential (Low
Density) and MRM - Multiple Unit Residential (Low Density), and MRM -
Multiple Unit Residential (Medium Density) designations.

5.5 Bylaw No. 10857 (Z13-0006) - 1982 Kane Road, Raisanen Construction Ltd. 229 - 230

To adopt Bylaw No. 10857 in order to rezone portions of the subject property
from the A1 - Agriculture zone to the C3 - Community Commercial, RM1 - Four
Dwelling Housing, RM3 - Low Density Multiple Housing and RM5 - Medium
Density Multiple Housing zones.

6. Non-Development Reports & Related Bylaws

6.1 Memorandum of Understanding - Grant for French Library Material 231 - 237

The Memorandum of Understanding provides that the City agrees to forward
funds received from the Province of British Columbia, Intergovernmental
Relations Secretariat Francophone Affairs Program (FAP) to the Okanagan
Regional Library (ORL) to purchase French Language materials and to forward
to FAP by March 2015 evidence of project deliverables as provided to the City
of Kelowna by ORL.

6.2 Overview of 2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Grants 238 - 274

To provide an overview of grant programs and processes to be administered by
the Cultural Services Branch for 2015. In early 2015, following the grant
adjudication process, staff will provide the list of 2015 recipients and a summary
of achievements, benefits and impacts arising from grants awarded in 2014.

6.3 Gillard Mountain Biking Trail Network 275 - 278

To provide the Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan with a letter of
support for their Section 57 Application to legalize the Gillard Mountain Biking
Trail network.

6.4 Fortune Marketing Lease 279 - 326

4



To authorize a lease agreement with Fortune Marketing Inc. for a +/-874 sf
commercial space in the Chapman Parkade.

6.5 Non Market Lease - Kelowna Outrigger Canoe Club Association 327 - 391

To approve a lease of City-owned lands at 3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott
Street (the “Subject Properties”, as shown in Schedule A) to the Kelowna
Outrigger Canoe Club Association (the “Paddle Center”) for a term of 5 years
with two 2-year renewal terms

6.6 Proposed Road Closure - Portion of Lane Adjacent to 551 Glenwood Avenue 392 - 397

To close a portion of lane adjacent to and as requested by the owner of 551
Glenwood Avenue to facilitate the development of a mixed use commercial
building.

6.6.1 Bylaw No. 10798 - Road Closure Bylaw - Portions of Lane adjacent to
551 Glenwood Avenue

398 - 399

To give Bylaw No. 10798 first, second and third readings.

7. Bylaws for Adoption (Non-Development Related)

7.1 Bylaw No. 10932 - Road Closure Bylaw and Removal of Highway Dedication
Bylaw - Portion of Laneway between St. Paul and Richter Streets

400 - 401

Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves
affected by the proposed road closure to come forward.
To adopt Bylaw No. 10932 in order to permanently close and remove the
highway dedication of a portion of laneway between St. Paul Street an Richter
Street

8. Mayor and Councillor Items

9. Termination

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



A place for everyone 
22



New place in town 

KPC - Season 1 23

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eI5zEwXscgc�


I. Highlights 
II. Vision 
III. What we need to 

achieve this 
vision 

24



Outrigger Canoe 
25



Stand Up Paddle Board 
26



Canoe Kayak 
27



90 members 
Ages 5-70 

28



Geographic distribution 

29



Home of 
national  

and world 
champions 

30



Learn to Paddle Programs 

150 kids, 50 adults  

Camps / schools 
180 drop in visits 

31



Current Home - 3050 Abbott  

Location 

Parking 

Storage Good Neighbour 32



Our Team 

33



Relationship Building 

34



Vision 
To be the hub of Paddle Sport in the 

Okanagan 
To build a place for everyone to enjoy a 

healthy active lifestyle on the lake. 

35



Ultimately, our vision is to have KPC be fully 
integrated into a public park. Open and 

accessible to all.  
 

36



Community Benefits with  
Kelowna Paddle Centre =  

City’s Official Community Plan Goals 

37



What we need to achieve this vision and these benefits 
 

 
Strong leadership 
Strong partnerships 
Space 
 
 

38



A place for everyone 
39



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 9/15/2014 

RIM No. 1210 - 21 

To: City Manager 

From:   Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (MS) 

Application: A14-0007 Owners:  
David R. Sollosy 
Cynthia L. Davis 
 

Address: 1185 McKenzie Road Applicants: 
David R. Sollosy 
Cynthia L. Davis 

Subject: Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR) Exclusion 

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A14-0007 for Lot 1 Section 25 TWP 26 
ODYD Plan 25343, located at 1185 McKenzie Road for an exclusion, pursuant to Section 30(1) of 
the Agricultural Land Commission Act, NOT be supported by Municipal Council;  
 
AND THAT the Municipal Council directs staff to forward the subject application to the 
Agricultural Land Commission for consideration. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a staff recommendation NOT to exclude 1185 McKenzie Road from the Agricultural 
Land Reserve (ALR).  

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services  

Staff notes that the subject property was subdivided in 1974 as a homesite for family members. It 
was subsequently sold and purchased by the current owners in 1993. The current owners have 
indicated that it wasn’t their intention to farm the property, but they wanted to provide a rural 
living experience for their children. The property does not have farm classification status 
according to BC Assessment. 

The policy of subdividing homesite parcels in the Agricultural Land Reserve was initiated to 
enable farmers to retire in their homes without the responsibility of operating the farm. The 
provisions of homesites, where the owners qualify, has been supported by the ALC and the City of 
Kelowna.  

The intended future land use plan for homesites is that they stay in the Agricultural Land Reserve 
as rural residential properties. At its creation, the ALR intentionally included smaller parcels 

40



A14-0007 – Page 2 

 
 

among larger, contiguous parcels within the ALR, to avoid potential land use conflicts of an urban 
/ rural interface, and potential resulting pressure on adjacent farming operations. 

The Official Community Plan and Agriculture Plan both state that exclusions will generally not be 
supported (Section 5.0, below). The Resource Protection Area future land use discourages further 
densification or parcelization regardless of property size. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject property is located south of McKenzie Road on the “McKenzie Bench” in the Belgo – 
Black Mountain Sector of the City. The site area is 0.38 hectares (0.96 acres) and the site 
elevation varies between 506 m and 509 m.  The soils in this area are Class 6 with improved 
ratings of Class 3 according to the land inventory (see attached Canada Land Inventory 
information).  Soil limitations include “droughtiness” and “stoniness” and lack of nutrients in the 
other. 

The subject property is encumbered by a utility right of way (Black Mountain Irrigation District) 
which provides the east/west connection of a water pipeline through it.  The land within the 
right of way cannot support buildings or structures. 

While the subject property does have road frontage on McKenzie Road, no direct access presently 
exists.  Instead the parcel is accessed from the west from an access road off of McKenzie.   

4.2 Project Description 

The applicants are requesting permission from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) to exclude 
1185 McKenzie Road, with an area of 0.39 ha (.96 ac), from the Agricultural Land Reserve (ALR).  

The applicants wish to exclude their property for a number of reasons, as noted in their letter of 
rational. The letter (attached) states: 

 The farm is too small to farm and rocky; 

 A gulley was filled in due to a water line installed through the property; and 

 The neighbourhood character is changing. 

Staff notes that this is an exclusion application only at this time, and no future land use changes 
are being applied for or contemplated. 

The applicants have posted signage and provided notification to neighbours in accordance with 
the ALC policy for exclusions. City of Kelowna staff have received one letter from a neighbour in 
opposition to the application.  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located along the McKenzie Bench, in the Belgo – Black Mountain Sector 

of the City, and is outside the Permanent Growth Boundary. 

4.4 Current and Historical Land Use 

The subject property has a current land use of rural residential. The owners purchased the 
property in 1993, and have had chickens, geese, ducks and pot bellied pigs in the past. No 
significant farming activity has occurred on the property since at least 1995.  The property does 
not have farm status. 

  

41



A14-0007 – Page 3 

 
 

Map 1: Permanent Growth Boundary 

 
 

4.5 Neighbourhood Context 

The subject property is on the McKenzie Bench, south of Gibson Road, in Rutland. 

Map 2: Neighbourhood Context 

 

4.6 Subject Property 

The subject property is at the corner of Gibson and McKenzie Roads. 

Subject Property 

Permanent 
Growth Boundary 

Subject Property 

42



A14-0007 – Page 4 

 
 

Map 3: Subject Property 

 

4.7 Parcel Summary 

 
The parcel summary is noted below. 

 

1185 McKenzie Road 

 Parcel Size: 0.39 ha (.96 ac), 
 Elevation: 505.5 m.a.s.l. to  509.5 m.a.s.l.  

4.8 Zoning of Adjacent Property 

The zoning of adjacency properties is outlined in the table below: 

 
Table:  Zoning of Adjacent Property 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use 

North A1- Agricultural Agricultural 

East A1- Agricultural 
Agricultural 
Rural Residential 

South 
RR2 – Rural Residential  
A1- Agricultural C5 - Commercial 

Rural Residential  
Agricultural 

West A1- Agricultural 
Agricultural 
Public Utilites 

 
The property is surrounded by properties in the ALR, as shown in Map 4, below. 
 
  

43



A14-0007 – Page 5 

 
 

Map 4:  ALR 

 

4.9 Future Land Use 

The subject property has a future land use of Resource Protection Area (REP), and it is 
surrounded by properties of the same designation, with the exception of the BMID property to the 
west, which is designated Public Services and Utilities.  The properties 0.4 kilometre to the west 
have a future land use designation of Single / Two Unit Residential.  

Map 5: Future Land Use 

 

44



A14-0007 – Page 6 

 
 

The topography is shown in the map below.  Contours indicate that the slope rises from the west 
to the east at a consistent 11% through the property. Adjacent McKenzie Road, a culvert runs 
under the road from approximately 68 metres to the east, bypasses the property and emerges 
across the road to the west. 
 
Map 6: Topography 

 
 
There is an easement for a water line running through the property, from northeast to southwest, 
roughly in the middle of the property. 
 
Map 7: Easements 

 

45



A14-0007 – Page 7 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998) 

ALR Application Criteria1 
Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

New Growth Areas2. Discourage the establishment of new growth areas within or beyond 
agricultural areas that create additional traffic pressure on the local rural road network. 

Farmland Preservation3. Direct urban land uses to areas within the permanent growth boundary, 
in order to reduce development and speculative pressure. This is to encourage the preservation 
of agricultural lands and discourage further extension of existing urban areas into agricultural 
lands. 

Urban Buffers. Require new development, adjacent to agricultural areas, to establish setbacks, 
fencing and landscape buffers on the urban side of the defined urban – rural/agricultural 
boundary. 

Parcel Size: Agricultural Land4. Discourage the subdivision of agricultural land into smaller 
parcels, except where positive benefits to agriculture can be demonstrated. 

Parcel Size: Non - Agricultural Land5. Discourage subdivision to smaller parcel sizes on lands 
beyond agricultural areas in order to reduce negative impacts on the farming community and 
encourage the Central Okanagan Regional District and the Ministry of Environment, Land and 
Parks to consider maintaining larger minimum parcel sizes for Crown Lands within and adjacent 
to the City in recognition of the provincial interest in retaining farming. 

Isolated Development. In general, not support extensions to existing development or new 
development isolated within agricultural areas, regardless of ALR status. 
 

5.2 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Land Use Designation Definitions 

Resource Protection Area6 
Generally land areas within this designation (whether they are within the permanent growth 
boundary or not) will not be supported for exclusion from the ALR or for more intensive 
development than that allowed under current zoning regulations, except in specific 
circumstances where the City of Kelowna will allow exceptions to satisfy civic objectives for the 
provision of park/recreation uses. Minimum parcel size for ALR land is 2.0 ha and non-ALR land is 
4.0 ha as indicated in the A1 Agricultural Zone of Zoning Bylaw 8000. 
 
 
 
  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan. 1998. P. 130. 
2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 99. 
3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131 & 132. 
4
 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131 & 132. 

5
 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 131 & 132. 

6 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Future Land Use Chapter. P. 4.2. 

46



A14-0007 – Page 8 

 
 

Permanent Growth boundary7 
 
Lands within the permanent growth boundary may be considered for urban uses within the 20 
year planning horizon ending 2030. Lands designated as Future Urban Reserve within the 
permanent growth boundary may be considered for urban uses beyond 2030. Lands outside the 
permanent growth boundary will not be supported for urban uses. 
 

Chapter 5 – Development Process 

Objective 5.3  Focus development to designated growth areas. 

Policy .1 Permanent Growth Boundary8. Establish a Permanent Growth Boundary as identified 
on Map 4.1 and Map 5.2. Support development of property outside the Permanent Growth 
Boundary for more intensive uses only to the extent permitted as per the OCP Future Land Use 
designations in place as of initial adoption of OCP Bylaw 10500, except as per Council’s specific 
amendment of this policy. Resource Protection Area designated properties not in the ALR and 
outside the Permanent Growth Boundary will not be supported for subdivision below parcel sizes 
of 4.0 ha (10 acres). The Permanent Growth Boundary may be reviewed as part of the next major 
OCP update. 
 
Agricultural Land Use Policies 

Objective 5.33  Protect and enhance local agriculture9. 

Policy .1 Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and 
by protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of 
Kelowna Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, 
regardless of parcel size. 
 
Policy .2 ALR Exclusions. The City of Kelowna will not forward ALR exclusion applications to the 
ALC except in extraordinary circumstances where such exclusion is otherwise consistent with the 
goals, objectives and other policies of this OCP. Soil capability alone should not be used as 
justification for exclusion. 
 
Policy .3 Urban Uses. Direct urban uses to lands within the urban portion of the Permanent 
Growth Boundary, in the interest of reducing development and speculative pressure on 
agricultural lands. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

                                                
7 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Future Land Use Chapter. P. 4.6. 
8 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan. Development Process Chapter. P. 5.2. 
9 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Agricultural Land Use Policies Chapter. P. 5.35.  

47



A14-0007 – Page 9 

 
 

5.3 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan 

Objective10: Sensitively integrate new development with heritage resources and existing 
urban, agricultural and rural areas. 
 
Action towards this objective11: Evaluate the effectiveness of City policies and bylaws in 
preserving agricultural lands. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

The referral comments from external agencies and City departments are noted in the sections 
below. 

6.1 Ministry of Agriculture 

This application appears to be an exclusion application for lands within the ALR and therefore the 
Ministry of Agriculture defers to the decision making processes of the ALC. 

Should this application be supported by the ALC the Ministry requests an opportunity to make 
comment regarding zoning changes, bylaw application, placement of covenants and other land 
use matters focused on reducing the urban/rural conflict.  

6.2 Policy and Planning 

The application as circulated does not provide any significant rationale or justification in support 
of an exclusion. While the parcel is not large, it is set within a large, contiguous area of 
productive agricultural lands. Without supporting rationale, exclusion of the subject property 
from the ALR runs contrary to OCP policy direction, which seeks to protect and enhance 
agricultural lands. 

6.3 Interior Health Authority 

The Interior Health Authority provided comments with concerns including: 

 potential future food production for food security; 

 BC Interior’s projected population growth, and need for local food supply; and 

 growing reliance on food from outside Canada. 
 
The letter also commented that more and more small parcels are being successfully farmed, and: 

 Suggests an agrology assessment to determine agricultural capabilities. 
 
The letter is attached to this report. 

6.4 Development Engineering Branch 

No comments on this application. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

                                                
10 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 7. 

48



A14-0007 – Page 10 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: June 27, 2014  

Agricultural Advisory Committee August 28, 2014 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on August 28, 2014 and the following recommendation was passed: 

RECOMMENDATION (ITEM 1- 1185 McKenzie Road) 
 
MOVED BY Leo Gebert/SECONDED BY Pete Spencer 
 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council NOT support an 
application to the Agricultural Land Commission to exclude 1185 McKenzie Road, with an 
area of 0.39 ha (.96 ac) from the Agricultural Land Reserve. 
 

CARRIED 
 
ANECDOTAL COMMENT: 
The Agricultural Advisory Committee did not support the application for exclusion from the 
Agricultural Land Reserve as the Committee Members expressed a concern that there is no 
benefit to agriculture.  The Committee does not have a mandate to support applications that 
could result in financial assistance for the sole benefit of one (1) property owner.  The 
Committee Members did not feel the arguments presented were strong enough to support 
exclusion. 
 

 

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:                       Todd Cashin, Manager, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 
Services 

 

Approved for inclusion:        Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment Services 

 
 
 

 
Attachments: 
Subject property/zoning map & ALR map (2 pages) 
Interior Health Letter 

                                                                                                                                                             
11 City of Kelowna Strategic Plan. 2004. P. 29. 

49



A14-0007 – Page 11 

 
 

 

50



APPLICATION A14-0007

SUBJECT PROPERTY

Subject Property

Map: 1,058 x 586 m -- Scale 1:6,251 2014-08-21

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

8/21/2014http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Overview_Map&Clien...

51



ALR

APPLICATION A14-0007

ALR

Subject Property

Map: 1,058 x 586 m -- Scale 1:6,251 2014-08-21

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

8/21/2014http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

52



53



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 9/15/2014 

RIM No. 1210-21 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services (MS) 

Application: A14-0008 Owner: Topiary Holdings Inc. 

Address: 1670 Dehart Road Applicant: Jane Hatch 

Subject: Subdivision and Non-farm Use Application to the ALC  

Existing OCP Designation: Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: A1 – Agriculture 1 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Agricultural Land Reserve Appeal Application No. A14-0008 for Lot B Section 5 TWP 26 
ODYD Plan 32728 except Plan KAP75345, located at 1670 Dehart Road for a subdivision and non-
farm use, pursuant to Section 21 (2) and Section 20 (3) of the Agricultural Land Commission Act, 
be supported by Municipal Council;  
 
AND THAT the Municipal Council directs staff to forward the subject application to the 
Agricultural Land Commission for consideration. 

2.0 Purpose  

To obtain approval from the Agricultural Land Commission (ALC) for a subdivision under the ALC 
Act, to allow for the subdivision of 283.5 square metres of 1670 Dehart Road for the use of a 
columbarium for the Immaculate Conception Church Cemetery. 

3.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environmental Services  

The applicants are seeking to subdivide 283.5 square metres off of their property (1670 Dehart 
Road), for the purpose of selling the land to the Immaculate Conception Church (ICC) who owns 
4050 Casorso Road to the south. ICC wishes to then consolidate this land with its cemetery to the 
south, in order to establish a columbarium. The function of the columbarium would be to inter 
remains for the members of the parish, expanding the capacity of the cemetery.  

The Immaculate Conception Church Cemetery was first used in approximately 1906 by the early 
settlers of Kelowna. It was the second cemetery to be used, after the first that was established 
by the Father Pandosy Mission. 

The 2030 Official Community Plan supports non-farm use applications where approved by the ALC 
and where the proposed uses minimize impacts on agricultural lands and will not harm adjacent 

54



A14-0008 – Page 2 

 
 

farm lands. In addition, the OCP guides us to reinforce Kelowna’s unique sense of place, by 
retaining important natural and community features. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The applicants are seeking to subdivide 283.5 square metres off of the northeast corner of 1670 
Dehart Road, for the purpose of selling the land to the ICC to establish a columbarium.  

4.2 Background 

The land is not currently used for farming activities, and is of a width and configuration 
(approximately 5 m x 58 m) that does not allow for the land to be easily farmed. Currently, 
members of the parish weed and mow the area. The ICC has agreed to registering a restrictive 
covenant on the area that would prohibit structures over 1.8 metres (6 feet) in height, and 
provide landscape screening to mitigate sight lines from Casorso Road and the adjacent driveway. 

The Immaculate Conception Church Cemetery was first used in approximately 1906 by the early 
settlers of Kelowna. The expansion of the cemetery through a columbarium would provide an 
opportunity for parish members to be interred in a Catholic cemetery. It would also provide 
revenue to offset the cost of ongoing site maintenance for the church. The Diocese of Nelson has 
provided a letter of support (attached).  

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located along Casorso and Dehart Roads in the Southeast Kelowna Sector 
of the City. The subject area is 283.5 square metres in area. The elevation ranges from 410 
metres above sea level (m.a.s.l.) at the west, to 416 m.a.s.l. at the east, with an average slope 
of 10%. 

Topiary Holdings Inc. runs a vineyard and winery on the subject property. It is fully planted in 
wine grapes, with the exception of gullies that run through the centre of the property, and the 
footprint of the winery and farm buildings. The existing cemetery is 0.4 ha (1 ac) (Map 1). 

  

55



A14-0008 – Page 3 

 
 

Map 1: Neighbourhood Context -1670 Dehart Road and 4050 Casorso Road 

  

Map 2: Subject Area 

  
  

Tantalus 

Vineyard 

Proposed 

Subdivision 

Area 

ICC 

Cemetery 

Tantalus 

Vineyard 

Proposed 

Subdivision Area 

283.5 sq. m. 

ICC 

Cemetery 

Casorso 

Road 

Neighbour’s Driveway 

Statutory Right 

of Way Area 

56



A14-0008 – Page 4 

 
 

Zoning and land uses adjacent to the property are as follows: 

Direction Zoning ALR Land Use 

North A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes 
Rural residential 

Agricultural 

South A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Cemetery 

East P3 – Parks and Open Space Yes Shooting Range 

West A1 – Agriculture 1 Yes Agriculture / Winery 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

City of Kelowna development policies that pertain to the application are included below. 

5.1 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future 

The subject property has a future land use designation of Resource Protection Area and relevant 
policies are included below: 
 
Protect and enhance local agriculture1. 

Protect Agricultural Land. Retain the agricultural land base by supporting the ALR and by 
protecting agricultural lands from development, except as otherwise noted in the City of Kelowna 
Agricultural Plan. Ensure that the primary use of agricultural land is agriculture, regardless of 
parcel size. 

Non-farm Uses. Support non-farm use applications on agricultural lands only where approved by 
the ALC and where the proposed uses: 

 are consistent with the Zoning Bylaw and OCP; 

 provide significant benefits to local agriculture; 

 can be accommodated using existing municipal infrastructure; 

 minimize impacts on productive agricultural lands; 

 will not preclude future use of the lands for agriculture; 

 will not harm adjacent farm operations. 

Reinforce Kelowna’s unique identity/sense of place2. This objective will be achieved by 
retaining important natural and community features. 

5.2 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan 

ALR Application Criteria3 

Exclusion, subdivision, or non-farm use of ALR lands will generally not be supported.  General 
non-support for ALR applications is in the interest of protecting farmland through retention of 
larger parcels, protection of the land base from impacts of urban encroachment, reducing land 
speculation and the cost of entering the farm business, and encouraging increased farm 
capitalization. 

  

                                                
1 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Development Process Chapter; p. 5.33.  
2 City of Kelowna 2030 Official Community Plan: Greening Our Future (2011), Economic Development Chapter; p. 8.4.  
3 City of Kelowna Agriculture Plan (1998); p. 130. 

57



A14-0008 – Page 5 

 
 

6.0 Referral Comments 

6.1 Ministry of Agriculture 

The Ministry of Agriculture defers to the ALC and its decision making processes regarding this 
application. Should approval be granted the Ministry will make comment regarding the placement 
of fencing and screening requirements. 

6.2 Interior Health 

Healthy Built Environment. There appears to be negligible loss of agricultural land related to this 
subdivision and non-farm use application. Current and future food security will not likely be 
affected.  
 
Wastewater Disposal and Water Supply. From the viewpoint of our policies and regulations 
governing wastewater disposal and water supply this office has no concern or objection to the 
proposed subdivision. 

6.3 Development Engineering 

A summary of Development Engineering comments is included below. Please also refer to the 
attached memo. 

Miscellaneous. 
 

a) Dedicate 5.49 metre road widening on the 4050 Casorso Rd frontage (or as required to 
agree with registered plan No.32728 Lot B.  

 
b) Foliage shall be kept cleared in both directions to ensure that sightlines are not 

obstructed. 
 

Domestic water and fire protection. 
 
a) The subject property is within the service area of the South East Kelowna Irrigation 

District (SEKID). The applicant is required to make satisfactory arrangements with the 
SEKID for relocates or upgrades. 

6.4 Policy and Planning 

Policy & Planning has no concerns with the proposed consolidation. 

  

58



A14-0008 – Page 6 

 
 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: July 16, 2014 

Agricultural Advisory Committee August 28, 2014 

The above noted application was reviewed by the Agricultural Advisory Committee at the 
meeting on August 28th, 2014 and the following recommendation was passed: 

RECOMMENDATION (1670 Dehart Road) 
 
MOVED BY John Janmaat/SECONDED BY Leo Gebert 
 

THAT the Agricultural Advisory Committee recommends that Council support an 
application to the Agricultural Land Commission for a subdivision under Section 21(2) of 
the Agricultural Land Commission Act, and a ‘non-farm use’ under Section 20(3) of the 
Agricultural Land Commission Act, to allow for the subdivision of 283.5 m2 of 1670 Dehart 
Road for the use of a columbarium for the Immaculate Conception Church Cemetery.  
 

CARRIED 
 

 

 

 

Report prepared by: 

     
Melanie Steppuhn, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:                       Todd Cashin, Manager, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 
Services 

 

Approved for inclusion:        Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment Services 

 
 
 
 

 
Attachments: 
Subject Property & Zoning Map 
ALR map 
Proposed Subdivision Layout 
Diocese of Nelson – Letter of Support  
Development Engineering Manager 

59



APPLICATION A14-0008

1670 DEHART ROAD

SUBJECT PROPERTY

Subject Property

Map: 1,648 x 912 m -- Scale 1:9,733 2014-08-21

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

8/21/2014http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Overview_Map&Clien...

60



ALR

APPLICATION A14-0008

1670 DEHART ROAD

ALR

Subject Property

Map: 1,648 x 912 m -- Scale 1:9,733 2014-08-21

Certain layers such as lots, zoning and dp areas are updated bi-weekly. This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its accuracy. All information should be verified.

Page 1 of 1Map Output

8/21/2014http://kelintranetd/servlet/com.esri.esrimap.Esrimap?ServiceName=Subject_Properties_Ar...

61



62



63



64



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 9/29/2014 

RIM No. 
1250-30 
 

To: City Manager 

From: Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department 

Application: TA14-0017 Owner: 
Kinnikinnik Developments 
Inc. 

 Applicant: 
Norr Architects 
Planners/Bryce Tupper  

Subject: 
Proposed Text Amendment to the CD18 – Vintage Landing Comprehensive 
Resort Development Zone to rename the zone and refine the permitted uses 
and regulations  

Existing OCP Designation: Mixed Use Tourism (MXT) 

Existing Zone: 
CD18 – Vintage Landing Comprehensive Resort Development 
Zone 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA14-0017 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by replacing Schedule “B” – Comprehensive Development Zones CD18 - Vintage Landing 
Comprehensive Resort Development Zone with a renamed/revised CD18 - McKinley Beach 
Comprehensive Resort Development as outlined in Schedule “A” of the report from the 
Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department dated September 29, 2014, be considered by 
Council; 
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 

2.0 Purpose  

To amend the existing CD18 Vintage Landing Comprehensive Resort Development zone with a 
renamed/revised CD18 - McKinley Beach Comprehensive Resort Development zone which reduces 
and refines the permitted uses and provides greater clarification to the regulations pertaining to 
the development of “McKinley Beach”. 

3.0 Background 

In January 2007, Council amended the OCP Future Land Use Map to designate the land for 
commercial development of the proposed resort development in the McKinley Sector of the city.  
Concurrent with the OCP amendment a new CD zone (CD18 - Vintage Land Resort Development 
zone) was adopted, and the properties rezoned, to facilitate the development of a 
“comprehensively planned multifaceted destination resort”. The purpose of the CD18 zone was 

65



TA14-0017 – Page 2 

 
 

to provide for a variety of commercial uses organized around a central “wellness” village. In 
November of 2009, a Text Amendment to the CD18 zone was approved by Council, the primary 
purpose of which was to delete the reference restricting the maximum stay to 240 days a year, 
and to reduce the front and side yard setback requirements from a dedicated road to zero 
metres.   
 
Since the initial adoption of the CD18 zone, there have been no active development proposals for 
the CD18 zoned lands, until this year.  A previous Preliminary Layout Review letter (PLR) had 
been issued in 2010 for a proposed ~99 fee simple lot development.  This PLR was superseded by 
a new PLR letter issued this year, covering a larger area, for a total of 130 lots (including two 
future bareland strata parcels).  In addition, an Environmental/Hazardous Condition Development 
Permit was issued to facilitate the proposed subdivision. 

 
4.0 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department Comments 

Through the current Preliminary Layout Review process Staff have been working with the 
applicant team to refine the CD18 zone to more accurately reflect their vision for the overall 
“McKinley Beach” development.  As part of this review process, a number of land use concerns 
and discrepancies with the existing CD18 zone have been identified.  Of particular concern are 
the land uses currently permitted in the CD18 zone that, if developed, would only serve to erode 
the viability of the City’s Urban Centres.    
 
Staff also expressed concern with the development of what is essentially a single family form of 
development into an area that had been identified as Mixed Use Tourism as per the OCP Future 
Land Use Map.  However, the existing wording of the CD18 zone is ambiguous and does not 
prohibit the ability to construct this form of development. Rather then continue with this 
discrepancy it was recommended by Staff that the zone be amended to be more transparent and 
to acknowledge the form of development being provided.  Staff also recognize that, through the 
previously approved amendment (removing the 240 day limitation on occupancy), an opportunity 
was created for permanent residential occupancies.  However, Staff recognize that unique to the 
McKinley Beach development, is the ability to provide for short term rentals in all forms of 
housing proposed.  These short term rentals will be facilitated through on-site central reservation 
centres that will be required as part of the development approvals and will maintain the 
objective to be a resort development. 
 
Other key amendments proposed which Staff consider significant include: 

 the limitation on the area for retail and office uses; 

 the removal of permitted uses which are more appropriate in an Urban Centre; and  

 improved wording to provide greater clarity to the regulations. 
 

Based on the above amendments, Staff are recommending support for this proposed text 
amendment application.  
 
4.0  Proposal 

A summary of the key proposed amendments to the CD18 zone are: 
 

 New reference name “McKinley Beach”, to reflect the current marketing name. 

 Reduce the commercial Principal Uses 

66



TA14-0017 – Page 3 

 
 

o Delete the commercial school, employee accommodation, high tech product 
design, high tech research, public libraries and cultural exhibits uses as they are 
all deemed to be more appropriate in the Urban Centres. 

 Add Broadcast Studio  
o This use is being proposed with limitations to only permit television, movie and 

sound stages. 

 Add Congregate Care 
o This use is being proposed as the applicant would like the opportunity to provide 

housing options for the aging sector of the population. 

 Add Reservation Centres 
o This use reinforces the requirement to provide short term rentals throughout the 

entire McKinley Beach development. 

 Add Row Housing, Single Detached Housing & Semi-detached Housing as principal uses. 

 Introduce limitation on the size of individual office uses and capping the overall allowable 
office component. 

 Introduce a maximum 15,000 m2 limitation on the overall development of 
commercial/retail uses (from the current 65,000m2 ) in keeping with the Village Centre 
definition in the OCP. 

 Delete the unit cap of 1000 units as they are unable to exceed the overall development 
cap of 271,500m2 and the market demands will determine the unit’s sizes and number a 
cap on the individual retail tenancy for the Village Centre and limiting any other small 
retail use only to Area 4, which is the lower waterfront area. 

 Delete a number of the commercial/retail uses that were identified in Areas 2, 3 and 4, 
which were deemed to be only appropriate in the Village Centre Area 1. 

 
Subject Property Map: CD18 Zoned Lands – McKinley Beach 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



TA14-0017 – Page 4 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

The 2030 Official Community Plan Future Land Use Map designates the CD18 zoned area as Mixed 
Use Tourism.   

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: August 18, 2014  
 
7.0 Technical Comments: 
 
7.1 Urban Planning  

The maximum area for any one individual retail tenancy is proposed as 5500 m2 (~60,000 
sq. ft.) which seems quite excessive for this location.  It would be more appropriate to 
have a maximum area of 2800m2 (30,000 sq. ft.) which would be quite sufficient for a 
future grocery store in this location. 

 
7.2  Policy & Planning 

 
The introduction of low density single-family dwellings, combined with the amount of 
commercial space being proposed, will create competition with existing commercial 
areas, including existing urban and village centres.  The CD18 zone never was intended to 
be a commercial destination for residents and compete with existing commercial 
areas. The expectations of resort users versus full-time residents vary substantially, and 
the area is not supplied with the services that permanent residents expect (e.g.: transit), 
nor are there plans to provide such services to the area. 
 
Policy & Planning would support a concept where the permanent residential and resort 
densities are supported by limited, principally resort-oriented commercial uses. Where 
possible, residential and commercial densities should be limited to reduce the negative 
impact on demand for housing and commercial development in already established urban 
and village centres.   
 
Note:  The maximum overall area designated for commercial has been reduced to reflect 
the maximum allowed in accordance with the definition of Village Centre in the OCP. 

Report prepared by: 

Shelley Gambacort, Director/Approving Officer 
 
 
Approved for inclusion: Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director Community Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Current CD18 Zone 
Proposed Amended CD18 Zone 
Applicant’s Letter of Rationale 

68



 

 

August 8, 2014 
 
City of Kelowna 
1435 Water Street 
Kelowna, BC  V1Y 1J4 
 
Attention:  Shelley Gambacort and Todd Cashin 
 
Dear Shelley and Todd, 
  
RE:  Vintage Landing (McKinley Beach) – CD18 Text Amendment 
 
Subject Property:  Shayler Rd., Kelowna, BC 

Lot 1, ODYD, Plan EPP 8753; and Lot 7, ODYD, Plan EPP 8753 
 
NORR Architects Planners, on behalf of Kinnikinnik Developments Inc. is pleased to be submitting this 
application for a Text Amendment to the CD 18 Vintage Landing Comprehensive Resort Development 
zone.  The proposed amendments to the zone, provided with the enclosed application, have been a 
collaborative effort with City of Kelowna staff with the intent of clarifying and refining the allowable 
Primary and Secondary Uses while also greatly simplifying the Development Regulations.  Overall, it is 
believe that these amendments will result in a CD18 zone that is more appropriate for the vision of the 
lands and also more sustainable into the future. 
 
The overarching strategy that informed the changes to allowable uses stem from the principle of 
limiting uses that should be located in more urban centres, while reinforcing the resort/lifestyle 
destination nature of the zone.  Specifically, high tech research and product design uses have been 
removed and office and some retail uses have been limited.  Furthermore, resort residential uses, while 
already currently allowed, have been simplified to include more customary use definitions.   
 
Another proposed change to the Development Regulations includes the deletions of specific unit 
counts and densities allocated to the four development “Areas”.  Instead, it is expected that the height-
based limitations along with the natural topography and location of protected environmental areas will 
appropriate control the form of development.   
 
We have appreciated the collaborative nature of amending the CD18 zone and look forward to 
progressing quickly through the regulatory process.  Please do not hesitate to contact me with any 
questions or requests for additional information. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
NORR Architects Planners Inc. 

 
Bryce Tupper, M.Eng., P.Eng., LEED® AP 
Director, Planning Services 
T  604 673 6096  
E  Bryce.Tupper@norr.com 

69



City of Kelowna  Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-1  

PROPOSED AMENDED CD18 ZONE 

Schedule ‘B’ – Comprehensive Development Zones  
CD18 – McKinley Beach Comprehensive Resort Development 

 
1.1 PURPOSE 
  

The purpose is to provide a zone for the development of a comprehensively planned 
multifaceted destination community having a variety of commercial and 
accommodation uses organized around a central lifestyle village. 

 
1.2 PRINCIPAL AND SECONDARY USES 
 

The principal and secondary uses in this zone vary in accordance with the key resort 
elements identified in the Vintage Landing Area Structure Plan adopted as part of the 
Kelowna Official Community Plan.  Pursuant to the Area Structure Plan this zone has 
been organized into (4) four distinctive areas as illustrated on Map A.  Each area will 
have its own allowable principal and secondary uses as follows: 

 
1.2(a) AREA I Village Centre  

  
Principal Uses: 
 
The principal uses for the area designated as Area I on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) apartment hotels 
(b) boat storage 
(c) broadcast studio subject to 1.3f 
(d) child care centre, major 
(e) community recreation services 
(f) congregate housing 
(g) emergency and protective services 
(h) exhibition and convention facilities 
(i) extended medical treatment services 
(j) food primary establishment 
(k) health services 
(l) hotels 
(m) liquor primary establishment 
(n) motels 
(o) non-accessory parking 
(p) offices 
(q) personal service establishments 
(r) private clubs 
(s) private education services 
(t) public parks 
(u) religious assemblies 
(v) retail liquor sales establishment 
(w) retail stores convenience  
(x) retail stores general 
(y) reservation centres 
(z) row housing subject to 1.3e 
(aa) single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(bb) semi-detached housing subject to 1.3e 

 

70



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-2  

Secondary Uses: 
 

The secondary uses for the area designated as Area I on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) amusement arcades major 
(b) artisan live/work studios 
(c) custom indoor manufacturing 
(d) emergency and protective services 
(e) gaming facilities 
(f) participant recreation services indoor 
(g) participant recreation services outdoor 
(h) private open space 
(i) recycled materials drop-off centre 
(j) residential security / operator unit 
(k) secondary suites in single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(l) spectator and entertainment establishments subject to 1.3h 
(m) utility services minor impact 

 
 

1.2(b) AREA 2 Winery and Resort Accommodation 
   

Principal Uses: 
 
The principal uses for the area designated as Area II on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) apartment hotels 
(b) food primary establishment 
(c) hotels 
(d) liquor primary establishment 
(e) motels 
(f) retail liquor sales establishment 
(g) wineries and cideries 
(h) reservation centres 
(i) row housing subject to 1.3e 
(j) single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(k) semi-detached housing subject to 1.3e 
 
   
Secondary Uses: 
 
The secondary uses for the area designated as Area II on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) amusement arcades major 
(b) health services 
(c) participant recreation services indoor 
(d) private clubs 
(e) private open space 
(f) residential security / operator unit 
(g) retail stores convenience  
(h) secondary suites in single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(i) spectator and entertainment establishments subject to 1.3h 
(j) utility services minor impact 
 

71



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-3  

1.2 (c) AREA III Hillside Resort Accommodation 
   

Principal Uses: 
 
The principal uses for the area designated as Area III on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) apartment hotels 
(b) hotels 
(c) motels 
(d) reservation centres 
(e) row housing subject to 1.3e 
(f) single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(g) semi-detached housing subject to 1.3e 
 
 
Secondary Uses: 
 
The secondary uses for the area designated as Area III on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) health services 
(b) private open space 
(c) residential security / operator unit 
(d) secondary suites in single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(e) utility services minor impact 

 
1.2(d) AREA IV Waterfront Resort Accommodations 

   
Principal Uses: 
 
The principal uses for the area designated as Area IV on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) apartment hotels 
(b) food primary establishment 
(c) hotels  
(d) liquor primary establishment 
(e) marinas 
(f) marine equipment rentals 
(g) motels 
(h) public park 
(i) reservation centres 
(j) row housing subject to 1.3e 
(k) single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(l) semi-detached housing subject to 1.3e 
 
Secondary Uses: 
 
The secondary uses for the area designated as Area IV on Map 1 are: 
 
(a) boat storage 
(b) personal service establishments 
(c) private clubs 
(d) private open space 
(e) residential security / operator unit 
(f) retail liquor sales establishment 
(g) retail stores convenience  
(h) secondary suites in single detached housing subject to 1.3e 
(i) Utility services minor impact 

72



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-4  

1.3 DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
 

(a) Total density for the CD18 Zone shall not exceed 271,500m2 in accordance with 
the Vintage Landing [McKinley Beach] Area Structure Plan adopted as part of the 
Kelowna Official Community Plan. 

 
(b) The maximum area of all commercial (retail and office) uses is 15,000m2. 
 
(c) The maximum allowable area of all office use is 5000m2.  The maximum area of 

office space in any one building is 2000m2 and the maximum size of any 
individual office tenancy shall not exceeding 500m2. 

 
(d) The maximum area for any one individual retail tenancy in Area I is 5500m2, in 

Areas II, III, IV the maximum area for any one tenancy is 400m2. 
 
(e) Density in the CD18 zone will be controlled in the form of a 219 covenant 

registered on the remainder parcel(s), which will indicate an allowable buildable 
area equal to the total site density of 271,500m2 as outlined in section 1.3 (a) and 
which will be reduced by the: 

 
1. buildable area approved through all Form & Character Development 

Permits within the CD18 Areas, and 
2. for those lots not requiring a form & character Development Permit it will 

be through the subdivision approval process based on a calculation of 
350m2 per unit (based on 1.3(f) Type B below). For example: if there are 
10 lots being approved and eight of those lots are for single detached 
housing and two of the lots are for semi-detached housing the calculation 
used to determine the buildable area would be 12x350m2 = 4,200m2. 

 
The registered 219 Covenant will be amended, to reflect the remaining buildable 
area, as a condition of issuance of every Development Permit under 1.3(e)1 and 
as a condition of every subdivision approval under 1.3(e)2. 
 

(f) Resort accommodation which allows for short-term stays is made up of two types: 
 

Type A:   
 
Attached apartment hotel, hotel, congregate housing, motel units or row housing 
units (units in buildings exceeding 4 units with common amenities) – maximum 
area of 150m2 per unit floor area net.   
 
Type B:   
 
Single detached housing with or without secondary suites, semi-detached 
housing, row housing with four units or less, with amenities that may be in 
separate buildings.  The maximum gross floor area is 350m2 per unit (excluding 
garages).  The main floor footprint (excluding garage) may not exceed 175m2 per 
unit (excluding garages).  Type B units must be served by a common on-site or 
off-site reservation centre(s). 
 

(g) Broadcasting studios exclude facilities for permanent operation of radio and 
televisions stations and must be limited to television, movie and sound stage 
production.    
 

(h) Spectator and entertainment establishments exclude permanent stadiums, 
arenas, cineplex’s and multiplexes.    

73



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-5  

(i) Natural Environment/Hazardous Conditions 
 
1. Impact to Environmentally Sensitive Areas designated as “High Value” or 

ESA 1 will be limited to infrastructure and utilities, where possible, and will 
strive to minimize impact to these areas.  If development should occur 
within these areas, mitigation will promote no net loss to the habitat.  If 
development is pursued in ESA 2 areas, portions of the habitat should be 
retained and integrated to maintain the contiguous nature of the 
landscape.  
 

2. Both ESA 1 and ESA 2 areas will require a Natural Environment/ 
Hazardous Condition Development Permit to address the specific habitat 
or conditions outlined in the ESA Assessment Report.  Some loss to 
these ESA areas can be offset by habitat improvements to the remaining 
natural areas found within the ASP boundary.  

 
3. Any development that impacts slopes over 30% will require a Natural 

Environment/Hazardous Condition Development Permit. For any 
development to occur in these areas, it would have to be demonstrated 
that it will be sensitively integrated with the natural environment and will 
present no hazards to persons or property.   

 
(j) Building Height: 

 
1. The maximum height of buildings and structures in this zone are as 

follows: 
 Area I - Village Centre is the lesser of 8½ storeys or 38.25m. 
 
 Area II - Winery and Resort Accommodation is the lesser of 6½ 

storeys or 29.5m.     
 
 Area III - Hillside Resort Accommodation is the lesser of 2 ½ 

storeys or 11.5m starting from deck elevation.  Supportive deck 
structures cannot exceed 7.0m in height. 

 
 Area IV - Waterfront Resort Accommodation is the lesser of 6½ 

storeys or 29.5m. 
 
2. For any buildings or structures in area I that exceed 6½ storeys any 

exposed storey where parking is provided within the building must include 
60% of the exposed area as habitable space. 

 
3. For any buildings or structures in areas II and IV that exceed 4½ storeys 

any exposed storey where parking is provided within the building must 
include 60% of the exposed area as habitable space. 

 
4. Setbacks: 

 
1. The minimum setback from the CD Zone boundary for all uses shall be 

10m (33 ft.) with the exception of the CD Zone boundary that fronts 
Okanagan Lake riparian management area or any park areas where the 
setback will be 1.5m. 
 

2. The minimum front yard is 0.0m.   
 

3. The minimum side yard is 0.0m. 

74



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-6 

 
4. The minimum rear yard is 0.0m. 
 

5. Signs: 
 

1. Signs for Areas I and II shall be regulated as if in a C2 zone. 
 

2. Signs for Area III shall be regulated as if in a W-2 zone. 
 

(l) In accordance with the Official Community Plan (OCP), all development, except 
single-detached dwellings with or without secondary suites, within the zone shall 
require a Form and Character Development Permit. 

 
(m) The parking and loading regulations of Section 8 will apply. 
 
(n) A publicly accessible trail system will be provided by statutory right-of-way in 

favour of the City of Kelowna throughout the development property. Specific 
locations and right-of-way widths will be determined at time of Development 
Permit and in general accordance with the Vintage Landing Area Structure Plan 

 
(o) Road design will be as per the City of Kelowna’s October 2009 Hillside 

Standards as may be amended. 

75



 

Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised @, 2014 CD18-7 

 

76



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-1 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised May 27, 2013 

 

 

 
 

Schedule ‘B’ – Comprehensive Development Zones 
CD18 – Vintage Landing Comprehensive Resort Development 

 

1.1 PURPOSE 
 

The purpose is to provide a zone for the development of a 
comprehensively planned multifaceted destination resort. The resort will 
have a variety of commercial uses organized around a central “wellness” 
village. 

 

1.2 PRINCIPAL AND SECONDARY USES 
 

The principal and secondary uses in this zone vary in accordance with the 
key resort elements identified in the Vintage Landing Area Structure Plan 
adopted as part of the Kelowna Official Community Plan. Pursuant to the 
Area Structure Plan this zone has been organized into (4) four distinctive 
areas as illustrated on Map 1. Each area will have its own allowable 
principal and secondary uses as follows: 

 

1.2(a)  AREA I: Wellness Village Centre 
 

Principal Uses: 
 

The principal uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) apartment hotels 
(b) boat storage 
(c) child care centre, major 
(d) commercial school 
(e) community recreation services 
(f) emergency and protective services 
(g) employee accommodation 
(h) exhibition and convention facilities 
(i) extended medical treatment services 
(j) food primary establishment 
(k) health services 
(l) high tech product design 
(m) high tech research 
(n) hotels 
(o) liquor primary establishment 
(p) motels 
(q) non-accessory parking 
(r) offices 
(s) personal service establishments 
(t) private clubs 
(u) private education services 
(v) public libraries and cultural exhibits 
(w) public parks 
(x) religious assemblies 
(y) retail liquor sales establishment 
(z) retail stores convenience 
(aa) retail stores general 

CURRENT CD18 ZONE 

77



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-2 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised May 27, 2013 

 

 

 
 

Secondary Uses: 
 

The secondary uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) amusement arcades major 
(b) custom indoor manufacturing 
(c) emergency and protective services 
(d) gaming facilities 
(e) participant recreation services indoor 
(f) participant recreation services outdoor 
(g) private open space 
(h) recycled materials drop-off centre 
(i) residential security / operator unit 
(j) spectator and entertainment establishments 
(k) utility services minor impact 

 
 

1.2(b)  AREA II Winery and Resort Accommodation 

Principal Uses: 

The principal uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) apartment hotels 
(b) extended medical treatment services 
(c) food primary establishment 
(d) hotels 
(e) liquor primary establishment 
(f) motels 
(g) retail liquor sales establishment 
(h) wineries and cideries 

 

Secondary Uses: 
 

The secondary uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) amusement arcades major 
(b) commercial school 
(c) community recreation services 
(d) exhibition and convention facilities 
(e) health services 
(f) offices 
(g) participant recreation services indoor 
(h) participant recreation services outdoor 
(i) personal service establishments 
(j) private clubs 
(k) private education services 
(l) private open space 
(m) residential security / operator unit 
(n) retail stores convenience 
(o) retail stores general 
(p) spectator and entertainment establishments 
(q) utility services minor impact 

78



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-3 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised May 27, 2013 

 

 

 
 

1.2(c) AREA III Hillside Resort Accommodation 
 

Principal Uses: 
 

The principal uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) apartment hotels 
(b) hotels 
(c) motels 

 

Secondary Uses: 
 

The secondary uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) food primary establishment 
(b) health services 
(c) liquor primary establishment 
(d) offices 
(e) private education services 
(f) private open space 
(g) residential security / operator unit 
(h) utility services minor impact 

 

1.2(d)  AREA IV Waterfront Resort Accommodations 

Principal Uses: 

The principal uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) apartment hotels 
(b) food primary establishment 
(c) hotels 
(d) liquor primary establishment 
(e) motels 
(f) personal service establishments 
(g) public park 

 

Secondary Uses: 
 

The secondary uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) amusement arcades major 
(b) boat storage 
(c) child care centre, major 
(d) commercial school 
(e) exhibition and convention facilities 
(f) gaming facilities 
(g) health services 
(h) offices 
(i) participant recreation services indoor 
(j) participant recreation services outdoor 
(k) personal service establishments 
(l) private clubs 
(m) private open space 
(n) residential security / operator unit 
(o) retail liquor sales establishment 
(p) retail stores convenience 
(q) retail stores general 

79



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-4 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised November 16, 2009 

 

 

 
 

(r) Spectator and entertainment establishments 
(s) Utility services minor impact 

 

1.3 DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 
 

(a) Total density for the CD18 Zone shall not exceed 1,000 units of resort 
accommodation (187,500m2), 65,000m2 of village commercial and 
19,000m2 of employee accommodation in accordance with the Vintage 
Landing Area Structure Plan adopted as part of the Kelowna Official 
Community Plan. 

 

(b) Resort accommodation will be made up of two types: 
 

Type A - 500 units attached (apartment hotel, hotel or motel units in 
buildings exceeding 4 units with common amenities) – maximum area of 
150m2 per unit floor area net. 

 
Type B - 500 units detached or semi-detached apartment hotel, hotel or 
motel units in buildings with four units or less with amenities that may be 
in separate buildings – maximum area 225m2 per unit floor area net. The 
main floor footprint may not exceed 150m2 per unit. Type B units must 
be served by a common reception area(s). 

 
The maximum allowable density for each identified area within this zone shall be 
as follows, controlled by a restrictive covenant, and amended as subdivisions 
occur. 

 
Area I – Wellness Village 

 250 units of resort accommodation. 
(200 Type A, 50 Type B) 

 

Area II – Winery and Resort Accommodation 
 150 units of resort accommodation. 

(100 Type A, 50 Type B) 
 

Area III – Hillside Resort Accommodation 
 300 units of resort accommodation. 

(300 Type B) 
 

Area IV – Waterfront Resort Accommodation 
 300 units of resort accommodation. 

(200 Type A, 100 Type B) 
In the event that areas III and IV do not achieve 600 resort accommodation units, 
the remaining balance of units can be transferred to areas I and II and utilized 
towards the 1,000 unit maximum subject to the covenants restricting allocations 
and amended concurrently to reflect maximums within this zone. Allocating units 
from areas I and II to areas III and IV is not permitted beyond unit allocation as 
described in 1.3(b). 

 
(c) Total allowable area of resort accommodation in the areas I – IV is 

187,500m2. 
 

(d) Total maximum allowable area of commercial uses is 65,000m2 made up 
of wellness uses (health and medical treatment services and related 
accommodation) and commercial uses supportive to the resort. 

 
(e) The maximum allowable commercial space for each area within 

this zone shall be as follows. 

80



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-5 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised November 16, 2009 

 

 

 
 

Area I – Wellness Village 
 Up to 56,000m2 

 

Area II – Winery and Resort Accommodation 
 Up to 2,000m2 

 

Area III – Hillside Resort Accommodation 
 Up to 1,000m2 

 

Area IV – Waterfront Resort Accommodation 
 Up to 6,000m2 

 
In the event that areas II, III, and IV do not achieve allocation of stated 
commercial areas, the balance can be transferred to area I and utilized towards 
the 65,000m2 maximum allowable commercial space. Commercial area not 
achieved in area I is not transferable to areas II, III and IV beyond allocation 
described in 1.3(e). 

 
(f) Within the comprehensive zone, 19,000m2 floor area of employee 

accommodation can be built. (defined as floor area net as per City of 
Kelowna General Definitions) 

 
(g) Total overall maximum allowable square meterage for the CD zone is 

271,500m2. 
 

(h) Every phase of development will be controlled by a Development Permit 
and shall confirm the floor area net of resort accommodation, village 
commercial, and/or employee accommodation, and will be controlled by a 
restrictive covenant and amended at the time of Development Permit. 

 
(i) Type B resort accommodation units must be developed in conjunction 

with common reception area(s). 
 

(j) The winery and golf course buildings are not included in the total 
allowable square meterage calculation as they are associated with the 
vineyard and golf course operations. The winery buildings in area II will 
not exceed 1400m2 in area and can be distributed over multiple buildings 
as may be required by the winery operation. Winery uses may include all 
activities associated with processing and production of wine.  Wine 
related retail and restaurant space are included in this area. 

 
The golf course buildings in area I will not exceed 1400m2 in area and 
can be distributed over multiple buildings as may be required by the golf 
course operation. Golf course uses may include all activities associated 
with the operation and maintenance of a golf course. This will include golf 
retail and restaurant. 

 
(k) The siting of buildings shall be in general accordance with the plans of 

this comprehensive destination resort as approved and incorporated as 
CD-18 Illustrative Map I. 

 
Impact to Environmentally Sensitive Areas designated as “High Value” or 
ESA 1 will be limited to infrastructure and utilities, where possible, and will 
strive to minimize impact to these areas. If development should occur 
within these areas, mitigation will promote no net loss to the habitat. If 
development is pursued in ESA 2 areas, portions of the habitat should be 
retained  and  integrated  to  maintain  the  contiguous  nature  of  the 

81



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-6 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised November 16, 2009 

 

 

 
 

landscape. (see attached Wildlife Corridor map) Both ESA 1 and ESA 2 
areas will require a Natural Environment/Hazardous Condition 
Development Permit to address the specific habitat or conditions outlined 
in the ESA Assessment Report. Some loss to these ESA areas can be 
offset by  habitat  improvements to the  remaining natural  areas  found 
within the ASP boundary. In addition, any development that impacts 
slopes over 30% will require a Natural Environment/Hazardous Condition 
Development Permit. For any development to occur in these areas, it 
would have to be demonstrated that it will be sensitively integrated with 
the natural environment and will present no hazards to persons or 
property. 

(l) The maximum height of buildings and structures in this zone are as 
follows: 

 

i) Area I - Wellness Village Centre 
 

The lesser of 8½ storeys or 38.25 metres. 
 

ii) Area II - Winery and Resort Accommodation 
 

The lesser of 6½ storeys or 29.5 metres. 
 

iii) Area III - Hillside Resort Accommodation 
 

The lesser of 2 ½ storeys or 11.5 metres starting from deck 
elevation. Supportive deck structures  cannot exceed 7.0m  in 
height. 

 

iv) Area IV - Waterfront Resort Accommodation 
 

The lesser of 6½ storeys or 29.5 metres. 
 

(m) For any buildings or structures in area I that exceed 6½ storeys any 
exposed storey where parking is provided within the building must include 
60% of the exposed area as habitable space. 

 
(n) For any buildings or structures in areas II and IV that exceed 4½ storeys 

any exposed storey where parking is provided within the building must 
include 60% of the exposed area as habitable space. 

 

(o) The minimum setback from the CD Zone boundary for all uses shall be 

10m (33 ft.) with the exception of the CD Zone boundary that fronts 
Okanagan Lake riparian management area or any park areas where the 
setback will be 1.5m. 

 
(p) The minimum front yard is 0.0m. 

 
(q) The minimum side yard is 0.0m. 

 
(r) The minimum rear yard is 0.0m. 

 
(x)  A publicly accessible trail system will be provided by statutory right-of-way 

in favour of the City of Kelowna throughout the development property. 
Specific locations and right-of-way widths will be determined at time of 
Development Permit and in general accordance with the Vintage Landing 
Area Structure Plan. 

82



 City of Kelowna Consolidated Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 

CD18-7 Schedule 'B' – Comprehensive Development Zones Revised November 16, 2009 

 

 

 
 

(s) Signs for areas I and II shall be regulated as if in a C-2 zone. 
 

(t) Signs for area III shall be regulated as if in a W-2 zone. 
 

(u) In accordance with the Official Community Plan (OCP), all development 
within the zone shall require a Commercial Development Permit. 

 

(v) The parking and loading regulations of Section 8 will apply. 
 

(w) The route of public access along the foreshore will be via a statutory right- 
of-way in favour of the City of Kelowna to allow for public access during 
parks hours. Subject to regulatory approvals there may be some facilities 
built within the right-of-way that serve as common amenities for both 
resort users and members of the public providing it does not preclude 
public access. 

 
(x) A 4m wide publicly accessible trail system will be provided by statutory 

right-of-way in favour of the City of Kelowna throughout the development 
property. Specific locations will be determined at time of Development 
Permit   and  in  general  accordance  with  the  Vintage  Landing  Area 
StructurePlan 

 

(y) Road design will be as per the City of Kelowna Hillside Standards. 

83



 

 

 

84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 9/29/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning (AW) 

Application: OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 Owner: 
Dr. Heather Martin 
City of Kelowna 

Address: 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects 

Subject: OCP Amendment and Zone Amendment  

Existing OCP Designation: Educational / Major Institutional 

Proposed OCP Designation: Health District 

Existing Zone: 
P1 – Major Institutional 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

That Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP14-0013 to amend Map 19.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of Lot 22, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535 Except Plan KAP81038, located at 310 
Strathcona Avenue and Lot 21, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, located at 320 Strathcona Avenue 
from Educational / Major Institutional to Health District, as shown on Map “A” attached to the 
Report of the Land Use Management Department dated September 29th, 2014, be considered by 
Council; 
 
AND THAT Council considers the applicant’s July 29th, 2014 Public Information Meeting as 
outlined in the attached summary report to be appropriate consultation for the purpose of 
Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the Report of the Land Use Management 
Department dated September 29th, 2014; 
 
AND THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0027 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 
8000 by changing the zoning classification of Lot 22, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535 Except Plan 
KAP81038, located at 310 Strathcona Avenue from RU1 – Large Lot Housing to HD2 – Hospital and 
Health Support Services and Lot 21, District Lot 14, ODYD, Plan 535, located at 320 Strathcona 
Avenue from P1 – Major Institutional to HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services be considered 
by Council; 

93



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 2 

 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment and the Zone Amending Bylaw be 
forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction 
with Council's consideration of a Heritage Alteration Permit on the subject properties; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
submission of a plan of subdivision to consolidate the properties. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider the proposed OCP and Zone Amendments in order to accommodate a 3.5 storey 
mixed use health services building. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

The City has spent a significant amount of time and resources in recent years studying the land 
uses in the hospital precinct (adjacent to this proposed development site).  As one of the first 
private developments to come forward in the hospital precinct, staff are aware of the apprehension 
expressed by residents in the area.   
 
 Staff feel the proposed land use is comparable to what could be located on the subject 
properties should they be redeveloped as designated in the Official Community Plan, although 
the project would be private rather than institutional. The original intent and reason for the 
Educational / Major Institutional designation was to allow the Interior Health Authority to grow 
the KGH campus further west. As this is no longer the case it makes more sense that the 
properties be re-designated and rezoned to allow for a mixed use health services project. A 
project of this nature will help to support the KGH campus with additional food services, 
adjacent medical clinics and rental housing that could cater to KGH Staff.     

For a number of years the subject properties have been designated for a higher form of 
development but were also kept in the Heritage Conservation Area to recognize the existing 
context and single family dwelling character. The application is not in keeping with the purpose 
of the Abbott Street & Marshall Street Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines, 
which is to maintain the existing single or two family residential and historical character of the 
area. However, the historical character and value of these properties has been significantly 
impacted by the surrounding institutional land uses. As summarized at the end of this report, the 
Community Heritage Committee (CHC) did not support this application because it does not fit 
within the guidelines for the Heritage Conservation Area. The City’s Policy & Planning 
Department will take this area under consideration with Phase II of the Hospital Area Plan.  

Staff do consider the application to be consistent with the intent of the OCP to support 
operations at Kelowna General Hospital with a built form and character that is sensitive to the 
surrounding neighbourhood. The proposed health service offices complement the adjacent land 
uses and the residential components provide an appropriate transition to the residential 
neighbourhood along Abbott Street. As summarized in the applicant’s letter (attached) the 
applicant has made a number of modifications to the form of project in an attempt to address 
items that were of neighbourhood concern. For these reasons Staff are supportive of the 
proposed development. The Cancer Society Building is the most impacted neighbour and they 
have submitted a letter of support for the project.   

94



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 3 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The subject properties were designated Institutional in 1995 as part of the 1994-2013 OCP. The 
Heritage Conservation Area (HCA) was established in 1998, and the properties were single family 
residential halfway to Long Street, including what is now the Cancer Clinic. The HCA boundaries 
have not changed since they were established in 1998. 

At the May 29th, 2012 meeting Council approved rezoning 320 Strathcona Avenue to P1 – Major 
Institutional in order to convert the existing single family to a doctor’s office.   

4.2 Project Description 

The subject properties are designated Educational / Major Institutional in the 2030 OCP and are 
next to the Kelowna General Hospital and directly adjacent to the Cancer Lodge. The project 
contemplates amending the OCP to Health District and to rezone to the HD2 zone to 
accommodate the proposed development. As the subject property is located in the Abbott Street 
Heritage Conservation Area, a Heritage Alteration Permit is required for the project. Neither 
property is located on the Heritage Register. 
 
The southwest corner is the main feature of the proposal as it is the most prominent exposure 
and the anchor for the design. The building facade steps back from the street at both the first 
and third floors in a pleasing form, this helps to break down the massing and scale of the 
building. The main portion of the building containing restaurant and health services steps back 
from the under-building parking structure with a patio. The building fronts both Strathcona 
Avenue and Abbott Street with masonry & stucco facades. The proposed development 
contemplates a few variances, the project compares to the HD2 zone as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA HD2 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.2 1.08 

Height 16.5 m 13.26 m / 3.5 storeys 

Front Yard (south) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m 
1.5 m to parkade 
4.5 m to building 

Side Yard (east) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m – Building 
0.4 m to parkade 
4.5m to building 

Side Yard (west) 
1.5 m parkade with landscaped berm 

4.5 m – Building 
4.5 m to parkade 
4.5 m to building 

Rear Yard (north) 3.0 m 5.7 m 

Site coverage 55% 46.5% 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking 

Requirements 
30 stalls 30 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 2 stalls 
Class II: 4 stalls 

Class I: 3 stalls 
Class II: 5 stalls 

Private Open Space 100m2 220m2 

Loading Space 1 stall 1 stalls 

 Vary the parkade setback from 1.5m required to 0.4m for the eastern side yard setback. 

 

 

 

95



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 4 

  

96



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 5 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties are located along Strathcona Avenue directly adjacent to the Cancer 
Lodge and across from the Kelowna General Hospital. The properties are also located within the 
Abbott Street Heritage Conservation Area. The adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Direction Zoning Designation Land Use 

North RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Vacant 

East P1 – Major Institutional Cancer Lodge 

South HD1 – Kelowna General Hospital Hospital 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Vacant 

 

Subject Property Map: 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue & Heritage Conservation Area  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Subject Property Map: 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue & OCP Future Land Use  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

97



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 6 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

Staff recommends that the applicant’s July 29th, 2014 Public Information Meeting be considered 
appropriate consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, and that 
the process is sufficiently early and does not need to be further ongoing in this case. 
Furthermore, additional consultation with the Regional District of Central Okanagan is not 
required in this case. 
 
Staff have reviewed this application, and it may move forward without affecting either the City’s 
Financial Plan or Waste Management Plan. 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.1.1 Land Use Designations – Educational / Major Institutional (Chapter 4) 
Schools, university, colleges, correctional facilities, hospital, fire halls, cemeteries, major 
government, cultural or recreational facilities, religious assembly and seniors’ facilities. 
Religious assembly uses may include a multiple unit residential component only where the 
surrounding land uses are designated for similar densities/land uses. Major government, 
cultural, and recreational facilities may include associated commercial uses. 

 
5.1.2 Urban Design Guidelines (Chapter 14) – Revitalization Development Permit Area 

Revitalization Design Guidelines 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

5.1.2 Heritage Conservation Area Guidelines (Chapter 18) 1  

 Maintain the residential and historical character of the Marshall Street and the Abbott 
Street Heritage Conservation Areas; 

 Encourage new development, additions and renovations to existing development which 
are compatible with the form and character of the existing context; 

 Ensure that change to buildings and streetscapes will be undertaken in ways which offer 
continuity of the ‘sense-of-place’ for neighbours, the broader community; and 

 Provide historical interest for visitors through context sensitive development. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

 Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. 
The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit application.  

 A Hoarding permit is required and protection of the public from the staging area and the 
new building area during construction. Location of the staging area and location of any 
cranes should be established at time of DP. 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 16 

98



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 7 

o Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect. 

o Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should 
be reflected in the plans if required.  

o The code analysis is also to address the interconnected floor spaces (restraint & 
mechanical area) per the prescriptive requirements of the code or an alternative 
solution needs to be accepted by the Chief Building Inspector in lieu 

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 meters is 
required for all habitable spaces, there are 4 requirements to be followed to allow the 
parkade slab to be below 343.66: 

1. Raise the grade at any openings including windows, doors and garage doors to 
prevent water ingress; 

2. The walls and slab must be sealed (tanked); 
3. The strata bylaw must include the requirement that no storage other than licensed 

movable vehicles;  
4. The parkade slab elevation at the lowest point may not be below 343.00. 

 We strongly recommend that the developer have his professional consultants review and 
prepare solutions for potential impact of this development on adjacent properties. Any 
damage to adjacent properties is a civil action which does not involve the city directly. 
The items of potential damage claims by adjacent properties are items like settlement of 
foundations (preload), damage to the structure during construction, additional snow drift 
on neighbour roofs, excessive noise from mechanical units, vibration damage during 
foundation preparation work etc. 

 Guards are required for all decks. The drawings provided don’t clearly identify these 
requirements since they appear to be defined as climbable, but will be reviewed at time 
of building permit application. The appearance of these guards may affect the form and 
character of the building. 

 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 An exit analysis is required as part of the code analysis at time of building permit 
application. The exit analysis is to address travel distances within the units, number of 
required exits per area, door swing direction, handrails on each side of exit stairs, width 
of exits etc 

 Washroom requirements for base building are to be addressed in the building permit 
application. 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit. 
This should include the signage required for the building addressing to be defined on the 
drawings per the bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

 Mechanical Ventilation inlet and exhausts vents are not clearly defined in these drawings 
for the enclosed parking. The location and noise from these units should be addressed at 
time of Development Permit. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation and NAFS are 
being applied to this structure. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attached. 

 

99



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 8 

6.3 Fire Department 

 Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required.  

 A visible address must be posted on Strathcona as per City of Kelowna By-Laws  

 Sprinkler drawings are to be submitted to the Fire Dept. for review when available. 
Ensure that isolation valves are at an acceptable level as per the COK Bylaw 10760.  

 A fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC is required at occupancy. The fire safety plan 
and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing format on a CD or 
DVD to facilitate Fire Department pre-planning for this structure. The fire safety plan 
should clearly detail the unique requirements for this structure. A copy of the sprinkler 
system owner’s certificate is to be included in the fire safety plan.  

 Fire Department access is to be met as per BCBC 3.2.5.6  

 Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to the fire dept. is required by the 
fire dept. entrance. Kurt’s Lock & Safe at 100A – 1021 Ellis Street, Kelowna is the 
approved supplier for flush mount lock boxes.  

 The standpipes connections are to be installed on the transitional landings of the 
stairwells as per NFPA 14.  

 All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met.  

 Fire alarm system is to be monitored by an agency meeting the CAN/ULC S562 Standard.  

 Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement.  

 Fire department connection is to be within 45M of a fire hydrant – please ensure this is 
possible and that the FD connection is clearly marked and visible from the street. 

6.4 Interior Health Authority 

No Concerns. Support the application. 

6.5 Fortis BC (Electric) 

There are primary distribution facilities along Strathcona Avenue and Abbott Street.  Due 
to the size and use of the development, it is likely that 3 phase power will be required.  
The SRW must be entirely on private property and the area required to accommodate that 
size of transformer is 5m x 5m.  It is unclear whether that much room has been accounted 
for in the proposed design.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any 
change to the subject lots' existing service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate 
land rights where required. 

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: June 13th, 2014  
Community Heritage Committee: July 3rd, 2014 
 
THAT the Community Heritage Committee does NOT support Heritage Alteration Permit 
Application No. HAP14-0009 for the properties located at 310 & 320 Strathcona Avenue in order 
to accommodate a 3.5 storey mixed use health services building. 
 
Anecdotal Comments: 
The Community Heritage Committee feels that the subject properties, although within the 
Heritage Conservation Area, are in the Hospital interface area for which the Community Heritage 
Committee has previously requested further direction from Council.  If the proposed building was 
on the edge of the Heritage Conservation Area but not in it, the Committee would not have a 

100



OCP14-0013 / Z14-0027 – Page 9 

problem with the form and character facing the Heritage Conservation Area.  The Committee 
expressed a concern that the proposed building contains condo units and therefore is neither a 
residence or a medical facility. The Committee also expressed a concern that the proposed 
building does not meet the Heritage Conservation Area Development Guidelines with respect to 
Form and Character. 
 
Public Information Meeting:  July 29th, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Urban Planning  
 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir. of Community Planning and Real Estate 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Map ‘A’ 
Subject Property Map 
Site Plan & Drawings 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Applicant’s Letter of Rationale 
Public Information Meeting Summary 

101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 12, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LG) 

Application: Z13-0044 Owner: City of Kelowna 

Address: Various (see attached table) Applicant: 
City of Kelowna 
(Infrastructure Planning) 

Title: Rezoning Application  

Existing OCP Designation: PARK – Major Park and Open Space  

Existing Zones: 

RR1 – Rural Residential 1 
RR3 – Rural Residential 3 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
RU2 – Medium Lot Housing 
RU2h – Medium Lot Housing (Hillside Area) 
RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing 
RM2 – Low Density Row Housing 
RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing 
RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing 
P1 – Major Institutional 
P2 – Education and Minor Institutional 
I3 – Heavy Industrial 
I4 – Central Industrial 
A1 – Agriculture 1 

Proposed Zone: P3 – Parks and Open Space 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0044 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of those parcels or portions thereof listed in Table “A” 
attached to the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated September 12, 2014, from the 
RR1 – Rural Residential 1, RR3 – Rural Residential 3, RU1 – Large Lot Housing, RU2 – Medium Lot 
Housing, RU2h – Medium Lot Housing (Hillside Area), RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing, RM2 – Low 
Density Row Housing, RM3 – Low Density Multiple Housing, RM5 – Medium Density Multiple 
Housing, P1 – Major Institutional, P2 – Education and Minor Institutional, I3 – Heavy Industrial, I4 – 
Central Industrial, and A1 – Agriculture 1 zones to the P3 – Major Park / Open Space zone, as 
shown on Map “B” 1 through 15 attached to the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated 
September 12, 2014, be considered by Council; 

133



Z13-0044 – Page 2 

 
 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration; 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose 

To rezone 26 properties from various zonings to P3 – Parks and Open Space in order to recognize 
their current use as parks. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Urban Planning staff support the proposed rezoning application as it clearly complies with the 
policy direction provided in the City’s Official Community Plan (OCP), and recognizes the existing 
park uses on the subject properties. 

The application further complies with the direction found in the Knox Mountain Park Management 
Plan (2011). In November 2011, Council endorsed the Knox Mountain Park Management Plan 2011, 
directing staff to use it as a guide to follow in future planning for the park. Of the priority actions 
identified in the plan, the second priority in Phase 1 of the plan is to rezone all associated park 
properties to P3 – Parks and Open Space. Also, the Growth Management Strategy emphasizes the 
value of recreational opportunities and seeks to enhance those opportunities. 

All of the subject properties are owned by the City of Kelowna. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

On May 7, 2012 Council directed Staff to initiate a rezoning application for Knowles Heritage Park 
to align with the future land use designation of the parcel. In order to make best use of time, 
and to complete additional housekeeping amendments to the Zoning Bylaw, Staff identified 14 
other parks that also require rezoning to P3. 

4.2 Project Description 

Staff has identified 26 city-owned properties that are currently used as park or open space, but 
are not zoned correctly. This application is simply a housekeeping exercise to legally update the 
current zoning of all the parcels. 

4.3 Site Context 

The 26 subject parcels (15 park sites) are located throughout Kelowna, as indicated on Map B (1 
through 15). 

4.4 Subject Property Maps 

See attached Map B (1 through 15). 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Regional Context – Parks and Natural Areas1 It is the City of Kelowna’s objective to protect and 
enhance natural areas and provide a variety of parks for people to pursue active, creative and 

                                                
1
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, Chapter 2 – Regional Context, “Parks and Natural Areas”, pg. 2.2. 

134



Z13-0044 – Page 3 

 
 

healthy lifestyles. The objective includes creating an open space network that protects sensitive 
ecosystems and links important habitat areas. 

 

Public Use.2 Discourage the use of agricultural lands for public or institutional uses such as 
schools, parks and churches except as identified in the OCP. 
 
Natural Area Parks and Open Space.3 Provide a city-wide network of natural area parks which 
meet the following criteria: 
 

 contains representative Okanagan ecosystems; 
 contains areas of outstanding natural beauty (including areas with high visual sensitivity 

and high visual vulnerability, such as rocky outcrops, ridge lines, hilltops, silt slopes, 
canyons, and water edges); 

 the land area is contiguous and forms part of a larger open space network; 
 contains conservation areas; 
 protects viewshed corridors; and 
 where appropriate, trails which maximize public safety while minimizing human impact on 

the most sensitive and vulnerable areas. 

5.2 Growth Management Strategy for the Regional District of Central Okanagan4 

Vision Statement for the Central Okanagan 

[The Central Okanagan] is a centre for arts, culture, tourism and recreation. Our parks, trail 
systems, recreation areas and sports venues are extensive and attract thousands of visitors a 
year. 

Growth Management Objectives 

Improve the quality of life through enhancement of the arts, culture, tourism, and recreation 
opportunities within the region. 

Protect the integrity of the agriculture and forest land base. 

Protect the scenic quality of the region and preserve significant features, open space and 
cultural heritage resources. 

Growth Management Policies 

Consideration is to be given to the social and economic benefits of arts, culture, tourism, and 
recreation amenities in public sector decision making. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Development Engineering Department 

See attached memorandum dated February 21, 2014 

7.0 Application Chronology 

                                                
2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, Chapter 5 – Development Process, Policy 5.34.4. 

3
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, Chapter 7 – Infrastructure, Policy 7.12.2. 

4
 Regional District of the Central Okanagan. Growth Management Strategy for the Regional District of the Central Okanagan, Schedule 

‘A’ of Bylaw No. 851, 2000. 

135



Z13-0044 – Page 4 

 
 

Date of Application Received: January 8, 2013  
 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Lindsey Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 
 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

Attachments: 

Table “A” – List of Subject Properties 
Map “B” 1 through 15 – Subject Property Maps 
Development Engineering Branch Memorandum 
 

136



Table “A” – List of Subject Properties 
 

Park Name Civic Address Legal Description Current Zoning Map # 

Knowles Heritage Park 865 Bernard Avenue Lot 1 DL 138 ODYD Plan KAP92254 RU6 1 

Boyce Gyro Beach Park 
3502 Lakeshore Road 
3508 Lakeshore Road 

Lot 1 DL 134 ODYD Plan 34844 
Lot 1 DL 134 ODYD Plan 36346 

RU1 
RU1 

2 

Gallagher Community Park 
1755 Gallagher Road 
1871 Gallagher Road 
2105 Joe Riche Road 

Lot 1 Sec 18 Twp 27 ODYD Plan 29045 
Lot 3 Sec 18 Twp 27 ODYD Plan 2736 
Lot 2 Sec 18 Twp 27 ODYD Plan 29045 

A1 
A1 
RR1 

3 

Barlee Neighbourhood Park 1890 Barlee Road Lot 7 DL 129 ODYD Plan 10140 RU1 4 

Begbie Natural Area Park (portion of) 1410 Union Road Lot 2 Sec 8 and 9 Twp 23 ODYD Plan KAP86750 RM2 5 

Lost Creek Neighbourhood 
Park 

155 Lost Creek Court Lot 53 Sec 5 Twp 23 ODYD Plan EPP9195 RU2h 6 

Knox Mountain Park 

(end of) Trench Place 
1061 Gordon Drive 

1123 Mountain Avenue 
1133 Mountain Avenue 
1143 Mountain Avenue 

Blk 7 Sec 30 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 5452 
That Part of the N ½ of Blk 14 shown on Plan B4746; DL 138 

ODYD Plan 202 
Lot 33 Sec 30 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 17272 
Lot 34 Sec 30 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 17272 
Lot 35 Sec 30 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 17272 

I4 
I4 

RU1 
RU1 
RU1 

7 

Stuart Park (Phase 2) 
(portion of)1374 Water Street 
(portion of) 1410 Water Street 
(portion of) 1430 Water Street 

Lot 2 DL 139 and 4083 ODYD Plan EPP29214 
Lot 2 DL 4083 ODYD Plan 8654 

Lot 1 DL 139 ODYD Plan KAP83363 

P1 
P1 
P1 

8 

Lombardy Park 
1356 Orchard Drive 

(end of) Orchard Drive 
Lot 52 DL 137 ODYD Plan 17047 

Lot 1 Sec 29 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 28785 
P2 

RU6 
9 

Pacific Court Park 
(portions of) 2028 Lindahl 

Street 
Lot 1 Sec 19 Twp 26 ODYD Plan KAP92087 RU2/RM5 10 

Manhattan Drive Beach 
Access 

842 Manhattan Drive Lot 1 DL 9 ODYD Plan 2669 RU6 11 

Briarwood Neighbourhood 
Park 

310 Primrose Road Lot 1 Sec 26 Twp 26 ODYD Plan 26724 RM3 12 

McKinley Mountain Park 1798 Shayler Place Lot 17 Sec 20 and 29 Twp 23 ODYD Plan KAP88870 RR3 13 

Vernon Creek Linear Park 
120 Bubna Place 
125 Bubna Place 

Lot 10 Sec 2 Twp 20 ODYD Plan KAP79495 
Lot 9 Sec 2 Twp 20 ODYD Plan KAP79495 

I3 
I3 

14 

Abbott Neighbourhood Park 2938 Abbott Street Amended Lot 10 (DD 185625F) DL 14 ODYD Plan 2336 RU1 15 

 

137



138



139



140



141



142



Report to Council 
 
 
Date: 

 
September 16, 2014 
 

File: 
 

1200-70 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Danielle Noble-Brandt, Department Manager, Policy & Planning 

Subject: 
 

2014-08-29 - Report - Health District Amendments 

 Report Prepared by: Laura Bentley 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA14-0016 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw 
No. 8000, by removing definitions for Health Services, Supportive Housing, Major and 
Supportive Housing, Minor in Section 2; removing the Level 2 landscape buffer and revising 
Table 7.1 – Minimum Landscape Buffer Treatment Levels Schedule in Section 7; revising Table 
8.1 – Parking Schedule in Section 8; and amending the HD2 – Hospital and Health Support 
Services regulations and HD3 – Health Services Transitional regulations in Section 17, as 
outlined in the Report of the Policy & Planning Department dated September 16, 2014, be 
considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To consider proposed bylaw amendments to clarify interpretation and consistency for the 
Health District 2 (HD2) and Health Services Transitional 3 (HD3) zone regulations. 
 
Background: 
 
On September 15, 2014, Council adopted Bylaw No. 10981 to introduce the HD3 – Health 
Services Transitional zone and associated regulations. This was the culmination of Phase 1 of 
the Hospital Area Planning exercise that considered the impacts of Kelowna General Hospital 
(KGH) operations on the surrounding residential neighbourhood. The HD3 – Health Services 
Transitional zone allows for small-scale health services that are generally compatible with 
residential land uses and building form, which are capable of being located in a 
neighbourhood setting. Building design is intended to reflect the scale and context of nearby 
residential areas. 
 
Adopted on November 29, 2011, the HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services zone provides 
for the conversion and new development of buildings that provide services to the medical 
community associated with KGH. It allows for a range of institutional, medical-related 

143



commercial and complimentary residential uses within the Health District Future Land Use 
designation. 
 
After review of both zones, some modest amendments are proposed to ensure that the 
implementation ease of both zones is executed at the rezoning stage.  The proposed 
amendments are: 

 To include ‘Health Services, major’ and ‘Health Services, minor’ to the HD2 zone to 
expressly allow both options as a permitted use; 

 To clarify landscape buffer requirements for properties less than 900 m² to ensure 
they can feasibly be incorporated into a landscape plan for properties of this size; 

 To replace the ‘supportive housing, minor’ with ‘congregate housing’ in the HD3 
zone to more accurately reflect the type of out-patient supportive housing that is 
compatible with the building types allowed in this zone. 

 To specify parking requirements for both Health Services, Major and Minor in the HD3 
zone to be more consistent with the parking provisions in the HD2 zone that are 
already established. 
  

The overall intent of the HD2 and HD3 zones will be retained with some improvements for 
interpretation, clarification and consistency for the Health District zones. Of note, the 
parking schedule amendments reduce the parking requirements for Health Services, Major 
and Minor in the HD3 zone to be more consistent with the parking provisions in the HD2 zone.  
 
Existing Policy: 
 
Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 
 
Policy 5.32.10 Health Care Facilities. Support the extension of services and appropriate 
building expansions of the Kelowna General Hospital and other health care facilities, as 
provided for on the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. The form and character of future 
expansions should be compatible with the surrounding neighbourhood context. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
 

Reviewed by:    D. Noble-Brandt, Department Manager, Policy & Planning 
 

144



Approved for Inclusion  D. Gilchrist, Divisional Director of Community Planning &  
Real Estate 

 
Attachments: 
 
Attachment 1: Proposed Text Amendments 
 
 
cc: Divisional Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
 Manager, Urban Planning 
 Manager, Development Engineering 
  

145



 

Section 17 – Health District Zone 
 

17.2 HD2 – Hospital and Health Support Services 
 
17.2.2.1 The principle principal uses for properties with a lot area of 900m2 or more are: 
 

(a) multiple dwelling housing 
(b) personal services establishments 
(c) emergency and protective services 
(d) child care centre, major 
(e) congregate housing 
(f) extended medical treatment facilities 
(g) health services 
(h) health services, major 
(i) health services, minor 

 
17.2.2.2 The principal uses for properties with a lot area of less than 900m2 are: 
 

(a) single dwelling housing 
(b) child care centre, minor 
(c) health services 
(d) health services, major 
(e) health services, minor 

 
17.2.6 Parking Regulations specific to the HD-2 HD2 Zone 
 

(c) Health Services, Major and Minor shall be calculated as 2.5 stalls per 100 m2 of 
gross floor area. 

 
17.2.7 Other Regulations 
 

(b) Secondary uses can only be present where a principle principal use is 
established and in continuous use. 

(c) Offices are limited to those related to hHealth sServices, Major and Minor or 
those that can demonstrate a direct support role for the Kelowna General 
Hospital, Cottonwoods Care Facility or Interior Health Authority. 

(h) For properties with a lot area of 900m2 or more, Level 2 landscape buffers are 
required for the front yard and Level 3 landscape buffers are required in all side 
and rear yard setback areas. 
For properties with a lot area of less than 900m2, a minimum 2.0m landscape 
buffer is required for the side yard setback areas to separate uses from adjacent 
properties and will consist of a low-lying vegetative buffer where no trees or 
continuous opaque barrier is required. Level 2 landscape buffers are required for 
the front yard and Level 3 landscape buffers are required for the rear yard 
setback areas. 

  

146



 

 

17.3 HD3 – Health Services Transitional 
 
17.3.2 Principal Uses 
 
17.3.2.1 The principal uses in this zone are: 
 

(a) boarding or lodging house 
(b) congregate housing 
(c) group home, minor 
(d) health services, minor 
(e) health services, major 
(f) single detached housing 
(g) supportive housing, minor 
(h) two dwelling housing 
 

17.3.5 Other Regulations 

(b) A minimum 2.0m landscape buffer is required for the side yard setback areas to 
separate uses from adjacent properties and will consist of a low-lying vegetative 
buffer where no trees or continuous opaque barrier is required. Level 2 
landscape buffers are required for the side yards and Level 32 landscape buffers 
are required in the front and rear yard setback areas. A visual screen is required 
along side or rear lot lines that are adjacent… 

 

 

Section 2 – Interpretation 
 

2.3 General Definitions 
 
Definitions to Remove 
 
HEALTH SERVICES means development used for the provision of physical or mental health 
services on an out-patient basis. Services may be of a preventative, diagnostic, treatment, 
therapeutic, rehabilitative, or counseling nature. Typical uses include but are not limited to 
medical and dental offices, chiropractors, massage therapists and acupuncture clinics, health 
clinics, and counseling services. 
 
SUPPORTIVE HOUSING, MAJOR means housing consisting of seven or more dwellings with 
support services on-site. These may or may not include collective dining facilities, laundry 
facilities, counseling, educational services, homemaking, and transportation. Supportive 
Housing, Major may qualify as Special Needs Housing. 
 
SUPPORTIVE HOUSING, MINOR means housing consisting of a maximum of six dwellings with 
support services on-site. These may or may not include collective dining facilities, laundry 
facilities, counseling, educational services, homemaking, and transportation. Supportive 
Housing, Minor may qualify as Special Needs Housing. 
 

147



 

 

 

Section 7 – Landscaping and Screening 
 
7.6 Minimum Landscape Buffers 
7.6.1 Landscape buffers, of a design as shown… 
 

(b) Level 2: a minimum 2.0m landscape buffer is required to separate uses from 
adjacent properties and will consist of a low-lying vegetative buffer where no 
trees or continuous opaque barrier is required. 

 

Table 7.1 – Minimum Landscape Buffer Treatment Levels Schedule 
 

Location Front Yard Rear Yard Side Yard Urban Plaza 
Permitted (see 7.4) 

HD2 – properties 
with a lot area of 
900m2 or more 

2 3 3  

HD2 – properties 
with a lot area of 
less than 900m2 

2 3 2.0m (see 
Section 17.2.7) 

 

HD3 2 2 2.0m (see 
Section 17.3.5) 

 

 

 

Section 8 – Parking and Loading 
 

Table 8.1 – Parking Schedule 
 

Health Services and Health Services, Minor 
 
 
 
Health Services, Major and Minor 
(a) HD2 zone 
(b) Lot area of 1800m2 or more, exclusive of the 

HD2 zone 

(c) Lot area of less than 1800m2, exclusive of the 
HD2 zone 

5 per 100m2 GFA, except on parcels less 
than 1800m2 in area the required 
parking spaces shall be 4 per 100m2. 
 
 
2.5 per 100m2 GFA 
4.0 per 100m2 GFA 
 
3.0 per 100m2 GFA 

 

148



149



150



151



152



153



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 13, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LG) 

Application: TA14-0018 Applicant: 
Jim Meiklejohn (Meiklejohn 
Architects Inc.) 

Subject 
Address: 

1435 Water Street Owner: City of Kelowna 

Title: Text Amendment to P1 Zone 

Existing Zone: P1 – Major Institutional 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Zoning Bylaw Text Amendment No. TA14-0018 to amend Section 16.1.3 of City of Kelowna 
Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as outlined in the report from Urban Planning dated September 13, 2014 
be considered by Council.  

AND THAT the Text Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further 
consideration. 

2.0 Purpose 

To amend the P1- Major Institutional zone to allow Non-accessory Parking as a secondary use. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Urban Planning supports the proposed text amendment to the Zoning Bylaw. Formally, the 
application has been made in order to facilitate the proposed parkade associated with the 
Kelowna Community Health and Services Centre building. However, Urban Planning agrees that 
the addition of Non-accessory parking to the P1 zone would benefit most uses that are allowed in 
the zone. Those uses are typically large-scale assembly destinations such as places of worship, 
recreation facilities, and arenas.  

Non-accessory parking would be added as a secondary use in the zone thereby allowing them only 
when in conjunction with an existing primary use, or a development application for a large-scale 
primary use. There are very few P1-zoned parcels in the City and Urban Planning does not 
anticipate an increase in non-accessory parking development applications outside of the 
downtown urban centre. 

As for the conversion of the current Memorial Arena surface parking lot to a parkade, this portion 
of the property at 1435 Water Street has always (historically) been used to provide public parking 

154



TA14-0018 – Page 2 

 
 

and this same use will continue with construction of the new parkade.  This development will 
continue the trend of moving public parking away from the waterfront and will provide a large 
increase to capacity for special events in the downtown core. 

4.0 Current Development Policies 

Downtown Plan 2012 

Focal Priority #5 – Make it easier to park. 

Initiatives: Build parkade at the east end of downtown. 

  Expand parking opportunities for the Cultural District area. 

  Increase supply of parking for people with disabilities. 

 

Kelowna Parking Management Strategy 

 
Guiding Principles 

 
1. The City will focus on excellent short-term parking management to support higher turn-
over while maintaining a governing role in long-term parking solutions. The City’s primary role 
in parking management should be to provide short-term public parking, including the protection 
of existing on-street space, with a secondary role of governing and planning for long-term 
parking. Pricing levels should encourage private investment in long-term parking facilities. 

 
2. The parking system will continue to pay for itself (will operate under a user-pay cost 
recovery model). There are many costs associated with parking: new infrastructure, 
maintenance, equipment, enforcement, upgrades, customer service applications, replacement of 
existing infrastructure, land acquisition, management and more. 

 
3. Focus on customer service and fairness in parking practices by providing options, 
technologies and information. Additional payment options, improved signage, fair practices and 
real-time information make parking more accessible, easier to find, eases (or lessens) 
enforcement requirements and supports active business areas and balanced neighbourhoods. 

 
4. The City will work with institutions, businesses and developers to plan solutions for 
parking management. Parking policies must support the private and institutional sectors to 
ensure efficient and economical ways to address parking and transportation overall. Policies 
should help to encourage public-private partnerships as well as private investment. 

 
5. Parking will be used to support a balanced transportation system. Parking is part of the 
larger transportation picture. Inexpensive and plentiful parking will not encourage people to use 
transit, walk or cycle. Strategies to manage the supply of various types of parking and pricing in 
some of the most vibrant areas of the city will serve to discourage single-occupant vehicles and 
encouraging other ways to commute. 
 

 

 

155



TA14-0018 – Page 3 

 
 

5.0 Application Chronology 

 
Date of Application Received: August 20, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Lindsey Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Attachments: 

Schedule ‘A’ - Proposed Text Amendment 

156



157



158



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 29, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Department, Community Planning and Real Estate (RS) 

Application: Z14-0030 Owner: MKS Resources Inc 

Address: 519,529 and 539 Truswell Road Applicant: GTA Architecture 

Title: 2014 09 29 Report  Z14-0030 519-539 Truswell Rd 

Existing OCP Designation: Mixed-Use Tourism 

Proposed OCP Designation: No Change 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: C9 – Tourist Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Rezoning Application No. Z14-0030 to amend the City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of Lots 1 and 2, Section 1, Township 25, ODYD, Plan 13317 and 
Lot 1 Section 1, Township 25, ODYD Plan KAP91725, located on 519,529 and 539 Truswell Road, 
Kelowna, BC from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing zone to the C9 – Tourist Commercial zone, be 
considered by Council. 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction 
with Council’s consideration of a Development Permit and Development Variance Permit for the 
subject property. 

AND THAT the Zone Amending Bylaw be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration. 

AND THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose  

The applicant is proposing to rezoning the subject properties from the RU1 – Large Lot Housing 
zone to the C9 – Tourist Commercial zone to accommodate the development of a 6 storey mixed 
use (residential/commercial) development. 

 

 

159



Z14-0030 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

The Urban Planning Department supports this rezoning application. The proposal is consistent 
with both the Official Community Plan and the development trends in the neighborhood. The 
applicant has been working with staff to resolve design comments generated through a review by 
the City’s Advisory Design Team and staff anticipate being able to bring positive 
recommendations on both the Development Permit and Development Variance Permit 
applications. The proposed variances are all relatively minor in nature and are explained briefly 
below.  

 The side yard setback variance is triggered because the developer has chosen not to 
combine proposed phase 2 with the phase 1 strata (for ease of future strata 
management). This has meant that an internal lot line will remain between the two 
projects triggering the need for a bylaw variance for the parkade wall. This wall fronts 
onto a fire lane/parkade wall on the existing phase 1 and thus no units are impacted 
negatively. Above the southern side of the parkade, the building steps back to exceed the 
required setback. 

 The building height variance is triggered by the style of construction and architectural 
projections that help to create a varied roofline. 

 While the parking variance seems large, it will actually allow the developer to provide 
parking in an amount similar to what would be required for a regular residential 
development. The parking rates for an apartment hotel development are generally 75% of 
what is required for a residential unit.  

 The reduced building setbacks along the fronting streets will help the buildings frontages 
to not only complement the Phase 1 of Water’s Edge but also provide a strong retail 
frontage along Truswell Street. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The adjacent properties (to the south) were developed as Phase 1 of the Water’s Edge 
development. A phase 2 of Water’s Edge has always been contemplated and disclosed to the 
original purchasers. While the applicant is referring to this as “phase 2”, it will not be connected 
to the phase building or strata as originally planned. Separating the two projects both from a 
structural and real estate perspective will simplify the management of the projects in the future.  

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant is proposing to rezone the subject properties to the City’s C9 – Tourist Commercial 
zone in order to set the required land use for the construction of a 6 storey building with a 
contemporary character. The building will be buffered from both neighbouring properties and the 
pedestrian realm by landscaping around the perimeter of the site and parking structure.  The 
parking structure is constructed at grade, and has some minor landscape berming and planters 
around the perimeter to reduce the perceived building height.  The building has a commercial 
frontage located at the north side of the structure, which also has an outdoor patio seating area 
located adjacent to it.  The building’s parking structure is accessed via a driveway from Truswell 
Road (on the west side of the building) and the pedestrian entrance area is highlighted by the use 
of a stone finish and a distinct awning.  The parkade will provide a total of 29 stalls and a further 
23 stalls will be located behind the building. Of the total number of stalls, 8 are allocated to the 
commercial use, 18 stalls for the apartment hotel. Of the remaining 26 stalls, 6 of the surface 
parking stalls will be designated for public parking to service future greenway/linear path users. 
 

160



Z14-0030 – Page 3 

 
 

The applicant has created the required Riparian Management Area along Mission Creek with 
phase 1 of the proposed development and is committed to some minor replanting and 
maintenance in this area to replace some plant species that have not survived their first few 
growing seasons.  
 
Above the parking structure, the building steps back on its southern side (adjacent to phase 1 of 
Water’s Edge) and the resulting deck area includes an outdoor amenity area with a hot tub, as 
well as an outdoor seating area. 
 
The roof proposed for the building is designed with a flat profile to further reduce the perceived 
building height, and to minimize the impact on the residents across Mission Creek.  There are flat 
roof projections that incorporate bracketed support elements that also break up the length of 
the roof area.  There are also a number of lofted areas that project through the roof area, which 
also creates additional visual interest to this element. 
 
The exterior of the proposed building is designed to be finished in a manner that ties it to phase 
1 of the development with a blend of stucco detail areas and horizontal hardie plank materials.  
The balconies are proposed to be finished with a painted metal guard rail system which 
incorporates tempered glazing. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties are located at the intersection of Truswell and Capozzi Roads, bounded on 
the south by Mission Creek and Phase 1 of the Water’s Edge development.  The site is generally 
level, and is currently developed with single unit and two unit residential buildings.  It is 
proposed to close a portion of Truswell Road to add surplus City land to the development site. 
 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North C9 – Tourist Commercial Boat Storage 

East C9 – Tourist Commercial Walnut Grove Motel 

South C9 – Tourist Commercial/Mission Creek Water’s Edge Phase 1 

West 
C9 – Tourist Commercial 
RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

Mission Shores 
Single Family Dwellings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

161



Z14-0030 – Page 4 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 519,529 and 539 Truswell Road 
 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C9 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1800m2 3169m2 

Lot Width 30.0m 30.5m 

Lot Depth 35.0m 54.2m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.5 1.19 

Height 22m/6 storeys 25m/6 storeys 

Front Yard (Capozzi Rd) 6m 
2.5m  

(to match phase 1) 

Side Yard (south/phase 1) 3.0m 0.0m 

Side Yard (north/flanking street) 4.5m 1.8m 

Side Yard (east) 3.0m 7.0m 

Rear Yard 15m 15m+ 

Other Regulations 

Minimum Parking Requirements 

Apartment Hotel: 18 
Commercial/Retail: 8 

 
+6 Allocated to City of Kelowna 

for linear corridor parking 
Total: 32 

29 parkade stalls 
23 surface stalls  

(6 surface stalls designated  
for public parking) 

Total 52 

162



Z14-0030 – Page 5 

 
 

Bicycle Parking 
Class 1:  2 
Class 2:  3 

Class 1:  7 
Class 2:  5 

Private Open Space m2 m2 

Loading Space 1 1 

 Variance to maximum building height from 22.0m permitted to 25.0m proposed. 

Variance to front yard setback from 6m required to 2.5m proposed to achieve that same setback along Capozzi 

Road as phase 1 of Water’s Edge. 

Variance to the northern (flanking) side yard setback from 4.5m required to 1.8m proposed. 

Variance to southern side yard setback from 3.0m required to 0.0m proposed 

Variance to allow the development to provide 153% of the required parking when only 125% is permitted. 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

 
Mixed Use Tourism (MXT) 
 
Developments that provide for a mix of hotel, apartment hotel, multiple unit residential uses and 
associated commercial uses intended to service the tourism market. Building densities and height 
would be consistent with the provisions of the C9, RM3, RM4 and RM5 zones of the Zoning Bylaw. 
 
Building Height 
 
Elsewhere: For all areas of the City outside the Urban Centres, buildings heights shall be a 
maximum of four storeys for residential and six storeys for apartment hotels and hotels. 
Additional height restrictions may be imposed as a result of airport-related zoning regulations. 
 
Strata Parkades 
 
Consider private sector parking solutions such as strata parkades as an alternative to fulfilling 
parking requirements. 
 
Environmentally Sensitive Area Linkages 
 
Ensure that development activity does not compromise the ecological function of 
environmentally sensitive areas and maintains the integrity of plant and wildlife corridors. 
 
Tourist Commercial 
 
Consider commercial development for tourism related uses in the Capozzi / Truswell, Lakeshore, 
Cook Road area. 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.2.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

163



Z14-0030 – Page 6 

 
 

Visitor Accommodation  
 
Consider allowing visitor accommodation along the shore zone provided that such a use protects 
the riparian area, would be compatible with the neighbourhood and site context, and public 
enjoyment of the lakefront is enhanced as a result of the development. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Demolition permits are required for any existing structures 
 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

 

 Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. The 
location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit application.  

 

 A Hoarding permit is required and protection of the public from the staging area and the new 
building area during construction. Location of the staging area and location of any cranes 
should be established at time of DP. 

 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit applications, 
but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

a. Door swings and gate swings for proper means of exiting are required 
b. Additional doors and corridors may be required to meet minimum exiting 

requirements. This may include moving of the internal rated exit stairwells to meet 
minimum distances and addition of rated corridors. 

c. Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect. 

d. Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should 
be reflected in the plans if required.  

 

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. A minimum Geodetic Elevation of 343.66 meters is 
required for all habitable spaces including the parking garage(s).  

 

 We strongly recommend that the developer have his professional consultants review and 
prepare solutions for potential impact of this development on adjacent properties. Any 
damage to adjacent properties is a civil action which does not involve the city directly. The 
items of potential damage claims by adjacent properties are items like settlement of 
foundations (preload), damage to the structure during construction, additional snow drift on 
neighbour roofs, excessive noise from mechanical units, vibration damage during foundation 
preparation work etc. 

 

 Requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire Prevention Regulations Bylaw No. 10760 for 
buildings 6 stories and greater are to be shown on the building permit drawings. 

 

 Guards are required for all decks and parking areas. The drawings provided don’t clearly 
identify compliance to these minimum requirements, but will be reviewed at time of building 

164



Z14-0030 – Page 7 

 
 

permit application. The appearance of these guards may affect the form and character of 
the building. 

 

 Fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure room(s). 
The drawings submitted for building permit is to clearly identify how this rating will be 
achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 

 An exit analysis is required as part of the code analysis at time of building permit 
application. The exit analysis is to address travel distances within the units, number of 
required exits per area, door swing direction, handrails on each side of exit stairs, width of 
exits etc 

 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit. This 
should include the signage required for the building addressing to be defined on the 
drawings per the bylaws on the permit application drawings. 

 

 Mechanical Ventilation inlet and exhausts vents are not clearly defined in these drawings for 
the enclosed parking storeys. The location and noise from these units should be addressed 
at time of Development Permit.  

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. Please indicate how the requirements of Radon mitigation and NAFS are being 
applied to this structure at time of permit application 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached report dated August 1st, 2014. 

6.3 Fire Department 

 Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required. 

 A visible address must be posted on Truswell as per City of Kelowna By-Laws 

 Sprinkler drawings are to be submitted to the Fire Dept. for review when available. 
Ensure that isolation valves are at an acceptable level as per the COK Bylaw 10760. 

 A fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC is required at occupancy. The fire safety plan 
and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing format on a CD or 
DVD to facilitate Fire Department pre-planning for this structure. The fire safety plan 
should clearly detail the unique requirements for this structure. A copy of the sprinkler 
system owner’s certificate is to be included in the fire safety plan. 
 

 Fire Department access is to be met as per BCBC 3.2.5.6 

 Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to the fire dept. is required by the 
fire dept. entrance. Kurt’s Lock & Safe at 100A – 1021 Ellis Street, Kelowna is the 
approved supplier for flush mount lock boxes. 

 The standpipes connections are to be installed on the transitional landings of the 
stairwells as per NFPA 14. 

 All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met. 

165



Z14-0030 – Page 8 

 
 

 Fire alarm system is to be monitored by an agency meeting the CAN/ULC S562 Standard. 

 Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement. 

 Fire department connection is to be within 45M of a fire hydrant – please ensure this is 
possible and that the FD connection is clearly marked and visible from the street. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: July 11, 2014 
Advisory Design Team Review: August 14, 2014 
Public Notification (Policy #367): September 19, 2014 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager  
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:   
Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director of Community Planning and Real Estate 

 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 
Floor Plans 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
Development Engineering Branch Memo dated August 1st, 2014 

166



167



168



169



170



171



172



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 29, 2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning and Real Estate (LB) 

Application: Z12-0046 Owner: 
564913 BC Ltd, 

 Inc No 564913 

Address: 1350 St Paul Street Applicant: Joseph Higgins 

Subject: Rezoning Application, Extension Request 

Existing Zone: I2 – General Industrial 

Proposed Zone: C7 – Central Business Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT in accordance with Development Application Procedures Bylaw No. 10540, the deadline for 
the adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10757, for Lot 1, D.L. 139, ODYD, Plan KAP68461 
located on 1350 St Paul Street, Kelowna, BC, be extended from October 2, 2014 to  
February 2, 2015; 
 
AND THAT Council direct staff not to accept any further extension requests. 

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a final extension to facilitate the rezoning of the subject property from the I2 – 
General Industrial zone to the C7 – Central Business Commercial zone in order to formalize the 
use of the subject property as a surface parking lot. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Section 2.12.1 of Procedure Bylaw No. 10540 states that: 

In the event that an application made pursuant to this bylaw is one (1) year old or older and has 
been inactive for a period of six (6) months or greater: 
 
a) The application will be deemed to be abandoned and the applicant will be notified in writing 
that the file will be closed; 

b) Any bylaw that has not received final adoption will be of no force and effect; 

173



Z12-0046 – Page 2 

 
 

c) In the case of an amendment application, the City Clerk will place on the agenda of a meeting 
of Council a motion to rescind all readings of the bylaw associated with that Amendment 
application. 
 
By-Law No. 10757 received second and third readings on October 2, 2012 after the Public Hearing 
held on the same date and a twelve (12) month extension to October 2, 2014 was provided on 
September 30, 2013. The applicant submitted a Development Permit application for a surface 
parking lot on September 8, 2014. Staff support an additional four (4) month extension to 
formalize the use of the property as a surface parking lot. 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Laura Bentley, Planner 
 
 

Reviewed by:    L. Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 

Approved for Inclusion  R. Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 

Attachments:  

Site Plan 

174



175



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 22, 2014 

RIM No. 0940-40 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (LG) 

Application: DP14-0152 Owner: Doyle Avenue Holdings Ltd. 

Address: 505 Doyle Avenue Applicant: David Roche (Bentall Kennedy) 

Title: Development Permit Application 

Existing OCP Designation: MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / Commercial) 

Existing Zone: C7 – Central Business Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Permit No. DP14-0152 for Lot A, District 
Lot 139, ODYD Plan EPP25652 located at 505 Doyle Avenue, Kelowna, BC subject to the following: 

1.  The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “A”;  

2.  The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “B”;  

3.  Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule “C”;  

4.  The applicant be required to post with the City, a Landscape Performance Security 
deposit in the form of a “Letter of Credit” in the amount of 125% of the estimated value 
of the landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; and 

5. Requirements of the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure being completed to 
their satisfaction; 

AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted conditions within 180 
days of Council’s approval of the Development Permit Application in order for the permit to be 
issued. 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a development permit application for the proposed Interior Health Authority building 
located on the subject parcel. 

 

176



DP14-0152 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Urban Planning supports the proposed Kelowna Community Health Services Centre building. As 
was described at the time of Development Variance Permit application, the development 
regulations in the C7 zone were written to facilitate tall, narrow high-rises on small, downtown 
lots. In this case, several lots have been consolidated to allow for an office building that has 
large floor plates but small massing. The floor plates are large and allow for flexible and 
adaptable programming areas on each floor. In addition, the proposed building is approximately 
half of the allowed height in the zone which results in a more human-scale building from the 
outside pedestrian realm and the adjacent uses. 

The zoning and development process that the applicant has taken is a bit unconventional. 
However, Urban Planning agreed that, by finalizing zoning and confirming all required variances 
ahead of DP application, it will ensure fewer negotiations and delays during the process. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

For several years, The City has worked with IHA to redevelop the subject parcel into a central 
facility for the delivery of IHA services and programs. The previously approved rezoning and 
variance applications, and this development permit application, represent the culmination of 
these efforts. 

4.2 Project Description 

The proposed development is a five storey office building called the Kelowna Community Health 
Services Centre to be occupied by IHA. 

The placement and orientation of the building on the site responds to the needs of IHA. The front 
door is featured in a new urban plaza at the corner of Doyle Avenue and Ellis Street, increasing 
the significance of this intersection as desired by the City. Principle building frontages reinforce 
the street edge and provide opportunities for the IHA to showcase wellness. A pocket park along 
Ellis Street will provide opportunity for a staff entrance and staff amenity. Parking access is 
situated from the lane immediately west of St. Paul Street for ease of accessibility. Loading has 
been oriented to the lane and can be approached from two directions. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located at the southeast corner of Doyle Avenue and Ellis Street. 
Neighbouring the site is The Madison and location of the approved development permit for The 
Monaco to the north, Memorial Arena to the west, and commercial uses to the east and south. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

 

Orientation Zoning Future Land Use 

North C7 – Central Business Commercial 
MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / 
Commercial) 

West 
P1 – Major Institutional, C7 – Central 
Business Commercial 

EDINST – Educational / Institutional 

East C4 – Urban Centre Commercial 
MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / 
Commercial) 

South 
C4 – Urban Centre Commercial, C7 – Central 
Business Commercial 

MXR – Mixed Use (Residential / 
Commercial) 

177



DP14-0152 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 
 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table 

The zoning analysis table shows the requirements of the C7 zone compared to the proposal: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C7 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Min. Lot Area 200m2 4701m2 

Min. Lot Width 6.0m 96.74m 

Min. Lot Depth 30.0m 48.76m 

Development Regulations 
Max. Floor Area Ratio 9.0 3.5 

Max. Height 44.0m 22.8m 

Min. Setback (Doyle) 0.0m 0m 

Min. Setback (Ellis) 0.0m 0m 

Min. Setback (St. Paul) 0.0m 0m 

Min. Setback (lane) 10.0m 9.60m 

Min. Setback (adjacent property) 15.0m 9.60m 

Other Regulations 
Min. Parking Stalls 213 stalls 492 stalls 

178



DP14-0152 – Page 4 

 
 

Min. Class I Bicycle Stalls 33 stalls 91 stalls 

Min. Class II Bicycle Stalls 86 Stalls 10 

Min. Loading Spaces 9 stalls 2 stalls 

 Indicates an approved variance to the minimum lane setback. 

 Indicates an approved variance to the minimum adjacent property setback. 

 Indicates an approved variance to the maximum parking stall requirement. 

 Indicates an approved variance to the minimum Class II bicycle parking stall requirement. 

 Indicates an approved variance to the minimum loading stall requirement. 

4.5 Public Consultation 

As per Council Policy No. 367, the applicant is only required to consult with their neighbours 
within a 50m radius. However, in anticipation of their DVP application, the applicant hosted a 
Public Information Session. 

The session was held on Wednesday, July 9, 2014 from 4pm – 7pm at the Laurel Packinghouse. In 
preparation for the session, the applicant contacted the neighbouring owners and tenants 
through three avenues: 

1. Registered mail to the legal owners of the neighbouring parcels of land; 

2. Emails and phone calls to those for whom they had contact information, specifically 

a. The owner of 1405 St. Paul Street. 

b. The owner of 1420 St. Paul Street. 

c. The strata council president of The Madison at 1395 Ellis Street; and 

d. The owner/developer of The Monaco site at St. Paul and Ellis. 

3. Hand delivery to all businesses within the 50m radius. 

Approximately 20 people attended the public information session (not including representatives 
from the City, IHA or the development team). 

Comments noted during the event, and provided on comment cards, were generally positive and 
supportive of the project. The most commonly repeated or shared comments were: 

 General support of the design, scale, and massing of the building 

 Concern over the lack of parking in the general area – however, not specifically with 
respect to the building 

 Concern over traffic in the general area – however, not specifically with respect to the 
building 

 Concern that the security around the building and control of those who come to the 
building to use its services is handled carefully to avoid street level issues 

 Street level animation through retail uses, carefully treated elevations and points of entry 
to the building. 

 

 

 

179



DP14-0152 – Page 5 

 
 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Downtown Development.2 Support rezoning to C7 use in the downtown Urban Centre area only 
where properties are surrounded on a minimum of 3 sides by existing C7 zoning. The intent of 
this policy is to support intensification within the existing core areas of Downtown. 

Retention of Commercial Land.3 In order to ensure that the City’s commercial land supply is not 
eroded, where the OCP Bylaw 10500 indicated a commercial land use designation for the 
property, the expectation would be that there be no net loss of commercial space on the site as 
a result of the redevelopment to include other uses. 

Office Building Location.4 Encourage office buildings providing more than 929 m2 of useable 
space to locate in the City Centre or the Town Centres. This policy does not include offices 
integral to business park / industrial uses and “corporate offices” allowable under relevant 
industrial zones. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s)  

 Placement permits are required for any sales or construction trailers that will be on site. 
The location(s) of these are to be shown at time of development permit application.  

 A Hoarding permit is required and protection of the public from the staging area and the 
new building area during construction. Location of the staging area and location of any 
cranes should be established at time of DP. 

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

o Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the code 
analysis by the architect. 

o Access to the roof is required per NFPA and guard rails may be required and should be 
reflected in the plans if required.  

o The code analysis is also to address the interconnected floor space per the 
prescriptive requirements of the code or an alternative solution needs to be accepted 
by the Chief Building Inspector in lieu 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.3.4 (Development Process Chapter). 
3 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.24.2 (Development Process Chapter). 
4 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.25.2 (Development Process Chapter). 

180



DP14-0152 – Page 6 

 
 

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions and site drainage at 
time of building permit application. We strongly recommend that the developer have his 
professional consultants review and prepare solutions for potential impact of this 
development on adjacent properties. Any damage to adjacent properties is a civil action 
which does not involve the city directly. The items of potential damage claims by 
adjacent properties are items like settlement of foundations (preload), damage to the 
structure during construction, additional snow drift on neighbour roofs, excessive noise 
from mechanical units, vibration damage during foundation preparation work etc. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

 See attached memorandum dated September 4, 2014. 

6.3 Fire Department 

 Construction fire safety plan is required to be submitted and reviewed prior to 
construction and updated as required.   

 A visible address must be posted as per City of Kelowna Bylaws.  

 Sprinkler drawings are to be submitted to the Fire Dept. for review when available. 
Ensure that isolation valves are at an acceptable level as per the COK Bylaw 10760. 

 A fire safety plan as per section 2.8 BCFC is required at occupancy. The fire safety plan 
and floor plans are to be submitted for approval in AutoCAD Drawing format on a CD or 
DVD to facilitate Fire Department pre-planning for this structure. The fire safety plan 
should clearly detail the unique requirements for this structure. A copy of the sprinkler 
system owner’s certificate is to be included in the fire safety plan.  

 Fire Department access is to be met as per BCBC 3.2.5.6  

 Fire Department steel lock box or key tube acceptable to the fire dept. is required by the 
fire dept. entrance. Kurt’s Lock & Safe at 100A – 1021 Ellis Street, Kelowna is the 
approved supplier for flush mount lock boxes.  

 The standpipes connections are to be installed on the transitional landings of the 
stairwells as per NFPA 14.  

 Fire Stairwells to be marked clearly (including roof access) as per Fire Department 
requirements. This would be standardized and approved by the Kelowna Fire Department 
(KFD).  

 All requirements of the City of Kelowna Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall be met.  

 Fire alarm system is to be monitored by an agency meeting the CAN/ULC S562 Standard.  

 Contact Fire Prevention Branch for fire extinguisher requirements and placement.  

 Fire department connection is to be within 45M of a fire hydrant – please ensure this is 
possible and that the FD connection is clearly marked and visible from the street. 

6.4 FortisBC – Electric 

 There are primary distribution facilities both on and offsite which provide service to the 
neighbourhood including the downtown business district as well as the cultural district.  
FortisBC Inc. is currently working with the City of Kelowna and the Interior Health 
Authority towards the relocation of both on and offsite facilities to accommodate this 

181



DP14-0152 – Page 7 

 
 

development.  The applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the 
existing service and servicing the proposed development, as well as the provision of 
appropriate land rights where required. 

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

6.5 Telus 

 Telus will provide underground facilities to this development. Developer will be required 
to supply and install conduit as per Telus policy. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Application Received:       August 20, 2014 
Public Consultation:       July 9, 2014 
Rezoning 1st Reading:       July 28, 2014 
Rezoning 2nd & 3rd Readings:      August 12, 2014 
Rezoning Adoption & Development Variance Permit Approval: September 9, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

     
Lindsey Ganczar, Urban Planning Supervisor 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 

Attachments: 

Subject Property map 
Schedule A – Development Permit drawings (siting and dimensions) 
Schedule B – Development Permit drawings (design and finish) 
Schedule C – Development Permit drawings (landscaping) 
Development Engineering Memorandum 
Draft Development Permit 

182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



CITY OF KELOWNA 
 
APPROVED ISSUANCE OF A: 
 

 
 

Development Variance Permit No.:   DP14—0152  

 

 
EXISTING ZONING DESIGNATION: 
 
WITHIN DEVELOPMENT PERMIT AREA: 
 

  
C7 – Central Business Commercial 
  
Urban Centre Revitilization 

 

 
ISSUED TO:       David Roche        
 
LOCATION OF SUBJECT SITE:     505 Doyle Avenue 
 

 

 LOT D.L. PLAN SECTION TOWNSHIP DISTRICT 

 
LEGAL 
DESCRIPTION: 
 

 A 139 EPP25652     ODYD 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCOPE OF APPROVAL 
 
This Permit applies to and only to those lands within the Municipality as described above, and any and all buildings, 
structures and other development thereon. 
 
This Permit is issued subject to compliance with all of the Bylaws of the Municipality applicable thereto, except as 
specifically varied or supplemented by this Permit, noted in the Terms and Conditions below. 
 
Applicants for Development and Development Variance Permit should be aware that the issuance of a Permit limits 
the applicant to be in strict compliance with regulations of the Zoning Bylaw or Subdivision Control Bylaw unless 
specific Variances have been authorized by the Permit.  No implied Variances from bylaw provisions shall be granted 
by virtue of drawing notations which are inconsistent with bylaw provisions and which may not have been identified 
as required Variances by the applicant or City staff. 
 

 

1. TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 

1.  The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general accordance with Schedule 
“A”;  

2.  The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general accordance with 
Schedule “B”;  

3.  Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule “C”;  

4.  The applicant be required to post with the City, a Landscape Performance Security deposit in the form of a 
“Letter of Credit” in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the landscaping, as determined by a 
professional landscaper; and 

5. Any requirements of the Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure being completed to their satisfaction. 

 
2. PERFORMANCE SECURITY: 
 
 As a condition of the issuance of this Permit, Council is holding the security set out below to ensure that 

development is carried out in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Permit.  Should any interest be 
earned upon the security, it shall accrue to the Permittee and be paid to the Permittee if the security is 

214



 - 2 - Permit No. DP14-0152 
 
 
 

returned.  The condition of the posting of the security is that should the Permittee fail to carry out the 
development hereby authorized, according to the terms and conditions of this Permit within the time provided, 
the Municipality may use the security to carry out the work by its servants, agents or contractors, and any 
surplus shall be paid over to the Permittee, or should the Permittee carry out the development Permitted by 
this Permit within the time set out above, the security shall be returned to the Permittee.  There is filed 
accordingly: 

 
 (a) Cash in the amount of $                 N/A                           . 
 (b) A Certified Cheque in the amount of $                  N/A                         . 
 (c) An Irrevocable Letter of Credit in the amount of $        TBD               . 
 
 Before any bond or security required under this Permit is reduced or released, the Developer will provide the 

City with a statutory declaration certifying that all labour, material, workers' compensation and other taxes 
and costs have been paid. 

 
3. DEVELOPMENT: 
 
 The land described herein shall be developed strictly in accordance with the terms and conditions and 

provisions of this Permit and any plans and specifications attached to this Permit which shall form a part 
hereof. 

 
 If the Permittee does not commence the development Permitted by this Permit within one year of the date of 

this Permit, this Permit shall lapse. 
 
 This Permit is not transferable unless specifically permitted by the Municipality. The authorization to transfer 

the Permit shall, if deemed acceptable, be granted by Council resolution. 
 
 THIS Permit IS NOT A BUILDING Permit. 
 
4. APPLICANT'S AGREEMENT: 
 
 I hereby declare that all the above statements and the information contained in the material submitted in 

support of this Permit are to the best of my belief, true and correct in all respects.  Upon issuance of the 
Permit for me by the Municipality, then in such case, I covenant and agree to save harmless and effectually 
indemnify the Municipality against: 

 
 (a) All actions and proceedings, costs, damages, expenses, claims, and demands whatsoever and by 

whomsoever brought, by reason of the Municipality granting to me the said Permit. 
 
 (b) All costs, expenses, claims that may be incurred by the Municipality if the construction by me of 

engineering or other types of works as called for by the Permit results in damages to any property 
owned in whole or in part by the Municipality or which the Municipality by duty or custom is obliged, 
directly or indirectly in any way or to any degree, to construct, repair, or maintain. 

 
 I further covenant and agree that should I be granted a Development Permit or Development Variance Permit, 

the Municipality may withhold the granting of any occupancy Permit for the occupancy and/or use of any 
building or part thereof constructed upon the hereinbefore referred to land until all of the engineering works 
or other works called for by the Permit have been completed to the satisfaction of the Municipal Engineer and 
Divisional Director of Community Planning & Real Estate. 

 
Should there be any change in ownership or legal description of the property, I undertake to notify the Urban Planning  
Department immediately to avoid any unnecessary delay in processing the application. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

215



 - 3 - Permit No. DP14-0152 
 
 
 
I HEREBY UNDERSTAND AND AGREE TO ALL THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SPECIFIED IN THIS PERMIT. 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Signature of Owner/Authorized Agent 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Print Name in Bold Letters 
 

______________________________________________ 
Date 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Telephone No. 
 

5. APPROVALS: 
 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT AUTHORIZED BY THE COUNCIL ON THE _____ DAY OF ____________, 2014. 

 

ISSUED BY THE URBAN PLANNING DEPARTMENT OF THE CITY OF KELOWNA THE _____ DAY OF __________, 2014 BY THE 

DIVISIONAL DIRECTOR OF COMMUNITY PLANNING & REAL ESTATE. 

 

 

 

__________________________________________________ 

Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director -  Community Planning & Real Estate  

216



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
September 24, 2014 
 

File: 
 

0060-10-11008 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

City Clerk 

Subject: 
 

Report to Council - OCP14-0012_Z14-0025 

 Report Prepared by:  Sandi Horning, Council Services Coordinator 

 

Recommendation: 
THAT Bylaw No. 11007 (OCP14-0012) and Bylaw No. 11008 (Z14-0025) be forwarded for 
reading consideration. 
 
Purpose:  
To give initial consideration to the Official Community Plan and Zoning Amending Bylaws in 
order to forward the application to a Public Hearing. 
 
Background: 
During the September 15, 2014 PM Council Meeting, Council passed the Alternate 
Recommendation contained in the Report to Council dated August 25, 2014 from the 
Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Services Department and directed staff to forward the 
Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment and Zone Amending Bylaw to the October 7, 2014 
Public Hearing for further consideration.  In order to forward the application to the Public 
Hearing, the necessary Bylaws require reading consideration. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
Submitted by:  
 
 
S. Fleming, City Clerk 

217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
9/15/2014 
 

File: 
 

RIM Classification Number 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Garry Filafilo, Financial Projects Manager 

Subject: 
 

Okanagan Regional Library – Provincial Grant for French Library Material 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council Approve the City entering into the Memorandum of Understanding with the 
Province of British Columbia, Intergovernmental Relations Secretariat, Francophone Affairs 
Program (FAP) on behalf of the Okanagan Regional Library in the form attached to this Report 
dated September 15, 2014  
 
AND THAT Council authorizes the Financial Services Director to execute the Memorandum 
 
Purpose:  
 
The Memorandum of Understanding provides that the City agrees to forward funds received 
from the Province of British Columbia, Intergovernmental Relations Secretariat Francophone 
Affairs Program (FAP) to the Okanagan Regional Library (ORL) to purchase French Language 
materials and to forward to FAP by March 2015 evidence of project deliverables as provided 
to the City of Kelowna by ORL.  
 
Background: 
 
The Francophone Affairs Program (FAP) requires that program funding be paid to an ORL 
municipal partner who will then forward to the ORL.  The ORL will match the $9,000 to be 
received for the purchase of French language materials.  Under the terms of the attached 
Letter of Understanding from the ORL to the City of Kelowna, the FAP Project Deliverables 
will be provided by ORL on or before March 2015.  Project deliverables include: a detailed list 
of all French material purchased with the FAP and matching funds; evidence of input from the 
French local community identifying the material to be purchased; and copies of public notices 
announcing the increase in French material available at the ORL.   
 
 
 
 

231



Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by: G. Filafilo, Financial Projects Manager 
 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Genelle Davidson, Financial Services Director  
 
 
Attachments: 
Memorandum of Understanding   
Letter of Understanding 
 
 
cc: Rob Mayne, Director, Protective and Corporate Services 
 
 

  

232



233



234



 

1 of 3 
 

 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 

For “Purchase of French Library Material” 
MOU – 2014/15 – AC – 5 

 
 
THIS AGREEMENT dated for reference the     15      day of    September         , 2014. 
 
 
BETWEEN: 
 
 
 Province of British Columbia, 

Intergovernmental Relations Secretariat  
 Francophone Affairs Program 
  (hereinafter referred to as FAP) 
 
 
AND: 
 
 

City of Kelowna 
 (hereinafter referred to as “Kelowna") 

 
 
WHEREAS: 
 
 
A. Kelowna has agreed to provide financial assistance, subject to said assistance being 

made available to Kelowna by FAP, for the purchase of French library material (the 
“Project”); 

 
B. Kelowna and FAP have a vested and continuing interest in the Project; 
 
C.  Kelowna has agreed that they will provide specified monetary contributions to aid the 

planning and implementation of the Project, as hereinafter set out. 
 

235



 

2 of 3 
 

Accordingly, the parties agree as follows: 
 
THE FRANCOPHONE AFFAIRS PROGRAM AGREES: 
 
1) Upon signing of this Agreement between Kelowna and FAP, FAP will issue a cheque to 

Kelowna for the lump sum amount of $9000. 
 

2) The name and contact information of the FAP’s representative is: 
 Anne-Marie Sutherland 
 Coordonnatrice de projets / Project Coordinator 
 Programme des affaires francophones / Francophone Affairs Program 

Secrétariat des Affaires intergouvernementales / Intergovernmental Relations 
Secretariat 

 548 Michigan Street, Victoria, B.C. V8V 1S2 
 Tel: (250) 387 – 0879 
 Anne-Marie.Sutherland@gov.bc.ca 

 
CITY OF KELOWNA AGREES: 
 
1) To forward the provided funds of $9000 to the Okanagan Regional Library (ORL) for the 

“Project”, funds matching the $9,000 provided by the Thompson-Okanagan Region to the 
ORL for the purchase of French language materials. 
 

2) To receive confirmation and reporting of completion of the “Project” deliverables by the 
ORL and to share that reporting with FAP; 
 

3) To request from the ORL the following “Project” deliverables: 
a. A detailed list of all French material purchased with the FAP allocation and matching 

municipal funds. 
 

b. Evidence that input from the French local community was sought to identify the 
material to be purchased. 
 

c. A copy of public notices announcing the increase in French materials, or a description 
of how the public was notified.  
 

d. Public notices must include the following acknowledgment: 
 
      English Public Material: 

“The Okanagan Regional Library acknowledges the financial support of the Province of 
British Columbia through the City of Kelowna and the Canada-British Columbia Official 
Languages Agreement on French-Language Services for the additional purchase of 
French material.” 
 

                French Public Material: 
“La bibliothèque régionale de l’Okanagan reconnaît le soutien financier de la province 
de la Colombie-Britannique par le biais de la ville de Kelowna et de l'Entente Canada-
Colombie-Britannique en matière de langues officielles pour les services en français 
pour l'achat supplémentaire de matériel en français. " 

236

mailto:Anne-Marie.Sutherland@gov.bc.ca


 

3 of 3 
 

 
4) The name and contact information of the Kelowna representative is:  

Garry Filafilo 
Financial Projects Officer 
City of Kelowna 
1435 Water Street 
Kelowna BC  V1Y 1J4 

 gfilafilo@kelowna.ca 
Tel: (250) 469-8791 
 

IT IS MUTUALLY AGREED: 
 
1) That this Memorandum shall continue in effect from the date of this agreement 

until        March 31th, 2015        . 
 
2) That this Document constitutes the entire agreement between Kelowna and FAP and 

may be modified or terminated only by further written agreement executed by Kelowna 
and FAP. 

 
3) Time is deemed to be material and of the essence of this Memorandum. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have duly executed this Agreement 
as of the day and year first above written. 
 
City of Kelowna  Province of B.C. 
Division:  Intergovernmental Relations Secretariat  

Francophone Affairs Program 
   

         
 
______________________________  ___________________________________ 
Name: 
Title: 
 

 Chantal Brodeur 
Manager, Federal-Provincial Agreement 
on Official Languages 

   
 

237

mailto:gfilafilo@kelowna.ca


 

 

Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
September 29, 2014 
 

Rim No. 
 

0710-01 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 

Subject: 
 

2014 09 29 Overview of 2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Grants 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT COUNCIL receives, for information, the overview of the Arts, Culture & Heritage 
Operating Grants, the Arts, Culture & Heritage Project Grants and the Community Public Art 
Grants for 2015 as contained in the report dated September 29, 2014 from the Cultural 
Services Manager; 
 
AND THAT COUNCIL approves the guidelines for the 2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Operating 
Grants, the 2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Project Grants and the 2015 Community Public Art 
Grants as recommended in the report dated September 29, 2014 from the Cultural Services 
Manager; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT COUNCIL directs staff to provide, for information, a list of the 2015 
recipients in each grant program, as well as a summary of achievements, benefits and impact 
arising from grants awarded in these programs in 2014. 
 
 
Purpose: 
 
To provide an overview of grant programs and processes to be administered by the Cultural 
Services Branch for 2015. In early 2015, following the grant adjudication process, staff will 
provide the list of 2015 recipients and a summary of achievements, benefits and impacts 
arising from grants awarded in 2014. 
 
Background about the grant programs: 
Operating Grants 
The purpose of operating grants is to support the day-to-day operations of local non-profit 
arts, culture and heritage organizations. 
 
The proposed 2015 guidelines are attached as Appendix A. Guidelines, application forms and 
other materials will be downloadable from the City’s website. Applications will be accepted 
from October 9 to November 28, 2014. 

238



 

2 
 

 
In 2014, 15 organizations received a total of $102,300 through this program. 
 
For 2015, proposed funding for this program through the existing Cultural Services budget is 
$109,300. 
 
No changes are proposed for this program in 2015. However, 2015 will see a continuation of 
the ‘fair notice’ practice initiated in 2014. More detailed feedback is provided to applicants 
after completion of the review process. Feedback is based on commentary from the grant 
review committee, and specifies aspects of organizational effectiveness or community 
engagement which can be improved. Organizations re-applying in the program are required to 
demonstrate how they have responded to the previous feedback and worked to make the 
necessary improvements. Lack or insufficiency of response will be considered and may result 
in a reduction of support. 

 
This approach mirrors the ‘fair notice’ practices used by a number of public sector arts 
funding agencies in Canada, and provides an additional tool for ensuring accountability in the 
provision of operating support. 

 
 

Project Grants 
The purpose of project grants is to support festivals, events and projects which have an arts, 
culture and heritage focus. Support is provided on a matching basis and is available for up to 
three successive years. 
 
The proposed 2015 guidelines are attached as Appendix B. Guidelines and other materials will 
be downloadable from the City’s website. Application forms are available from Cultural 
Services staff and will be accepted from October 9 to November 28, 2014. 
 
In 2014, 10 organizations received a total of $51,550 through this program. 
 
For 2015, proposed funding for this program through the existing Cultural Services budget is 
$70,000. 
 
No changes are proposed for this program in 2015. Eligibility for Organization Development 
projects, introduced in 2014, will continue. These projects are defined as ‘an activity or 
initiative to develop the organization’s capacity and sustainability through improved 
governance, planning, training, fund development, audience development or program 
review.’ Eligible expenses include fees for participation in reputable programs for Board, 
volunteer or management development, and consulting fees associated with planning 
projects. 

 
This component of the Project Grant program works in tandem with the ‘fair notice’ policy in 
the Operating Grant program. If an organization determines or receives notice that aspects of 
its organizational effectiveness or community engagement need to be improved, an 
Organization Development grant can provide financial assistance to undertake the necessary 
training and/or planning. 

 
These grants are provided on a matching basis, and therefore organizations must also invest 
their own resources in Organization Development Projects. 

239



 

3 
 

 
Any organization undertaking an Organization Development Project with City support will be 
required to provide a Final Report which documents measurable outcomes. 
 
The objective is to support the development of strong non-profit leadership skills, and 
organizations which are healthy, resilient and responsive to the communities they serve. 

 
Community Public Art 
The purpose of this program is to stimulate community engagement and participation in the 
creation of temporary or permanent works of art. Local artists, working in partnership with 
non-profit organizations, are key to the success of these projects. 
 
Any non-profit organization may apply for a grant – applicants do not need to have an arts, 
culture or heritage mandate. 
 
In 2014, $15,000 was available through this program. Only one small project was approved. 
 
Funding for the program will again be available through the City’s annual Public Art Allocation 
administered through the Infrastructure Planning Department (Parks & Public Places Branch) 
budget. The maximum grant for an individual project in this program is $10,000. 
 
The proposed 2015 guidelines are attached as Appendix C. Guidelines, application forms and 
other materials will be downloadable from the City’s website. Applications will be accepted 
from October 9 to November 28, 2014. 
 
No changes are proposed for this program in 2015. Adjudication of applications will again be 
done by the Public Art Roster, a panel of qualified community representatives in consultation 
with City of Kelowna staff. Efforts continue to bring more public attention to this program 
through workshops and presentations. 
 
Program activity 
A chart summarizing applications and grant awards in these programs for the years 2010-2014 
is included as Appendix D. 

 
Program promotion and information 
Cultural Services staff ensures that program guidelines and application forms are posted on 
the City website. 

Packages with printed guidelines and forms are also available at information workshops and 
on request. The majority of applicants access the materials through email and online. 
 
Through the City’s e-subscribe service and a database of contacts and past applicants, the 
City distributes an email bulletin announcing that guidelines and application forms are 
available. This is supported by news releases and occasional paid advertising. 
 
Two public information workshops at the Kelowna Community Theatre Black Box are 
scheduled to help attendees with the 2015 application process: 
 

Wednesday, October 8 – 5:00 pm to 7:00 pm 
Thursday, October 9 – 3:00 pm to 5:00 pm 

240



 

4 
 

 
At each workshop, attendees are introduced to the program guidelines, application forms and 
evaluation process, and also have the opportunity to work through sample applications and 
evaluations to aid their understanding of what makes an application successful. 
 
Working with applicants 
Cultural Services staff work closely with applicants at all stages of the annual grant cycle. 
This working relationship ensures that staff: 

- can assist applicants in ensuring that they are applying in the appropriate program; 
- can bring together initiatives and organizations who might benefit from collaboration, 

or eliminate project overlap and duplication; 
- learn directly from applicants how grant processes and forms can be improved; 
- can guide applicants and organizations in the development of high-quality programs 

and services which are aligned with City of Kelowna goals and objectives. 
 
Feedback from grant applicants about the assistance provided by staff has been very positive. 
The majority of applicants indicate that information provided by staff was helpful and clear, 
and that the process is well managed. 
 
Operating and Project grants: the role of the Central Okanagan Foundation 
The Central Okanagan Foundation has worked with Cultural Services since 2010 to administer 
an independent, arms length evaluation process for both Operating and Project grants. This 
relationship will continue for 2015, in accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement 
attached as Appendix E. The Foundation will receive a fee of $10,000. 
 

Highlights from the agreement: 

 The Foundation recruits and trains the Adjudication Committees, provides 
applications to the committee members, and convenes and facilitates the 
committee meetings where grant recommendations are formulated; 

 The Foundation prepares the grant recommendations and delivers them to staff for 
presentation to Council; 

 Cultural Services is responsible for the grant program guidelines, forms, 
information workshops, working with applicants, reporting to Council and 
distribution of funds. 

 
The underlying principles of the review process administered by the Central Okanagan 
Foundation as a third party agency are fairness, transparency and independence. 
 
Composition of the grant review committees 
The Central Okanagan Foundation, in consultation with Cultural Services, determines the 
composition of grant review committees. Six committee members (with alternates) are 
selected for each program. They are selected based on their experience, merit and familiarity 
with grant processes and the local arts, culture and heritage community. To the extent 
possible, the committees will also reflect the diversity of the community at large and the 
range of disciplines and activities reflected in the list of applicants. 
 
The work of committee members is governed by Terms of Reference prepared by the Central 
Okanagan Foundation. The Terms of Reference include clear procedural direction in the event 
of a real or perceived conflict of interest. Committee meetings are chaired by the 
Foundation’s Director of Grants & Community Initiatives. 

241



 

5 
 

 
Since 2011, each Operating and Project grant committee has included one experienced grant 
adjudicator from Vancouver and it is proposed that this practice continue. Associated fees 
and expenses will be paid by the Central Okanagan Foundation as part of its Agreement with 
the City. 
 
A summary of the grant process for 2015 is provided below: 

PHASE ONE Oct-Dec 2014 
Application Preparation & 

Intake 

PHASE TWO Nov 2014-Jan 2015 
Review Committees & 

Review Process 

PHASE THREE Jan-Feb 2015 
Grant Awards & Distribution 

Publication of guidelines and 
application forms (Oct) 

COF convenes and trains two 
committees for Operating & Project 
grants (Oct-Nov) 
 
Staff convene a separate committee 
for Community Public Art grants 

Staff contacts all applicants to advise on 
results and provide feedback from 
Committee review (late Jan/early Feb) 

Two public information 
workshops (Oct) 

Committees receive and complete 
independent review of all 
applications (Dec-Jan) 

Staff report to Council re: grant awards 
(early Feb) in all three programs 

Staff support for applicants 
preparing applications (Oct-Nov) 

Each committee meets in roundtable 
to decide on grant awards (Jan) 

Follow up correspondence from staff to 
all applicants (Feb) 

Application deadline Nov. 28 Committee minutes prepared and 
provided to staff (Jan) 

Grant awards paid to recipients prior to 
end of February Staff screening of applications 

Dec. 1-11 

Applications to Central Okanagan 
Foundation (COF) by Dec. 12 

 
 
Accountability and performance measures 
All grant recipients are required to acknowledge City of Kelowna funding, primarily through 
use of the City logo in an approved manner on promotional materials. Cultural Services staff 
monitors this recognition on an ongoing basis and follows up with recipients as needed. 
 
Recipients are also required to file a final report within a prescribed timeline describing their 
use of City of Kelowna funding and the benefits and impact achieved. Failure to provide a 
report will disqualify an organization from making an application to any program in the 
future. 
 
Information provided in the reports is helpful to Cultural Services in a variety of ways, 
including documenting successes, measuring community participation and benefit, tracking 
program types and trends and generating ideas for further cultural programming. 
 
Internal circulation 
Director, Active Living & Culture 
Supervisor, Communications 
Manager, Parks & Public Places 
 
Existing Policy: 
Council Cultural Policy 274 provides in part: 

 ‘The City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch funds annual operating grants for local 
Arts, Culture and Heritage organizations. These grants are evaluated and 

242



 

6 
 

recommended for approval by Council in an arms’ length process administered by an 
external organization.’ 
and 

 ‘The City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch funds annual project grants for 
community festivals, and other events and projects that have a focus on arts, culture 
and heritage. These grants are evaluated and recommended for approval by Council in 
an arms’ length process administered by an external organization.’ 

 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
The Central Okanagan Foundation has been consulted in the preparation of this report. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
Submitted by:  
 

 
 
S. Kochan, Cultural Services Manager 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 J. Gabriel, Director, Active Living & Culture Division 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
Appendix A – Operating Grant 2015 Guidelines 
Appendix B – Project Grant 2015 Guidelines 
Appendix C – Community Public Art 2015 Guidelines 
Appendix D – Grant Summary 2010-2014 
Appendix E – Memorandum of Agreement with Central Okanagan Foundation 
 
cc: Director, Active Living & Culture 
 Supervisor, Communications 
 Manager, Parks & Public Places 
 Director of Grants & Community Initiatives, Central Okanagan Foundation 
 
 
 

  

243



OPERATING 
GUIDELINES 

 

  2015 Operating Grants 
  GUIDELINES 
   APPLICATION DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00pm PST 
 
 
 
 
    Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy on CDRom or USB   

flash drive, along with supporting materials by the deadline to: 
 

 
Operating Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office* 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 
 

 
     
 
 
      *Located at the corner of Mountain Avenue and Glenmore Drive. 

APPENDIX A to Report from Cultural 
Services Manager Sept. 29, 2014 

244



 

2015 City of Kelowna Operating Grant Guidelines  p.2 of 6  
 

2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Operating Grants 

 
The City of Kelowna allocates operating funding to arts, culture and heritage organizations which 
provide arts, culture and/or heritage based programming and activities for the benefit of Kelowna 
residents. 
 
This support acknowledges that the work of these organizations contributes to Kelowna’s quality of 
life, identity and economy, and is extended to recipients who demonstrate vision, accountability 
and a spirit of community service in their operations. 
 
Eligible organizations must be an independent organization with a clear mandate which includes the 
provision of public programs and services with an arts, culture and/or heritage focus. 
 
A completed application form must be submitted by the application deadline. The form, with 
helpful step-by-step instructions, is available on-line or from City staff (see below). 
 
Anyone considering making an application is encouraged to: 

 Attend an information workshop. Workshops for 2015 grants are scheduled for October 8 and 
9, 2014; and 

 Contact Caroline Ivey, Cultural Services Branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 
 
 

OPERATING GRANT DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 
 
Funding is intended to support operating expenses during the calendar year beginning January 1, 
2015.  
 
 

  

245



 
2015 City of Kelowna Operating Grant Guidelines  p.3 of 6  
 

Eligibility 
 
In order to be eligible for Operating Grants, applicants must demonstrate that they meet the 
following adjudication criteria: 
 
Organizational Effectiveness:  

 Be incorporated and in good standing as a British Columbia non-profit society.  Charitable 
status is not required; 

 Be active as an incorporated non-profit society for at least one full year prior to the 
application deadline; 

 Be directed by recognized arts/cultural/heritage professionals and/or experienced 
volunteers; 

 Demonstrate financial need; 
 Be fiscally responsible (e.g. diversified revenue base, annual budgeting process, proper 

financial records and reports, support from an accredited bookkeeper/financial advisor); 
 Have a sound governance model which provides for staff/volunteer/board recruitment and 

development, planning, committees and partnerships; 
 Carry out the majority of their work (e.g. performances, exhibitions, events, programs, 

rehearsals, administrative activity, membership) in the City of Kelowna. 
 
Community Engagement:  

 Be an independent organization with a clear mandate which includes the provision of public 
programs and services with an arts, culture and/or heritage focus; 

 If heritage based, create, provide or facilitate events, materials, communications and/or 
services which interpret and convey the human history of Kelowna to residents and visitors; 

 If arts based, create, produce or present work primarily by local artists/performers/artisans 
(amateur and/or professional) – the program may include artists who are not local if 
community outreach by those artists is provided; 

 Demonstrate an inclusive, diverse and welcoming approach in their operations and 
activities; and,  

 
Demonstrate alignment with the following City of Kelowna goals and values: 

 
GOALS VALUES REFERENCE 

 Increasing cultural vitality and 
participation 

 Conveying Kelowna’s history 
 Animating urban centres 
 Providing arts and culture 

opportunities for underserved 
populations 

 Building cultural leadership 
and volunteerism 

 Welcoming new citizens and 
newcomers 

 Accessibility, diversity and inclusion 
 Accountability and fiscal responsibility 
 Innovation 
 Optimizing value 
 Partnerships and collaboration 
 Respect for artists: 

 Fair compensation for artists’ time 
and work 

 Recognition of the artist during and 
after the project 

 Engagement of the artist in planning 
for use of the work and any other 
intellectual property associated with 
the project 

Cultural Plan (see 
Section 5.1 Vision, 5.2 
Guiding Principles and 
Goals 4, 5 and 6) 
 
Printed excerpts of the 
Cultural Plan are 
available from City 
staff. 

 
 

 
  

246



 
2015 City of Kelowna Operating Grant Guidelines  p.4 of 6  
 

Operating grants are NOT TO BE USED FOR: 
 

 Start-up costs 
 Seed money for projects or events 
 Construction, renovation, property purchase or major equipment purchases 
 Deficit reduction 
 Supporting organizations primarily focused on sports, politics, education, religion, 

healthcare, social service and/or those which seek to attract only a special interest 
audience. 

 
Applications for both Operating & Project Grants 
 
Organizations receiving Operating Grants may also apply for one Project Grant within the same 
calendar year in which they receive operating funding. 
 
Organizations which benefit from City of Kelowna Cultural Facility Grants or Professional Arts 
Grants are not eligible to apply for Operating Grants but are eligible to apply for Project Grants. 
 
Evaluation  
 
All grants will be adjudicated by a panel of professional qualified peer and community 
representatives convened by an arm’s length contracted agency in consultation with City of 
Kelowna staff. 
 
Panelists are invited to participate based on their experience, merit and familiarity with granting 
processes and the local arts, culture and heritage community.  To the extent possible, the panel 
will reflect the diversity of the community at large and the range of disciplines and activities 
reflected in the list of applicants. 
 
Panelists who have a real or perceived conflict of interest regarding any application will be 
required to declare that such a conflict exists and will not participate in decisions relating to that 
application. 
 
Cultural Services staff will be present as observers and facilitators during the adjudication process, 
but will not be active participants. 
 
The adjudication panel will, within 60 days of the application deadline, provide its 
recommendations to the contracted agency. 
 
The recommendations of the adjudication panel are final and will be presented to Kelowna City 
Council in early February, 2015. 
 
Notification  

Grant applicants will receive written notification of evaluation results by early February, 2015. 
 
Funds will be disbursed as soon as possible after presentation to Council. The objective is to have 
all funds disbursed by the end of February 2015. 
 
Grants are awarded on an annual basis, based on the merits of the application and the program 
criteria. Applicants must re-apply each year. Continued funding is not guaranteed. 
 
Obtaining an operating grant is a competitive process and demand exceeds available resources. 
Even if eligibility requirements are met, there is no guarantee of support. 
 
All applicants are encouraged to meet with Cultural Services staff to obtain feedback about their 
application from the evaluation panel. 
  

247



 
2015 City of Kelowna Operating Grant Guidelines  p.5 of 6  
 

SPECIAL NOTIFICATION FOR OPERATING GRANT APPLICANTS 
 

Detailed feedback will be provided to applicants after completion of the review process. Feedback 
will be based on commentary from the grant review committee, and will specify, where warranted, 
aspects of organizational effectiveness or community engagement which can be improved. 
  

Organizations returning to the Operating Grant program in subsequent years will be required to 
demonstrate how they have responded to the feedback and worked to make the necessary 
improvements. This information is part of the Final Report. Lack or insufficiency of response will be 
considered in future applications and may result in a reduction of support. 
 

 
 
Recognizing the City of Kelowna’s Support 

Grant recipients must acknowledge the financial assistance of the City of Kelowna on ALL 
communications and promotional materials relating to the organization (such as programmes, 
brochures, posters, advertisements, websites, news releases and signs). 
 
Acknowledgement is provided by using the City of Kelowna logo in accordance with prescribed 
standards. 
 
City of Kelowna logo files and usage standards will be provided to successful applicants. Failure to 
acknowledge the City’s support may result in the inability of an organization to obtain grant 
support in future years. 
 
 
Reporting 
 
Successful applicants will provide a Final Report in a prescribed format to the City of Kelowna 
Cultural Services Branch.  Receipt of these reports is a pre-condition for consideration of an 
organization’s future grant applications in any category and will be part of the review panel 
resources in future grant application reviews. 
 
A grant recipient seeking to make significant changes to its operations, as outlined in an 
application, should consult with Cultural Services staff prior to implementation. 
 
Final Reports must be submitted on or before October 30, 2015. 
 
 
Submitting Applications - Deadline: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 

 Application forms are available at kelowna.ca/culture, or by contacting Caroline Ivey, 
Cultural Services branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 

 Information should be typewritten – handwritten forms will not be accepted. 
 Cultural Services staff are available to review your application prior to submission. 

Applications submitted for review must be received prior to November 21, 2014. 
 Applications which are late or incomplete are ineligible for adjudication. 
 Answer all questions on the form concisely, and include all of the requested supporting 

materials – use the provided checklist to ensure that your application is complete. 
 Support materials are welcome on the understanding that they will not be returned or 

retained. 
 Information about an applicant’s operations is collected for the purpose of adjudicating the 

application and for administrative purposes. It is collected under the authority of the Local 
Government Act, RSBC 1996, c323, Community Charter, SBC 2003, c26 and the Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act, RSBC 1996 c165.  Questions about the collection 
of this information are to be directed to Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager, at 
skochan@kelowna.ca, or 250-469-8935. 

248



 
2015 City of Kelowna Operating Grant Guidelines  p.6 of 6  
 

 Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy on CDRom or USB 
flash drive, along with supporting materials by the deadline to: 

 
 
Operating Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 

 
 

  

249



 

PROJECT 
GUIDELINES 

2015 Project Grants 
GUIDELINES 
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 
 
 
 
Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy on CDRom or USB flash 
drive, along with supporting materials by the deadline to: 

 
 
 
 
Project Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office* 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 
 
 

 
*Located at the corner of Mountain Ave. and Glenmore Drive. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B to Report from Cultural 
Services Manager Sept. 29, 2014 

250



 

2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  2 of 8  

2015 Arts, Culture & Heritage Project Grants 

 
The City of Kelowna allocates grant funding to community organizations which intend to provide a 
festival, event or project featuring arts, culture and/or heritage based elements for the benefit of 
Kelowna residents.  
 
This support acknowledges that: 

 New initiatives often need ‘seed money’ to get started and ongoing support to become 
established; 

 Community events build social connectedness and engagement; 
 Successful events and projects which include creative, cultural or historical content can be 

initiated by individual or collaborative groups whose primary mandates may be unrelated to 
arts, culture and heritage; and 

 The work of community organizations and the availability of arts, culture and heritage activities 
contributes to Kelowna’s quality of life, identity and economy. 

 
With the exception of Organizational Development Projects, eligible organizations need not be from 
the arts, culture or heritage sector. Innovation and collaboration across sectors and interests is 
encouraged. 
 
Project Grant funds may be requested for up to 50% of the total cost of a project, to a maximum of 
$10,000.  All project grants require a non-municipal match of at least 1 to 1. These matching funds 
may be cash or a combination of cash and in kind contributions. Please review the eligible uses for 
funding within this package for further information. 
 
A completed application form must be submitted by the application deadline. 
 
In order to ensure that applicants and projects are eligible before time is spent filling in the forms, 
project application forms are NOT available on line and must be obtained from staff. 
 
Anyone considering making an application is encouraged to: 

 Attend an information workshop. Workshops for 2014 grants are scheduled for October 8 and 9, 
2014; and 

 Contact Caroline Ivey, Cultural Services Branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 
 
 
PROJECT GRANT DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 
 
Funding is intended to support expenses for projects occurring between March 2015 and December 
2015.  For projects occurring prior to March 2015 or in 2016, please contact Cultural Services staff. 
 
 
Note that these grants have a project focus – organizations may also be eligible to apply for an Arts, Culture & 
Heritage Operating Grant in the same year through a separate application process. Eligibility criteria and forms 
are available at kelowna.ca/culture or by contacting Cultural Services. 
 
 
 
 
  

251



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  3 of 8  
 

Definitions 
 
Project – a special initiative which may be one-time, and may include: 

 New or unconventional collaboration between/across genres, disciplines or sectors; 
 Creation of new work or materials;  
 Emphasis on new or emerging technologies, media, techniques and practices. 

 
Organizational Development Project – (only for organizations eligible for or receiving Operating 
support from City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch) 

 An activity or initiative to develop the organization’s capacity and sustainability through 
improved governance, planning, training, fund development, audience development or program 
review. Examples: expenses for participation in reputable programs for Board, volunteer or 
management development, consulting fees (for advising, research and/or development of a 
strategic, fundraising, marketing or business plan). See Eligible Uses for Funding on pages 5/6 
for more detail. 

 
Festival – an organized event which occurs over more than one day, incorporates an intensive level of 
planned activity into those days and demonstrates established or potential audience support from a 
broad range of the community. Festivals must prominently feature art, culture and/or heritage 
content. 
 
Event – an organized performance, gathering, activity or cluster of activities which occurs on a single 
day. Events must prominently feature art, culture and/or heritage content. 
 
 
 
Art – includes all genres within the following disciplines (list is not exhaustive and two or more genres 
or disciplines may be combined): 

 Performance (music/dance/theatre/spoken word/improvisation) 
 Visual (two and three dimensional/performance/fine or artisanal craft/site specific or 

temporary installation) 
 Literary (poetry/prose) 
 Media/new media (film/video/still photography) 
 Design (fashion/graphic/industrial/interior) 

 
Culture & Heritage – broadly conceived to include both tangible and intangible characteristics of the 
following elements, with activities and expression which explore, interpret and celebrate: 

 Human diversity including First Nations/ethnicity/different abilities and orientations/gender 
and age 

 Human and natural history 
 Ecology & environment (as themes for artistic practice or historical interpretation) 
 Heritage buildings, sites (including neighbourhoods, gardens, views), collections, archives, 

documentation, interpretation 
 Storytelling, narratives, traditions and values, artisanal methods 

 
 
  

252



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  4 of 8  
 

Eligibility 
 
In order to be eligible for Project Grants, all festivals, events and projects* as defined above must: 
 

 Be open and/or accessible to the public, and reach beyond the organization’s members and 
artists to the broader community; 

 Offer a unique experience not duplicated by other ongoing organizations and their activities; 
 Offer a unique experience not typically provided through the applicant’s existing 

programming; 
 Be a one-time, new initiative or unique collaboration, or if existing, demonstrate expansion and 

growth (e.g. a trend of increase in audience, participation and/or activity); 
 Be supported by budgets which are distinct from regular operating budgets of the lead 

organization; 
 Prominently feature art, cultural or heritage content; and 
 Demonstrate alignment with the following City of Kelowna goals and values: 

 
GOALS VALUES REFERENCE 

 Increasing cultural vitality and 
participation 

 Conveying Kelowna’s history 
 Animating urban centres 
 Providing arts and culture 

opportunities for underserved 
populations 

 Building cultural leadership 
and volunteerism 

 Welcoming new citizens and 
newcomers 

 Accessibility, diversity and inclusion 
 Accountability and fiscal responsibility 
 Innovation 
 Optimizing value 
 Partnerships and collaboration 
 Respect for artists: 

 Fair compensation for artists’ time 
and work 

 Recognition of the artist during and 
after the project 

 Engagement of the artist in planning 
for use of the work and any other 
intellectual property associated with 
the project 

Cultural Plan (see 
Section 5.1 Vision, 5.2 
Guiding Principles and 
Goals 4, 5 and 6) 
 
Printed excerpts of the 
Cultural Plan are 
available from City 
staff. 

 
*For Organization Development Projects – see additional criteria on page 5. 

 
 
Applicant Criteria: 
 

 Be incorporated and in good standing as a British Columbia non-profit society. Charitable status 
is not required. Organizations and commercial enterprises without non-profit status can be 
involved as supporters, collaborators and partners but cannot be a primary applicant. If the 
project involves a collaboration of several organizations, one eligible non-profit organization 
must be designated as the primary applicant and project lead; 

 Be active as an incorporated non-profit society for at least one full year prior to the application 
deadline; 

 Be an independent organization with a clear mandate which authorizes the activities and 
initiatives included in the application. Except for Organization Development Projects, 
applicants do not need to have a primary mandate relating to arts, culture or heritage; 

 Be directed by recognized professionals and/or experienced volunteers; 
 Carry out the majority of their work (e.g. events, services, programs, administrative activity, 

membership) in the City of Kelowna; 
 Demonstrate an inclusive, diverse and welcoming approach in their operations and activities; 
 Be fiscally responsible (e.g. diversified revenue base, annual budgeting process, proper 

financial records and reports, support from an accredited bookkeeper/financial advisor); and 
 Have a sound governance model which provides for staff/volunteer/board recruitment and 

development, planning, committees and partnerships. 
 

253



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  5 of 8  
 

Festival/Event/Project Criteria: 
 

 Evidence of community need 
 Evidence of community support (levels of commitment from volunteers, donors, partners)  

o Provide letters of support with the application 
o Do not include Letters of support from the Mayor, Kelowna City Councillors and City 

staff 
 Evidence of financial need and ability to fund from other sources at least 50% of the project 

costs.  Project grants are limited to a maximum of $10,000 and cannot exceed 50% of the total 
project costs. Applicants must self-fund or seek other sources of funding for at least 50% of the 
total project costs. 

 Uniqueness of project (not duplicated by any other initiative or organization) 
 Innovation of project (for example original new work, new approaches, new collaborations) 
 Inclusive, accessible, diverse and welcoming approach to a broad audience within the 

community 
 A viable business plan which outlines clear, measurable objectives, actions and outcomes, 

including budgets and potential economic impact 
 Evidence of responsible and experienced project leadership and management (personnel, 

planning, records and controls) 
 If an existing initiative, evidence of a growth trend in audience, participation and/or activity 
 Potential to attract a non-resident audience (from the Okanagan region or beyond) 
 Sensitivity to and mitigation of any environmental impacts arising from the initiative 
 Festival/Event/Project must be complete by December 2015. 

Organization Development Project Eligibility and Criteria: 

In addition to the other criteria above, applicants must: 
 Be a recipient, in the 24 months preceding the application deadline, of operating support from 

the City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch; 
 Provide both a realistic project budget, and the applicant organization’s 2015 Operating 

Budget; 
 Demonstrate in their application a good understanding of the organization’s stage in its life 

cycle*, a feasible project workplan, and a specific description of project outcomes and 
deliverables. Outcomes and deliverables must directly relate to measurable improvements in 
the organization’s governance, administration, or community engagement. 

 Identification of qualified personnel who will lead the project, or in the alternative, a plan for 
selection of qualified personnel. 
 

*This information can come from a thoughtful SWOT (strengths/weaknesses/opportunities/threats) 
analysis, or refer to the Capacity Lifecycles Description chart from the BC Arts Council website. 

Eligible Uses for Funding 
 

Project grants are intended to be used for: Project grants are NOT TO BE USED FOR: 
 Venue rental and other venue related costs (tents, 

furniture, audio/visual/lighting and other 
equipment, technical/trade services); 

 Material costs relating to design, 
production/fabrication and installation of new or 
original works, structures, sets or costumes 
relating to the project; 

 Payment of fees and expenses for participating 
artists/creators/performers/presenters; 

 Design, production and distribution of non-
commercial (no advertising content) information 

 

 Initiatives which already receive 
financial or in kind support from 
other City of Kelowna sources for the 
same purpose 

 Ongoing operating or administration 
expenses 

 Research or feasibility studies except 
as noted herein 

 Costs of purchased advertising 
 Décor, food and beverage costs 
 Costs relating to fundraising 

254



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  6 of 8  
 

materials relating to arts, culture or heritage. 
Materials can be in printed or other media and 
must be suitable and available at no charge for a 
public audience (for example, brochures, 
interpretive signage, maps and video).  Websites, 
promotional items (ads, posters, handbills) and 
directional signage are excluded; 

 Fees for licenses, permits, insurance and security; 
 Volunteer recruitment, training and support; 
 Research or feasibility studies to a maximum of 

$1500, on the condition that completed studies 
are released to the City of Kelowna on an 
unrestricted basis; and 

 For Organization Development Projects: tuition 
or registration fees (travel expenses are ineligible) 
for participation in reputable programs for Board, 
volunteer or management development, fees and 
expenses for qualified consultants.  

 
Note: In order to meet the matching requirements, 
eligible expenses can also be paid from other sources 
through cash and in kind contributions. 
 

(projects are not eligible if activities 
and/or costs are primarily aimed at 
fundraising) 

 Retroactive funding for events which 
have already occurred 

 Construction, renovation, property 
purchase or major equipment 
purchases 

 Deficit reduction 
 Supporting events or activities which 

are politically partisan or primarily 
focused on sports, commercial 
activity (tradeshow, conferences), 
competition, education, religion, 
healthcare, social service, and/or 
seek to attract a special interest 
audience. 

 For Organization Development 
Projects: wages or salary for staff 
employed by an applicant, 
compensation to any member of a 
Board of Directors 

 
Important Note re: Limitation of Eligibility 
 
Depending on fulfillment of all criteria, including financial need, recipients of Project Grants may re-
apply for funding of the same initiative in each of two consecutive years, but after three consecutive 
years of funding are no longer eligible to apply for support of the same initiative. This ensures that the 
group of organizations and initiatives benefiting from these grants is refreshed on an ongoing basis. 
 
Applications for Both Operating & Project Grants 
 
Some organizations receiving Project Grants may also be eligible for Arts, Culture & Heritage Operating 
Grants within the same calendar year. A separate application is required. 
 
Organizations which benefit from City of Kelowna Cultural Facility Grants or Professional Arts Grants 
are each eligible to apply for one Project Grant per calendar year. Their applications will be 
adjudicated on the same criteria as other applicants. 
 
Note: any project grant applicant which also receives operating funding from the City of Kelowna 
must demonstrate that the proposed project is not typically part of its regular programs and 
services. See eligibility section on page 4. 
 
Evaluation 
 
All grants will be adjudicated by a panel of professional qualified peer and community representatives 
convened by an arm’s length contracted agency in consultation with City of Kelowna staff. 
 
Panelists are invited to participate based on their experience, merit and familiarity with granting 
processes and the local arts, culture and heritage community. To the extent possible, the panel will 
reflect the diversity of the community at large and the range of disciplines and activities reflected in 
the list of applicants. 
 
Panelists who have a real or perceived conflict of interest regarding any application will be required to 
declare that such a conflict exists and will not participate in decisions relating to that application. 

255



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  7 of 8  
 

 
Cultural Services staff will be present as observers and facilitators during the adjudication process, but 
will not be active participants. 
 
The adjudication panel will, within 60 days of the application deadline, provide its recommendations 
to the contracted agency. 
 
The recommendations of the adjudication panel are final. 
 
Notification  
 
Grant applicants will receive written notification of evaluation results by early February, 2015. 
 
Funds will be disbursed as soon as possible after presentation to Council. The objective is to have all 
funds disbursed by the end of February 2015. 
 
Grants are awarded on an annual basis, based on the merits of the application and the program 
criteria. Applicants must re-apply each year. Continued funding is not guaranteed.   
 
Obtaining a Project Grant is a competitive process and demand exceeds available resources. Even if 
eligibility requirements are met, there is no guarantee of support. 
 
All applicants are encouraged to meet with Cultural Services staff to obtain feedback about their 
application from the evaluation panel. 
 
Recognizing the City of Kelowna’s Support 
 
Grant recipients must acknowledge the financial assistance of the City of Kelowna on all 
communications and promotional materials relating to the festival/event/project (such as 
programmes, brochures, posters, advertisements, websites, news releases and signs). 
 
Acknowledgement is provided by using the City of Kelowna logo in accordance with prescribed 
standards. 
 
City of Kelowna logo files and usage standards will be provided to successful applicants. Failure to 
acknowledge the City’s support may result in the inability of an organization to obtain grant support in 
future years. 
 
Reporting 
 
Successful applicants will provide a final report within 60 days of completion of the project, in a 
prescribed format, to the City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch. Receipt of these reports is a pre-
condition for consideration of an organization’s future grant applications in any category and will be 
part of the review panel resources in future grant application reviews. 
 
 
A grant recipient seeking to make significant changes to its initiatives as outlined in an application 
should consult with Cultural Services staff prior to implementation. If the changes result in the 
cancellation or a significant delay in the completion of the initiative, the applicant will, after 
consultation with staff, be required to return to the City all Project Grant funds paid for that year. 
 
  

 

256



2015 City of Kelowna Project Grant Guidelines  8 of 8  
 

Submitting Applications - Deadline: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 

 In order to ensure that applicants and projects are eligible before time is spent filling in the 
forms, project application forms are NOT available on line and must be obtained from staff. 

 Contact Caroline Ivey, Cultural Services Branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 
  Information should be typewritten – handwritten forms will not be accepted. 
 Cultural Services staff are available to review your application prior to submission. Applications 

submitted for review must be received prior to November 21, 2014. 
 Applications which are late or incomplete are ineligible for adjudication. 
 Answer all questions on the form concisely, and include all of the requested supporting 

materials – use the provided checklist to ensure that your application is complete. 
 Include sketches, photographs and other visual or audio materials if they will help to 

describe/define your project.  
 Support materials are welcome on the understanding that they will not be returned or retained. 
 Information about an applicant’s operations is collected for the purpose of adjudicating the 

application and for administrative purposes. It is collected under the authority of the Local 
Government Act, RSBC 1996, c323, Community Charter, SBC 2003, c26 and the Freedom of 
Information and Protection of Privacy Act, RSBC 1996 c165.  Questions about the collection of 
this information are to be directed to Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager, at 
skochan@kelowna.ca, or 250-469-8935. 

 Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy on disc, along with 
supporting materials by the deadline to: 

 
 

Project Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 

 

257



 

2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 1 of 14  
 

COMMUNITY PUBLIC ART 
GUIDELINES 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
2015 Community Public Art Grants 
GUIDELINES 
APPLICATION DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 
 
 
 
 Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy (PDF or Word Document) on CDRom or  
USB flash drive, along with supporting materials by the deadline to: 
 

Community Public Art Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office* 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2  

 
   *Trouble finding us? Cultural Services is located at the corner of Mountain Avenue and Glenmore Drive, behind the Mac’s store. 

 

 

APPENDIX C to Report from Cultural Services 
Manager Sept. 29, 2014 

258



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 2 of 14  
 

2015 Community Public Art Grants 

 
The City of Kelowna provides annual grant funding for community organizations to support projects which engage local artists with 
Kelowna residents in the collaborative creation of temporary or permanent works of art. 
 
The end product need not be a permanent work of art but should be publicly accessible and leave a legacy for the general public. 
 
Projects should demonstrate the support of the local community and document significant participation by a sizable number of 
people. 
 
In 2015, a total of $15,000 is available, with a maximum grant amount of $10,000. 
 
All community public art grants require a non-municipal match of at least 1 to 1. These matching funds may be all cash or a 
combination of cash and in kind contributions. 
 
These guidelines provide information about program objectives, eligibility, and adjudication of applications. 
 
A completed application form must be submitted by the application deadline. The form, with helpful step-by-step instructions, is 
available on-line or from City staff (see below). 
 
Anyone considering making an application is encouraged to: 
 

 Attend an information workshop. Workshops for 2014 grants are scheduled for October 8 and 9, 2014; and 
 Contact Caroline Ivey, Cultural Services Branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 

 
 

COMMUNITY PUBLIC ART GRANT APPLICATION DEADLINE: Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 
 
 
 
  

259



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 3 of 14  
 

1. What is Community Public Art? 
 
Community public art is a collaborative, collective creative process between a practicing artist and a community which results in a 
work of public art. It is as much about process as it is about the artistic product or outcome. It is a way for the community to 
creatively address and express its needs and aspirations. (Inspired by the Ontario Arts Council, Community Arts Workbook, 1998, p.7) 
 
Some of the identifying characteristics of Community Public Art are: 

 It addresses community concerns and/or reflects community identity; 
 It provides a participatory creative experience which is accessible to a broad range of people; and 
 It is a way for artists to apply their skills in community development and building cultural and social sustainability. 

 
Community public art can employ a range of media. Permanent installations often include mosaic, textile or other individual 
elements which are then assembled into a larger work. Murals, banners and painted panels have been popular in past years. The 
program welcomes artists from any discipline, and submissions involving performance, photography and digital media are 
encouraged. 
 
Permanent projects may be located on public or private property, and must be publicly accessible. Temporary projects must be 
documented in a format that can be shared in a public setting and retained as a publicly accessible permanent record. 
 
Since the launch of the City of Kelowna’s Community Public Art program in 2007, many projects have been completed. Details about 
these projects are provided on the City’s website. 
 
Other communities in British Columbia also offer Community Public Art programs. Some good examples can be found on the North 
Vancouver Arts Office website. 
 
Follow these links to see some interesting examples of Community Public Art projects around the world: 
http://candychang.com/before-i-die-in-nola/ 
http://www.kids-with-cameras.org/mission/ 
http://www.richmond.ca/culture/publicart/collection/PublicArt.aspx?ID=483 
 

2. Objectives for Community Public Art 
 
The objectives for the City of Kelowna Community Public Art Program are: 

 Encourage the creation of publicly accessible, permanent or temporary artworks that have artistic merit and community 
benefit; 

 Foster community pride, identity and cohesion through a collaborative artistic endeavor and the creation of artwork legacies; 
 Support local leadership in community art projects while respecting the role of artists and other design professionals; 
 Reflect the diversity, needs and ambitions of the larger community. 

 

260



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 4 of 14  
 

3. How Community Public Art links to broader civic goals and values 
 
Organizations and projects seeking support from this program must demonstrate alignment with the following City of Kelowna goals 
and values: 
 

GOALS VALUES REFERENCE 
 Increasing cultural vitality and 

participation 
 Conveying Kelowna’s history 
 Animating urban centres 
 Providing arts and culture 

opportunities for underserved 
populations 

 Building cultural leadership 
and volunteerism 

 Welcoming new citizens and 
newcomers 

 Accessibility, diversity and inclusion 
 Accountability and fiscal responsibility 
 Innovation 
 Optimizing value 
 Partnerships and collaboration 
 Respect for artists: 

 Fair compensation for artists’ time 
and work 

 Recognition of the artist during and 
after the project 

 Engagement of the artist in planning 
for use of the work and any other 
intellectual property associated with 
the project 

Cultural Plan (see Section 5.1 Vision, 5.2 
Guiding Principles and Goals 4, 5 and 6) 
 
Printed excerpts of the Cultural Plan are 
available from City staff. 

 

4. Who can apply 
 
Individuals, groups or agencies employed by or associated with the City of Kelowna are not eligible to apply. 
 
Private businesses, individual local artists and unincorporated groups are not eligible as a lead applicant but are encouraged to work 
on a project in partnership with a registered non-profit society which can demonstrate that it: 
 
 Is involved in, and supportive of the project and has agreed to be a sponsoring organization; 
 Is incorporated and in good standing as a British Columbia non-profit society. Charitable status and an arts-related mandate is not 

required; 
 Has the legal authority to sign a Memorandum of Understanding with the City of Kelowna and obtain general liability insurance; 
 Has been active as an incorporated non-profit society for at least one full year prior to the application deadline; 
 Carries out the majority of its activities in the City of Kelowna; 
 Has an inclusive, diverse and welcoming approach in its operations and activities; and 
 Has financial management systems in place (e.g. a bank account, proper financial records, oversight by skilled volunteers or 

board members). 
  

261



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 5 of 14  
 

5. How much funding is available 
 
For 2015, a total of $15,000 is available in the Community Public Art Program. 
 
The maximum amount for any individual application is $10,000. 
 
Most grants in the past have been in the $5,000 range. 
 
All grants require a non-municipal match of at least 1 to 1. These matching funds may be all cash or a combination of cash and in 
kind contributions. You may include matching funds that are proposed but not yet committed at the time of the application 
deadline. 
 
Applicants are encouraged to explore additional funding options such as: 
 

 Embrace BC (www.embracebc.ca) 
 BC Arts Council (www.bcartscouncil.ca) 
 Central Okanagan Foundation (www.centralokanaganfoundation.org) 
 Vancouver Foundation (www.vancouverfoundation.ca)  
 

6. How and when can the funding used 
 

Eligible uses for Community Public Art funding*: This funding cannot be used for: 
 Artist fees (may include fee/hour plus expenses) 
 Services (various trades) 
 Materials and supplies (consumables such as paint, canvas, glue etc) 
 Costs of setting up a safe venue for art production (insurance, tents, 

rental fees, permits) 
 Documentation (videographer, photographer, editing, printing) 
 Coordination/project management (someone to help with logistics and 

publicity) 
 Volunteers and participants (food, beverage, thank you event) 
 
 
 
*Note: In order to meet the matching requirements, these expenses can 
also be paid from other sources through cash and in kind contributions. 
 

 Retroactive funding for projects already in progress 
or completed; 

 Projects which already receive financial or in-kind 
support from the City of Kelowna (land, money or 
other support) 

 Activities primarily aimed at fund-raising; 
 Activities or products with a political, religious or 

commercial purpose; 
 Capital improvements; 
 Purchase of property, equipment or collections; 
 Projects which do not have 

o broad-based community participation; 
o the involvement of a local artist; and  
o a publicly accessible legacy; 

 Reduction or elimination of existing organizational 
deficits or interest on same; or 

262



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 6 of 14  
 

 Directly or indirectly acquiring academic courses or 
credits. 

 Projects on sites outside the City of Kelowna 
boundaries. 

 
Projects must be completed within the calendar year of the grant award, unless otherwise agreed. 
 
Subject to approval by the City of Kelowna, funding may be used to support project activities over a period of more than one year, 
as long as the proposed start and end dates are disclosed in the application. 
 

 
 

7. Who does what in a typical Community Public Art project 
 
Responsibilities of the sponsoring organization: 

 Receive and manage the City of Kelowna grant funding; 
 Sign a Memorandum of Understanding with the City of Kelowna. A sample Memorandum is included in these guidelines. The 

Memorandum includes provisions governing scheduling and timelines, risk management, progress reporting, payments, 
ownership of the artwork and communications. Successful applicants will provide reports to Cultural Services staff during the 
project period; 

 Contribute cash and/or in-kind resources; 
 Ensure that funds are in place to cover all costs and that the project will run smoothly; 
 Identify the artist and work with the artist to create and implement a plan to engage the organization’s members and the 

broader community in the creation of a work of public art; 
 Provide help and administrative support for the artist; 
 Ensure that the artist is fairly compensated and that fees are paid on time and at the agreed upon level; and 
 Carry out insurance, financial, reporting and other responsibilities related to the grant. 

 
Responsibilities of the artist(s): 

 Participate in the planning and creative process with the sponsoring organization and the community; 
 Provide estimates of the costs for labour and materials for each stage of the project; 
 Consider and advise on issues of public safety, durability, maintenance and operating costs in the design and delivery of the 

project; 
 Provide materials and information as requested for documentation of work in progress and the completed work; 
 Work with the sponsoring organization to complete the project and provide progress reports as requested; and 
 Participate in unveiling/dedication events for the project as requested. 

  

263



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 7 of 14  
 

8. Things to consider in planning a project 

 

Site selection

do you have 
permission from the 
property owner?

is the site 
meaningful to the 

community?

is the site publicly 
accessible?

Project 
management

how will a local 
artist or design 
professional be 

involved?

who will lead the 
project and make 
sure it gets done on 
time and on budget?

have you read the 
Memorandum of 
Understanding?

how will you ensure 
the safety of 

everyone involved?

Community 
involvement

how will you get 
people involved?

how many people 
can participate?

how will you reach 
out to a diverse 
range of people?

what's in it for 
them? what will 
make it a special 
experience?

Project design

is the project 
unique? does it have 

artistic merit?

will the artwork 
leave a lasting 
legacy for the 
community?

how will the artwork 
be shared with  the 

community?

is the artwork 
durable and easy to 

maintain?

264



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 8 of 14  
 

 
9. How to apply 

 
 
 
 

 

  

Step 1
•Attend the information workshop provided by the City of Kelowna

Step 2
• Review the program guidelines and application form ‐ contact Cultural Services staff for more information

Step  3
•Identify which artist and non‐profit  organization are going to be involved

Step 4
•As a group, develop the project concept and identify community support

Step 5
•If applicable, research the site and any permissions or permits needed

Step 6
•Prepare a draft application and make an appointment with Cultural Services staff to review it in advance of the deadline

Step 7
•Finalize your application, ensuring that it is complete, and submit it prior to the deadline

265



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 9 of 14  
 

 
10. How applications are evaluated 

 
All grants will be adjudicated by a panel of qualified community representatives in consultation with City of Kelowna staff. 
 
Panelists who have a real or perceived conflict of interest regarding any application will be required to declare that such a conflict 
exists and will not participate in decisions relating to that application. 
 
The adjudication panel will, within 60 days of the application deadline, provide its recommendations to Cultural Services staff, who 
in turn will present the recommendations to Kelowna City Council. 
 
Subject to Council approval, the recommendations of the adjudication panel are final. 
 
Applications are evaluated based on the requirements in these Guidelines as follows: 

 Does the proposed project meet the objectives of the Community Public Art Program? (Section 2) 
 Does the application demonstrate alignment with City of Kelowna goals and values? (Section 3) 
 Is the applicant eligible? (Section 4) 
 Does the project budget meet the matching requirements? (Section 5) 
 Are the proposed uses of the funding consistent with Section 6 of the Guidelines? 
 Has the applicant provided adequate information about how all roles and responsibilities will be fulfilled (Section 7) and how 

the project will be designed and delivered? (Section 8) 
 Has the applicant made use of the information resources provided by the City including documents, contact with staff and 

workshops? (Section 9) 
 

Obtaining a grant from the Community Public Art Program is a competitive process. Demand exceeds available resources. Even if 
eligibility requirements are met, there is no guarantee of support. 
 

11. Notification about grant awards 
 
Grant applicants will receive written notification of evaluation results in February, 2015. 
 
Funds will be disbursed in phases in accordance with the Memorandum of Understanding. 
 
All applicants are encouraged to meet with Cultural Services staff to obtain feedback about their application from the evaluation 
panel. 

 
12. Recognizing the City of Kelowna’s support 

 
Grant recipients must acknowledge the financial assistance of the City of Kelowna on all communications and promotional materials 
relating to the project (such as brochures, posters, advertisements, websites, news releases and signs). 
 

266



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 10 of 14  
 

Acknowledgement is provided by using the City of Kelowna logo in accordance with prescribed standards. 
 
City of Kelowna logo files and usage standards will be provided to successful applicants. Failure to acknowledge the City’s support 
may result in the inability of an organization to obtain grant support in future years. 
 
Pursuant to the Memorandum of Understanding, any communication with the public or media about the project should be approved 
by the City. 
 

13. Reporting 
 
Successful applicants will provide progress and final reports in a prescribed format to the City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch. 
Receipt of these reports is a pre-condition for consideration of an organization’s future grant applications to the City of Kelowna in 
any category. 
 
A grant recipient seeking to make significant changes to its project, as outlined in an application, should consult with Cultural 
Services staff prior to implementation. 
 

14. Submitting Applications – DEADLINE Friday, November 28, 2014 at 3:00 p.m. PST 
 

 The application form is available in Word and fillable PDF formats online at kelowna.ca/culture, or by contacting Caroline 
Ivey, Cultural Services Branch, civey@kelowna.ca, phone 250-469-8474. 

 Information should be typewritten – handwritten forms will not be accepted. 
 Cultural Services staff are available to review your application prior to submission. Staff review is available only until 

November 21, 2014. 
 Applications which are late or incomplete are ineligible and will not be evaluated. 
 Answer all questions on the form concisely, and include all of the requested supporting materials – use the checklist to ensure 

that your application is complete. 
 Sketches, photographs and other visual or audio materials that describe your project are helpful for the adjudication panel. 
 Information about an applicant’s operations is collected for the purpose of adjudicating the application and for administrative 

purposes. It is collected under the authority of the Local Government Act, RSBC 1996, c323, Community Charter, SBC 2003, 
c26 and the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, RSBC 1996 c165. Questions about the collection of this 
information are to be directed to Sandra Kochan, Cultural Services Manager at skochan@kelowna.ca,  or 250-469-8935. 

 Mail or deliver completed and signed application form and a digital copy (PDF or Word document) on CDRom or USB flash 
drive, along with supporting materials by the deadline to: 

 
Community Public Art Grants 
City of Kelowna Cultural Services Branch 
Glenmore Office 
#105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive 
Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 

  

267



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 11 of 14  
 

Memorandum of Understanding                                                          

Community Public Art Program 
 
 
This agreement made the           day of                            201x 
 
Between: 

CITY OF KELOWNA 
a municipal corporation having its offices at 1435 Water Street,  
Kelowna, British Columbia V1Y 1J4 

 
  (the City) 
 
And:  name and address of sponsoring organization 
 

(the Sponsor) 
 

Whereas: 
 

A. The City has established a Community Public Art Program and requested proposals for Community Public Art projects for 
201x; 

 
B. An evaluation panel has recommended the proposal (the Proposal) submitted by the Sponsor for name of project: (the 

Project), as a Community Public Art Project for 201x; and 
 

C. City Council has approved the recommendation of the evaluation panel to fund the Project from the Community Public Art 
Program; 

 
Therefore: 

The Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) set out herein between the City and the Sponsor stipulates the terms of the Project 
including responsibilities of the respective parties, identification of deliverables, and a timeline for completion of principal tasks.  
 
 

268



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 12 of 14  
 

This MOU can be amended at any time by written agreement of the City and the Sponsor. 
 
name of sponsoring organization will: 

a) provide documentation to the City verifying that the Sponsor is a registered British Columbia Society in good financial 
standing and that it has the authority, by resolution of its directors to enter into this agreement; 

b) demonstrate proof of insurance, satisfactory to the City, prior to commencing work on the Project; 

c) abide by all applicable by-laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations of any governmental agency having jurisdiction over the 
Project or the site; 

d) not assign or transfer any interest in this agreement or the Project without the prior written consent of the City; 

e) indemnify and hold harmless the City and its personnel from all actions, proceedings, losses, expenses, and costs arising out 
of, or in any way connected with the Sponsor’s use of and presence on the site, the construction of the Project, failure by the 
Artist and/or Sponsor to pay for labour and materials, contamination of the site resulting from the Project, breach or default 
by the Artist and/or Sponsor under this agreement, or any wrongful act, omission, or negligence of the Artist and/or Sponsor; 

f) provide verification that matching support in the amount of $xxx has been applied to the Project; 

g) invoice the City for all funds payable by the City pursuant to this agreement to a maximum of $xxx; 

h) pay on a timely basis, the Artist, all suppliers, and any other providers of services and/or materials associated with the 
Project; 

i) manage the Project and the work of the Artist to ensure that the timelines as outlined in Appendix A are met; 

j) provide interim and final reports and any other documentation to the City as set out in Appendix A and to otherwise 
communicate on a timely basis with the City regarding the progress of the Project; 

k) facilitate access to the Project site or other locations where Project work is being done, for City staff; and 

l) create original artworks and not infringe upon any copyright. 
 
The City will: 

a) upon receipt of an invoice and satisfactory progress reports, pay to the Sponsor the amounts specified in Appendix A provided 
that there is full compliance with all of the other terms of this agreement; 

b) at its expense, prepare, and install at the site a plaque or other means of identifying the Artist, the Sponsor, the title of the 
artwork, the year of completion, and any other pertinent project-related information. 

 
The parties also agree that: 

a) all reports will be in digital format. Additionally, if any report is deemed incomplete by the City, it will not be accepted by 
the City, and the City will notify the Sponsor immediately of the changes required to complete the report; 

269



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 13 of 14  
 

b) any communication by the Sponsor with the public, including any media organization, with regard to the Project must have 
approval of the City; 

c) the City will have the right to alter, remove, or relocate the completed artwork; 

d) the City will maintain the completed artwork in good repair and may consult with the Artist, Sponsor, and/or a professional 
conservator in making its decisions regarding maintenance; 

e) the Artist and the Sponsor are independent contractors and are not employees or agents of the City and as such are not 
entitled to employment-related benefits from the City; 

f) if the Sponsor violates or fails to comply with any provisions of this agreement, the City may give the Sponsor notice of 
default. If the default is not rectified to the City’s satisfaction within the time specified in the City’s notice, the City may, by 
giving one week’s notice, terminate the Artist’s and Sponsor’s rights under this agreement. The notice of termination may 
require removal of the Project and restoration of the site at the Sponsor’s expense, or alternatively, the transfer and delivery 
of the artwork or work in progress to the City. 

g) upon completion or termination of the Project, ownership of the artwork will be transferred to the City and the Sponsor will 
sign a transfer document to this effect; 

h) copyright in the completed work will be held by the City; and 

i) All communication regarding the Project will be through: 

 title of sponsoring organization’s contact 

 Cultural Services Branch, City of Kelowna, #105 – 1014 Glenmore Drive, Kelowna, BC V1Y 4P2 
 

The signatures below confirm that both parties understand and agree to the terms set out herein. 

ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED: 

name of sponsoring organization: 
 
Date: 

  
Authorized Signatory: 

 

   
Print name: 

 

By the City of Kelowna: 
 
 
Date: 

  
Authorized Signatory: 

 

   
Print name: 

 

270



2015 City of Kelowna Community Public Art Grant Guidelines 14 of 14  
 

APPENDIX A 
TIMELINES AND DELIVERABLES 
 
PHASE 1: Upon execution of this agreement: 

amount to be paid by the City to the Sponsor upon receipt from the Sponsor of: 

a) verification that matching support in the form of cash and/or in-kind donations is in place; 

b) proof of insurance; 

c) proof of incorporation as a Society; 

d) a copy of the Sponsor’s most recent Society Act Form 11 Annual Report or other evidence that the Sponsor is in good financial 
standing; and 

e) a copy of a resolution from the Sponsor authorizing execution of this agreement. 
 
PHASE 2:  

By date, the Sponsor will provide to the City a progress report including: 

a) a budget including expenditures to date, cash and in-kind donations received, as well as projected expenditures, and cash 
and in-kind donations; 

b) a summary of public participation to date, including the number of people involved, and a description of tasks completed by 
participants including photographic documentation. 

c) an invoice for amount. 
 
Upon receipt and acceptance of the progress report, the City will pay the Sponsor $amount.  
 
PHASE 3:  

By date, the Sponsor will complete the project and provide to the City a final progress report including: 

a) photographic documentation in digital format of the completed artworks; 

b) a final financial report indicating all revenues and in-kind donations, and expenditures; 

c) a summary outlining how the outcome has met the Project objectives outlined in the proposal; and 
 

d) a final invoice for amount . 
 

 

271



APPENDIX D 
REPORT FROM THE CULTURAL SERVICES MANAGER SEPTEMBER 29, 2014 

 

 

GRANT SUMMARY 

YEAR DETAILS ARTS, CULTURE & HERITAGE GRANTS COMMUNITY 
PUBLIC ART GRANTS 

 OPERATING PROJECT  
2010 $ available $80,000 $70,000 $10,000 
 # of applications 15 28 3 
 $ requested $133,200 $292,274 $16,000 
 # of grant awards 12 15 2 
 $ total awards $77,500 $67,500 $6,500 
     
2011 $ available $110,000 $70,000 $10,000 
 # of applications 21 22 2 
 $ requested $177,700 $134,825 $14,500 
 # of grant awards 16 12 2 
 $ total awards $95,200 $70,000 $10,000 
     
2012 $ available $110,000 $70,000 $15,000 
 # of applications 20 24 2 
 $ requested $186,370 $141,488 $17,500 
 # of grant awards 18 17 2 
 $ total awards $110,000 $70,000 $15,000 
     
2013 $ available $111,500 $65,000 $15,000 
 # of applications 26 17 3 
 $ requested $196,900 $100,457 $16,200 
 # of grant awards 17 13 3 
 $ total awards $111,500 $65,000 $8,700 
     
2014 $ available $110,000 $65,000 $15,000 
 # of applications 17 16 3 
 $ requested $133,800 $107,407 $16,200 
 # of grant awards 15 10 1 
 $ total awards $102,300 $51,550 $1,900 

272



Appendix E to Report from Cultural Services Manager 
September 29, 2014

273



274



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
9/19/2014 
 

File: 
 

1840-20 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

B. Davidson, Park Planner, Infrastructure Planning 

Subject: 
 

Gillard Mountain Biking  Trail Network 

  

 

Recommendation: 
 
That Council receives for information, the report from the Park Planner dated September 19, 
2014 with respect to the Gillard Mountain Biking Trail network. 
 
AND THAT the Mayor is authorized to send a letter to the Provincial Minister of Forests, Lands 
and Natural Resource Operations in support of the Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan’s 
Section 57 Application to legalize the Gillard Mountain Biking Trail network. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To provide the Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan with a letter of support for their 
Section 57 Application to legalize the Gillard Mountain Biking Trail network. 
 
Background: 
 
Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan (MTBco) have applied for legalization of the Gillard 

Mountain Biking Trail Network under section 57 of the Forest Range and Practices Act, from 

the Provincial Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations (MFLRNO).  In 

support of this application MTBco has requested a letter from the City as a local government 

reference. 

The Gillard Trail Network is a popular mountain biking system located on crown land south of 

the Kelowna City limits below the Kettle Valley Railroad and between Myra-Bellevue and 

Okanagan Mountain Provincial Parks.  It has been a popular mountain biking destination for 

almost 20 years and is an international draw that has been featured in many biking movies. 

MTBco wishes to  achieve legal status for the Gillard Trail Network in order to protect the 

network from being dismantled and to allow the club to legally maintain, develop and 

275



promote the trail system for the benefit of the public including both local riders and tourists 

who mountain bike within the Central Okanagan. 

The City of Kelowna has worked closely with the Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan 

(MTBco) on several initiatives since the club’s inception in 2007: 

 MTBco provided valuable input on the Kelowna and Area Mountain Bike Strategy.  This 

strategy was a partnership between the City of Kelowna and the Regional District of 

the Central Okanagan and resulted in development of a vision and coordinated 

approach for future mountain biking facilities in the Central Okanagan.  It was 

approved by Kelowna City Council in 2009 as a guide for the development and 

management of mountain bike facilities within the City of Kelowna. 

 One of the outcomes recommended in the Mountain Bike Strategy was construction of 

a mountain bike skills park.  MTBco played a key role in the design and maintenance of 

the Mission Creek Mountain Bike Sills Park, the first skills park in the area. Phase 1 of 

the Skills Park opened in 2010. 

 This past year, MTBco provided input and direction in the development of a dedicated 

and sustainable mountain bike trail network within Knox Mountain Park, the City’s 

largest natural area park.  Club members have shared freely with City staff their 

expertise on both downhill and cross country trails and have worked with the 

contractor to fine tune alignments and trail features. 

 Most recently, MTBco has taken a lead role in organizing inaugural meetings of the 

Central Okanagan Trails Alliance (COTA) whose membership includes representatives 

from recognized trail stakeholder groups throughout the Okanagan Valley.  The goals 

of COTA include coordination of valley wide trail planning and funding initiatives, and 

improved communications between stakeholder groups. 

The Mountain Bikers of the Central Okanagan continue to be enthusiastic volunteer partners 

with the City of Kelowna on a variety of initiatives.  In addition, MTBco works closely with the 

Friends of the South Slopes and other trail advocate groups.  City staff look forward to 

maintaining a long standing relationship with this Club and recommend that Council supports 

MTBco in their Section 57 Application with a letter of support. 

 
Internal Circulation: 
Parks and Buildings Planning Manager 
Active Transportation Coordinator 
Director, Communications and Information Services 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 

276



Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by:  
 
B. Davidson, Park Planner 
 
 
Approved for inclusion:                 Director, Infrastructure Planning 
 
 
Attachments: 
 
Draft letter to Minister of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
Gillard Mountain Biking Area Location Map 
 
cc:  
Active Transportation Coordinator 
Director, Communications and Information Services 
 

  

277



City of Kelowna Boundary 

Gillard Forest Service Rd 

Gillard Mountain Biking Location Map 

Gillard Mountain 
Biking Area 

278



Report to Council 
 

Date: 
 

September 29, 2014 

Rim No. 
 

1140-50 

To:  
 

City Manager 
 

From: 
 

Johannes Säufferer, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

2014-09-29 - Council Report - Fortune Marketing Lease 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council approve the City entering into a five (5) year commercial lease with Fortune 
Marketing Inc., with the option to renew for an additional five (5) year term, in the form 
attached as Schedule A to the Report of the Manager, Property Management, dated 
September 29, 2014; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the agreement. 
 
Purpose:  
 
That Council approve a lease agreement with Fortune Marketing Inc. for a +/-874 sf 
commercial space in the Chapman Parkade. 
 
Background: 
 
The City-owned Chapman Parkade, located at 345 Lawrence Avenue, includes four 
commercial retail units (“CRU’s”), ranging in size from 874 square feet to 1,409 square feet 
(see Schedule B for a floor plan of the parkade).  Z-Décor, the tenant of 1615 Water Street, 
has indicated that they do not wish to renew their lease agreement upon the expiration of 
their tenancy October 31st of this year. 
 
Staff engaged the City’s Commercial Realtor, Colliers International, to market the unit for 
lease.  Based on the responses, Colliers recommended that staff move forward with the 
expression of interest from Fortune Marketing Inc. (“Fortune Marketing”), a real estate 
marketing organization.  Staff undertook due diligence on the potential tenant, reviewed the 
expression of interest terms and agreed with Colliers recommendation.   
 
The negotiated lease rate is supported by Colliers market research, by existing lease rates in 
the Chapman Parkade and by a Market Rent Estimate completed by Kent Macpherson (January 
2013), a summary of which is attached to this report as Schedule C.  The lease rate for 
Fortune Marketing’s occupancy begins at $15.00/s.f. in the first year and increases to 
$17.00/s.f. over the course of the five year term.  At the end of the 5 year term, an option 
for renewal exists with a lease rate that will be renegotiated at that time.  

279



 

 
 
 
It is Staff’s opinion that Fortune Marketing complements the existing tenant mix of food 
provider, yoga studio and retail outlet.  Background information related to Fortune Marketing 
as per their corporate website is attached as Schedule D to this report. 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Community Charter, Sec. 26 – Disposal of Municipal Property 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
Community Charter, Sec. 94 – Notice Requirements 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Director, Financial Services 
Manager, Parking Services 
Manager, Building Services 
Manager, Risk Management 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Existing Policy 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations 
Personnel Implications 
External Agency/Public Comments 
Communications Comments 
Alternate Recommendation 
 
 
Submitted by:   Johannes Säufferer, Manager, Property Management 
 
Approved for inclusion:   Derek Edstrom, Director, Real Estate & Building Services 
 
Attachments: Schedule A – Lease Agreement 
  Schedule B – Chapman Parkade Floor Plan 
  Schedule C – Kent Macpherson Market Rent Estimate Summary 
  Schedule D – Fortune Marketing Background Information 
 
cc:   G. Davidson, Director, Financial Services 
  D. Duncan, Manager, Parking Services 
  M. Johansen, Manager, Building Services 
  L. Kayfish, Manager, Risk Management 
 
 
 

280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



 

320



321



322



L E A S E  A G R E E M E N T  
1615 Water Street (Chapman Parkade) 

323



L O C AT I O N  

324



C H A P M A N  PA R K A D E  F L O O R  P L A N  

325



L E A S E  D E TA I L S  

Area: +/- 874 square feet 
Lease rate: $15.00-$17.00/sf 
Commencement Date: Dec 1, 2014 
Term of Lease: 5 years 
Renewals: 1 x 5 years 

326



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
September 29, 2014 
 

File: 
 

1140-45 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

Johannes Saufferer, Manager, Property Management 

Subject: 
 

NON-MARKET LEASE: KELOWNA OUTRIGGER CANOE CLUB ASSOCIATION 
(3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott Street) 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT, subject to the successful rezoning of the relevant City-owned lands, Council approve 
the City entering into a five (5) year Lease Agreement with the Kelowna Outrigger Canoe Club 
Association for the lease of 3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott Street, with the option to 
renew for two (2) additional two (2) year terms, in the form attached to the Report of the 
Manager, Property Management, dated September 29, 2014; 
  
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute the Lease Agreement.   
 
Purpose:  
 
To approve a lease of City-owned lands at 3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott Street (the 
“Subject Properties”, as shown in Schedule A) to the Kelowna Outrigger Canoe Club 
Association (the “Paddle Center”) for a term of 5 years with two 2-year renewal terms. 
 
Background: 
 
Recognizing the public benefit and service provided by the Paddle Center, the City of 
Kelowna and the Paddle Center entered into a three year License of Occupation over City 
lands at 3050 Abbott Street in July 2013, as supported by a Temporary Use Permit. 
 
The properties constituting the future Pandosy Waterfront park are currently in the midst of a 
rezoning process, with the land use undergoing a change from RU1/RU3 (Large and Small Lot 
Housing) to P3 (Parks & Open Space). As the Paddle Center use fits the future P3 land use, the 
existing requirement for a Temporary Use Permit will no longer be applicable.  
 
A paddle center oriented use for the Subject Properties was supported by a previous council 
report dated June 18, 2014, wherein Staff “identified the opportunity to expand the Paddle 
Center as an interim measure to include the northernmost single family home (3020 Abbott 
Street) in the Pandosy Waterfront site while the club continues to grow”. Based on council 
support for this initiative and the success of the Paddle Center at its current location – both 

327



as an organization and a member of the neighborhood – Staff and the Paddle Center have 
drafted a lease agreement to allow for the proposed expansion. A copy of the agreement is 
attached to this report as Schedule B 
 
Paddle Center 
 
The Paddle Center is a key addition to the City’s sport delivery system, creating new 
opportunities for members of the public to participate in a healthy, active, lifestyle in a non-
motorized way that fits the City’s mandate of environmental stewardship. Additionally, the 
Paddle Center, as a representative of a significant portion of the City’s organized paddling 
community, continually demonstrates good governance and organizational practices. 
 
As articulated in previous reports, key community benefits associated with the expanded 
Paddle Center site include the following: 

 Ability to attract additional members through improved facilities (restrooms, meeting 
areas, etc); 

 Ability to increase the type and level of services provided as a result of increased 
storage capacity and better access to the waterfront; and, 

 Creation of a ‘fixed’ Paddle Center address and building to facilitate and encourage 
drop-ins, visitors, and overall increased community/Paddle Center interactions. 

 
Lease Agreement Summary 
 
A summary of the key terms and conditions associated with the attached lease agreement is 
as follows: 
 

Commencement Date: December 15, 2014 
Initial Term: 5 years 
Renewal Terms: 2 x 2 years (4 years total) 
Annual Base Rent: $2,500/year for first 2 years 

$1/year thereafter 
Rent Type: Carefree to landlord 
Permitted Use: Paddle Center 
Reserve Contribution Requirement: $2,500-$5,000/year 
Termination Clause: 6 months (reciprocal) 

 
The lease terms as summarized above are generally typical of non-market lease agreements 
with similar organizations that the City partners with, including the Kelowna Badminton Club, 
the Curling Club and the Lawn Bowling Club. A summary of comparable non-market leases is 
shown  below: 
 

328



 
In order to ensure that the Paddle Center continues to meet the expectations of the City in 
terms of level and type of services provided to the community, the lease agreement makes 
reference to specific standards that the Paddle Center is expected to adhere to – both as an 
organization, and as a service provider. This includes: goals with respect to membership 
levels, requirements on the types and number of programs offered, and specific community 
participation goals, including program participants and facility visitors. 
 
Although funds for the construction of the Pandosy Waterfront park are presently not 
available, the proposed lease agreement addresses this eventuality by giving the City the 
flexibility of relocating the Paddle Center to an alternate location or, if necessary, 
terminating the lease agreement. 
 
Internal Circulation: 
 
Divisional Director, Active Living & Culture 
Director, Financial Services 
Manager, Sport & Event Development 
Manager, Building Services 
Manager, Strategic Land Development 
Manager, Urban Planning 
 
Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Section 26(3) – Community Charter 
 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
 
At the public council meeting of September 15, 2014, council granted first reading for the 
proposed rezoning of the various properties comprising the Pandosy Waterfront – including the 
Subject Properties – from their current zoning of RU1/RU3 to the proposed zone of P3. The 
Public Hearing associated with the rezoning process is scheduled for October 7, 2014. The 
proposed use of the Subject Properties by the Paddle Center is in conformity with the 
proposed P3 zone, and the lease agreement is conditional upon the successful rezoning of the 
properties to P3. 
 
The existing City property at 3020/3030/3040 Abbott Street is currently occupied on a 
residential basis. The tenancy agreement with the existing tenant is a periodic tenancy; as 

Sample of Municipal Non-Market Lease Agreements 

Organization Paddle Center Lawn Bowling Club Curling Club Badminton Club 

Initial Term: 5 years 1 year 17 years 5 years 

Renewal Terms: 2 x 2 years 4 x 1 year n/a n/a 

Annual Base Rent: $1 $1 $1 $1 

Taxes Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

Utilities Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

Facility M&R Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

Tax Exemption:* - Yes Yes Yes 

Reserve Contribution: $2,500-$5,000/year None None None 

Termination Clause: 6 months 90 days 12 months 60 days 

*Organization applied and qualified for Permissive Tax Exemption in 2014 

329



such, in order to satisfy the requirements of the Residential Tenancy Act, the City is required 
to provide 60 days, or two full months, notice of termination. The lease commencement date 
of December 15th, 2014 ensures that the City will be able to meet its contractual obligations 
to the existing tenant. 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
In light of the above, the Property Management Branch requests Council’s support of this 
lease. 
 
Submitted by:   J. Saufferer, Manager, Property Management 
 
Approved for inclusion:     D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate & Property Services 
 
 
Attachments: Schedule A: Lease Lands 
  Schedule B: Lease Agreement 
 
cc:  J. Gabriel, Divisional Director, Active Living & Culture 

G. Davidson, Director, Financial Services  
D. Backmeyer, Manager, Sport & Event Development 
M. Johansen, Manager, Building Services 
G. Hood, Manager, Strategic Land Development 
R. Smith, Manager, Urban Planning 
 

 

330



 

38 
 

 
THE LEASED PREMISE 

3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott Street 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Lease Area 

331



1 
 

 
 
 
 
 

MUNICIPAL FACILITY LEASE 
 
 
 
 

BETWEEN: 
 
    CITY OF KELOWNA, a municipal corporation having 
    Offices at 1435 Water Street, Kelowna, B.C. V1Y 1J4 
 
    (the “Landlord”) 
 

OF THE FIRST PART 
 
 
AND: 
 
    KELOWNA OUTRIGGER RACING CANOE CLUB ASSOCIATION 
    (d.b.a. Kelowna Paddle Center) 
    #392 Christleton Avenue, Kelowna, B.C. V1Y 5H7 
     
    (the “Tenant”) 
 

OF THE SECOND PART 
   

332



 

2 
 

Preamble 
 
Whereas: 
 
A. The Landlord has a long history of supporting paddling sports, as evidenced by 

the 100 year history of the Kelowna Regatta and the development of various 
paddle based clubs and events; and, 
 

B. Paddling continues to be a strong and growing activity in the community; and, 
 

C. The  Landlord  recognizes  that  the  Tenant  has  the  potential  to  bring  significant 
benefits to the community as a whole, including: 

 a new opportunity for participating in a healthy active lifestyle; 

 a new addition to the Landlord’s sport delivery system; 

 opportunity for community members  to learn new skills; 

 the ability to take advantage of the region’s biggest natural asset (Okanagan 
Lake) 

 development of a non‐ motorized sport that fits complements the Landlord’s 
commitment to environmental stewardship; and, 

 the potential for hosting of paddle based events; 
 

D. The Tenant is a not‐for‐profit society registered (#S‐0049788) under the Society’s 
Act (British Columbia) with the mandate of promoting, developing and 
encouraging outrigger canoeing, kayaking, stand up paddle boarding  and other 
water based  activities for the physical, competitive, and social well‐being of the 
members of the Society and of the Central Okanagan community as a whole; and, 

  
E. The Tenant wishes to continue to develop paddling sport in the City of Kelowna 

by bringing various paddling disciplines under one organizational structure and 
location; and, 
 

F. The Tenant and the Landlord previously entered into a License of Occupation 
dated July 13, 2013 for the property located at 3050 Abbott Street. 

 
Therefore  the  Landlord  and  the  Tenant wish  to  enter  into  the  lease  agreement  (the 
“Agreement”)  as  described  below,  which  Agreement  is  intended  to  supersede  all 
previous  agreements  between  the  Landlord  and  the  Tenant,  including  the  License  of 
Occupation. 

 
   

333



 

3 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

1. Basic Terms, Schedules and Definitions 
 
2. Premises 
 
3. Term 
 
4. Rent 
 
5. Tenant’s Covenants 
 
6. Landlord’s Covenants 
 
7. Repair, Damage and Destruction 

 
8. Taxes and Other Costs 
 
9. Utilities and Additional Services 
 
10. Licenses, Assignments and Subletting 
 
11. Fixtures and Improvements 
 
12. Insurance and Liability 

 
13. Environmental Matters 
 
14. Subordination, Attornment, Registration, and Certificates 
 
15. Occurrence of Default 
 
16. Tenant’s Default, Remedies of Landlord and Surrender 

 
17. Miscellaneous 

 
   

334



 

4 
 

THIS  LEASE, dated  the 29th day of  September 2014,  is made  and entered  into by  the 
Landlord and  the Tenant named herein who,  in  consideration of  the  covenants herein 
contained, agree as follows: 
 
1. BASIC TERMS, SCHEDULES, AND DEFINITIONS 
 
1.1  Basic Terms 

 
(a)  Landlord:      City of Kelowna 
  Address of Landlord:    1435 Water Street 
          Kelowna, B.C.   V1Y 1J4 
          Email: jsaufferer@kelowna.ca 
 
(b)  Tenant:      Kelowna Outrigger Racing Canoe Club Assn. 
  Address of Tenant:    #392 Christleton Avenue 
          Kelowna, B.C.  V1Y 5H7 
 
 
(c)  Premises:      3020/3030/3040/3050 Abbott Street 
          Lots 1, 2 and 3, Plan KAP53240 and 
          Lot B, Plan KAP10727 (see Schedule A) 
         

  (d)  Initial Term:      Five (5) years 
    Commencement Date:  December 15, 2014 
 
  (e)  Renewal Term (if any):  Two (2) terms of Two (2) years 
            at the City’s sole discretion 
 

  (f)  Annual Base Rent :    $2,500/year in Year 1 and Year 2 
$1/year thereafter 

 
  (g)  Property Taxes:    Tenant to pay  

 
(h)   Utilities:      Tenant to pay 

 
  (i)  Permitted Use:    To occupy the Premises for the purpose of  
            establishing and operating a Paddle Center. 

             
The foregoing Basic Terms are approved by the parties.   Each reference  in this Lease to 
any of  the Basic Terms  shall be construed  to  include  the provisions  set  forth above as 
well as all of the additional terms and conditions of the applicable sections of this Lease 
where such Basic Terms are more fully set forth. 
 
 

335



 

5 
 

1.2  Schedules 
 
All Schedules to this Lease are  incorporated  into and form an  integral part of this Lease 
and are as follows: 
 
  SCHEDULE    SUBJECT 
  A      Site Plan of Premises and License Area 
  B      Definitions 
  C      Reserve Fund Contribution Schedule 
  D      Operational/Business Requirements 

E      Incorporation Documents 
F       Landlord & Tenant Responsibility Checklist 

  G      Certificate of Insurance 
         
1.3  Definitions 
 
In this Lease, the words, phrases and expressions set forth  in Schedule B are used with 
the meanings defined therein. 
 
2.  PREMISES 
 
In  consideration  of  the  rents,  covenants,  and  agreements  hereinafter  reserved  and 
contained on the part of the Tenant to be paid, observed, and performed, the Landlord 
hereby demises and leases to the Tenant, and the Tenant leases from the Landlord, the 
Premises. 
 
3.  TERM 
 
3.1 Term  

 
The Term of  this Lease, and  the related License, shall be  for  the  initial  term of Five  (5) 
years,  beginning  on  the  Commencement  Date,  and  subject  to  earlier  termination  or 
renewal on the terms and conditions as set out herein. 
 
3.2 Option to Renew 
 
The Landlord covenants with the Tenant that if: 
 

(a) the Tenant gives notice to the Landlord that the Tenant wishes to obtain renewal 
of  this  Lease,  such  notice  to  be  given  not  later  than  12 months  prior  to  the 
expiration of the initial Term of  Five (5) years; and 

 

336



 

6 
 

(b) at the time of giving such notice, the Tenant  is not  in breach of any covenant or 
condition  herein  contained  and which  has  not  been  remedied within  the  time 
provided for in this Lease; and 

 
(c) the Tenant has duly and  regularly  throughout  the  initial Term of  Five  (5)  years 

observed and performed the covenants and conditions herein contained; 
 
then the Landlord, at its sole discretion, may grant to the Tenant at the Tenant’s expense 
a renewal lease of the Premises for Two (2) terms of Two (2) years upon the same terms 
and conditions, excluding Annual Base Rent and Additional Rent as are herein contained.  
There are no further rights of renewal. 
 
3.3 Transferability of Lease 
 
The Landlord and Tenant agree that the Landlord may require the use of the Lands  for 
the  development  of  a  park  at  any  time  during  the  initial  5  year  term  or  during  the 
renewal terms. Based on this possibility, the Landlord and Tenant agree that, should the 
need  arise,  the  Landlord may,  at  its  sole  discretion,  transfer  this  Lease  agreement  to 
other lands acceptable to the Tenant owned by the Landlord in the immediate vicinity of 
the Lands.  
 
4.  RENT 
 
4.1 Rent 
 
The Tenant shall yield and pay to the Landlord at the office of the Landlord’s accounts 
payable division, or at such other place as the Landlord may direct in writing, during the 
Term  in  lawful money  of  Canada  without  any  set‐off,  abatement,  compensation,  or 
deduction whatsoever on  the days  and  at  the  times hereinafter  specified, Rent which 
shall include the aggregate of the sums specified in sub‐clauses (a) and (b) below: 
 

(a) Annual Base Rent 
 
Annual Base Rent in the amount per annum set out in sub‐clause 1.1(f) for 
each respective Lease Year. 
 

(b) Additional Rent 
 

In  addition,  but  subject  to  any  operating  costs  the  Landlord  expressly 
agrees  to  pay  for  its  own  account,  the  Tenant  is  responsible  for  all 
operating  costs  of  whatever  nature  or  kind  in  connection  with  the 
Premises including all applicable real estate taxes and other charges. 

 
4.2 Rent for Irregular Periods 

337



 

7 
 

 
All  Rent  reserved  herein  shall  be  deemed  to  accrue  from  day‐to‐day,  and  if  for  any 
reason it shall become necessary to calculate the Annual Base Rent for irregular periods 
of less than one year an appropriate pro‐rata adjustment shall be made on a daily basis 
in order to compute the Annual Base Rent for such irregular period. 
 
4.3 Waiver of Offset 
 
The Tenant hereby waives and renounces any and all existing and future claims, offsets, 
and compensation against any Rent and agrees to pay such Rent regardless of any claim, 
offset, or compensation which may be asserted by the Tenant or on its behalf. 
 
4.4 Application of Payments 
 
All payments by the Tenant to the Landlord under this Lease shall be applied toward such 
amounts then outstanding hereunder as the Landlord determines and the Landlord may 
subsequently alter the application of any such payment. 
 
4.5 Net Lease 
 
The  Tenant  Acknowledges  and  agrees  that  it  is  intended  that  this  Lease  shall  be  a 
completely  net  lease  for  the  Landlord  except  as  shall  be  otherwise  provided  in  the 
specific provisions contained in this Lease, and that the Landlord shall not be responsible 
during the Term for any costs, charges, expenses, and outlays of any nature whatsoever 
arising from or relating to the specific provisions contained in this Lease. The Tenant shall 
pay all charges, impositions, and costs of every nature and kind relating to the Premises 
whether or not referred to herein and whether or not within the contemplation of the 
Landlord or the Tenant, and the Tenant covenants with the Landlord accordingly. 
 
4.6 Interest on Overdue Rent 
 
Overdue Rent payments shall be charged interest at the current Bank of Canada lending 
rate effective from the date the amount is due. 
 
4.7 Contributions to Reserve Fund 

 
In addition to the nominal Rent as set out in section 1.1(f) of this Agreement, the Tenant 
shall establish  and maintain  a building  contingency  reserve  fund  (the  “Reserve  Fund”) 
and  shall make  lump‐sum  contributions  to  the  Reserve  Fund  in  accordance with  the 
manner as set out in Schedule C to this Agreement (the “Reserve Fund Contribution”) on 
or before the first day of each year of the Term.  
 
4.8 Use of Reserve Fund 
 

338



 

8 
 

The Tenant and Landlord agree that the Tenant may draw on the Reserve fund (together 
with  all  accrued  interest).  The  Tenant  agrees  that  it  is  obligated  to  consult with  the 
Landlord  for  use  of  the  Reserve  Fund,  which  use  is  to  be  limited  to  the  following 
purposes: 
 

(a) any  substantial  repairs  or  capital  replacement  expenses  related  to  the 
Premises to be performed by the Tenant under section 7.1; and, 
 

(b) demolition  of  any  buildings  or  improvements  on  the  Premises,  and  site 
rehabilitation; and, 

 
(c) any  other  purpose,  provided  the  Tenant  receives written  permission  to 

use the Reserve Funds for such use from the Landlord. 
 
4.9 Landlords Access to Reserve Fund 
 
In the event that the Tenant does not use the Reserve Fund to fulfill its obligations as per 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Landlord may incur the necessary 
expenses at its own cost and recover these expenses from the Tenant, provided that the 
recovered expenses are no greater than the amount of the existing funds in the Reserve 
Fund. 
   
4.10 Unused Reserve Fund 
 
Upon expiration or cancellation of  this Lease agreement and provided  that  the Tenant 
has no obligations, expenses, fees or dues owing to the Landlord or any other third‐party 
to which  the Landlord may be  liable, any  funds remaining  in  the Reserve Fund may be 
used by  the  Tenant  at  their  sole discretion  in  a manner which  furthers  the  goals  and 
mission of the Tenant. 
 

(a) Should the Tenant cease to operate  in good standing as a registered not‐
for‐profit  society  under  the  Society’s  Act  (British  Columbia),  any  funds 
remaining in the Reserve Fund will be transferred to the Landlord. 

 
5.  TENANT’S COVENANTS 
 
5.1 Tenant’s Covenants 
 
The Tenant covenants with the Landlord as follows: 
 

(a) Rent 
 

339



 

9 
 

To pay the Rent on the days and in the manner provided herein and to pay 
all other amounts, charges, costs, and expenses as are required to be paid 
by the Tenant to the Landlord or to others under this Lease. 

 
(b) Occupancy and Permitted Use 
 

To take possession of and occupy the Premises and commence to carry on 
business  in all or  substantially all of  the Premises no  later  than 30 days 
after the Commencement Date, to use the Premises only for the purpose 
set out in clause 1(i) herein and not for any other purpose. 

 
(c) Waste and Nuisance 
 

Not to commit or permit: any waste or injury to the Premises including the 
Leasehold  Improvements and  the  trade  fixtures  therein; any overloading 
of the floors thereof; any conduct which impedes or, in the opinion of the 
Landlord acting reasonably, could constitute a nuisance to the Landlord or 
anyone else; any other use or manner of use which, in the opinion of the 
Landlord  acting  reasonably,  may  have  an  adverse  impact  on  the 
reputation of the Premises. 
 
To the best efforts of the Tenant, to maintain a positive relationship with 
the  immediate neighbors  and  the  community  adjacent  to  the Premises, 
with  the  intent  of  minimizing  conflict  by  promptly  addressing  public 
concerns raised regarding noise levels, facility use, hours of operation, on‐
site debris and waste, parking, and any other public concerns as deemed 
relevant by the Landlord. 
 

(d) Insurance Risks 
 

Not to do, omit to do, or permit to be done or omitted to be done upon 
the Premises anything which would cause the Landlord’s cost of insurance 
to  be  increased  (and,  without  waiving  the  foregoing  prohibition,  the 
Landlord may  demand,  and  the  Tenant  shall  pay  to  the  Landlord  upon 
demand, the amount of any such  increase of cost caused by anything so 
done or omitted to be done) or which shall cause any policy of insurance 
to be subject to cancellation. 

 
(e) Cleanliness 
 

Not to permit the Premises to become untidy, unsightly, or hazardous, or 
permit unreasonable quantities of waste or refuse to accumulate therein, 
and at the end of each business day to  leave the Premises  in a clean and 
neat condition, to the satisfaction of the Landlord. 

340



 

10 
 

 
(f) Compliance with Laws 
 

To  comply at  its own expense with all municipal, provincial, and  federal 
laws, bylaws,  regulations,  and  requirements pertaining  to  the operation 
and use of  the Premises,  the  condition of  the  Leasehold  Improvements, 
trade  fixtures  and  equipment  installed  therein,  and  the making  by  the 
Tenant of any repairs, changes or improvements therein. 

 
(g) Installations 
 

To permit the Landlord during the Term, at the Tenant’s cost, to install any 
equipment  in  or make  alterations  to  the  Premises  necessary  to  comply 
with  the  requirements  of  any  statute,  law,  bylaw,  ordinance,  order,  or 
regulation referred to in sub‐clause 5.1(f) and imposed after completion of 
the Landlord’s original construction of the Premises. 

 
(h) Overholding 
 

That  if  the  Tenant  shall  continue  to  occupy  the  Premises  after  the 
expiration  of  this  Lease  without  any  further  written  agreement  and 
without objection by the Landlord, the Tenant shall be a monthly tenant 
at a monthly base rent equal to 125% of the Annual Base Rent payable by 
the Tenant as set forth in Article 4 during the last month of the Term.  The 
monthly  tenancy shall be  (except as  to  the  length of  tenancy) subject  to 
the provisions and conditions herein set out. 

 
(i) Signs 

 
Not  to  display,  place,  or  affix  any  sign  except  in  accordance  with  the 
regulations of the Landlord. 
 

(j) Branding 

 
i. The Tenant shall have the right to select the name for the Premises 

in accordance with  this section. The Landlord will respond  to any 
facility naming requests within a reasonable timeframe. 

   

341



 

11 
 

ii. the Landlord and  the Tenant will comply with Landlord‐approved 
guidelines  and  policies  for  the  naming  and  branding  of  the 
Premises, for which City of Kelowna Council approval is required; 

 
iii. any  branding  and  sponsorship  within  the  Premises  must  be 

appropriate  to  families  and  children  and  in  keeping  with  the 
Landlord’s  values  of  equity,  accessibility,  health,  respect  and  the 
dignity of the individual; 

 
iv. the  Landlord  and  the  Tenant    will    collaborate    to    determine  

cross‐promotional  opportunities using both Landlord and Tenant’s 
marketing channels; 

 
v. the Landlord will receive the first right of refusal for approximately 

five  (5)  percent  of  available marketing  and  advertising  space  to 
cross‐promote other Landlord initiatives and facilities; and 

 
vi. the Landlord will work with the Tenant to develop an appropriate 

level  of  recognition  in  a  prominent  location  for  the  use  of 
Landlord‐owned  lands. 

 
(k) Inspection and Access 
 

To permit the Landlord at any time and from time to time to enter and to 
have  its  authorized  agents,  employees,  and  contractors  enter  the 
Premises  for  the purpose of  inspection or making  repairs, alterations, or 
improvements  to  the Premises  as  the  Landlord may deem necessary or 
desirable,  or  as  the  Landlord  may  be  required  to  make  by  law.    The 
Landlord shall be allowed to take into the Premises all material which may 
be required for such purpose and the rent reserved shall in no way abate 
while such repairs, alterations or improvements are being made by reason 
of interruption of the business of the Tenant.  The Landlord shall exercise 
reasonable diligence as to minimize the disturbance or interruption of the 
Tenant’s operation. 

 
(l) Showing Premises 
 

To permit the Landlord and its authorized agents and employees to show 
the Premises to prospective tenants during the normal business hours of 
the last three months of the Term. 
 

(m) Conduct of Business 
 

342



 

12 
 

In  order  to  further  the  Tenant’s  mission  of  building  and  supporting 
paddling  sport  in  the  Central  Okanagan,  the  Tenant  shall  provide,  at 
minimum, the services as described in Schedule D to this Agreement. Any 
changes  to  the  components  of  the  Tenants  business  plan  as  shown  in 
Schedule D require the express written permission of the Landlord.  
 

(n) Status of Tenant 
 

The Tenant shall at all times be  in good standing as a registered not‐for‐
profit society under the Society’s Act (British Columbia). The Tenant shall, 
on an annual basis, provide;  

 a list of the society’s incorporation documents; 

 a copy of the Tenants current incorporation documents; and, 

 a list of the society’s board of directors. 
 

The Tenant must provide the Landlord written notice  in the event of any 
changes to the  incorporation documents.  If the Landlord deems that any 
changes  to  the Tenant’s  registered status have a material  impact on  the 
Tenant’s mission, goals and objectives with respect to supporting paddling 
in  the  Central Okanagan,  the  Landlord may  terminate  this  lease  as  per 
section 16.6 of this Agreement. 
 

(o)  Accounting, Records and Reporting  
 
 
Appropriate members  of  the  Tenant  and  the  Landlord  will meet  on  a 
quarterly basis to discuss the operation of the Premises and to update the 
Landlord as to the financial circumstances of the Tenant. Such review will 
include,  but  not  be  limited  to    actual  and  budgeted  expenses  and 
revenues, budgetary shortfalls, facility maintenance status, schedules and 
programs and attendance. 
 
Within 90 days of the end of each operating year, the Tenant will provide 
to the Landlord: 
 

i. Board approved financial statements in respect of operations for 
that operating year and a comparison of revenues and expenses 
with the budget; and, 
 

ii. A  comprehensive  Annual  Report  on  a  form  provided    by  the 
Landlord, summarizing  the management of and activities of  the 
Tenant  in  that  operating  year,  and  including  information 
regarding, but not limited to: 
 Program activities, events and services; 

343



 

13 
 

 Statistical  summary of program  registration,  and general 
attendance participation levels; 

 Membership and boat storage revenues; 
 Staffing levels and staff training; 
 Accomplishments, challenges, issues and trends; 
 Safety  issues   and  measures; 
 Recommendations and objectives for future years; 
 Customer  service  satisfaction  and public  comments  

(including  complaints); 
 Facility maintenance program summary; and, 
 Detailed breakdown of membership statistics. 

 
(p) Maintenance Responsibilities 

 
The Tenant and the Landlord agree to the Tenant Responsibility Checklist 
attached to this Agreement as Schedule F.  
 

(q) Tobacco Sales 
 

The Tenant will not permit the sale of tobacco products on the Premises. 
 

(r) Parking 
 
The Tenant will adhere to the current parking available on the Premises. 
Any changes to parking on the Premises and the development of a parking 
strategy must be completed in conjunction with the Landlord. 
 
The Tenant will encourage visitors to the Premises to use alternate means 
of  transportation  so  as  to  minimize  the  impact  of  parking  on  the 
immediate neighborhood. 
 

6.  LANDLORD’S COVENANTS 
 
6.1 Landlord’s Covenants 
 
The Landlord covenants with the Tenant as follows: 
 

(a) Quiet Enjoyment 
 

Provided the Tenant pays the Rent hereby reserved and performs its other 
covenants herein contained, the Tenant shall and may peaceably possess 
and  enjoy  the  Premises  for  the  Term  hereby  granted,  without  any 
interruption or disturbance from the Landlord or  its assigns, or any other 
person  or  persons  lawfully,  claiming  by,  from,  through,  or  under  the 
Landlord. 

344



 

14 
 

 
(b) Rezoning of Property 

 
The  current  zoning of  the property does not  include  the Permitted Use. 
While  the  Landlord  intends  to  rezone  the  Premises  to  allow  for  the 
Permitted Use prior to the Commencement Date, the Landlord makes no 
guarantees or assurances  in  this regards.  In  the event  that  the zoning of 
the  Premises  does  not  allow  for  the  Permitted  Use  prior  to  the 
Commencement  Date,  this  Agreement will  become  null  and  void, with 
neither party liable to the other for any expenses or costs associated with 
this Agreement.  
 

7.  REPAIR, DAMAGE, AND DESTRUCTION 
 
7.1 Tenant’s Repairs 
 
The  Tenant  covenants with  the  Landlord  that  the major  building  components will  be 
maintained  in  a  good  and  reasonable  state  of  repair,  consistent  with  the  general 
standards of structures of similar age and character  in Kelowna.   This  includes the main 
structure,  roof  and  mechanical  systems.  Further  to  this,  the  Tenant  covenants  and 
agrees: 
 

(a) To  keep  in  a  good  and  reasonable  state of  repair  subject  to  reasonable 
wear and tear, the Premises, including all Leasehold Improvements and all 
trade  fixtures  therein and all glass  including all glass portions of exterior 
walls; 

 
(b) that the Landlord may enter and view the state of repair (without having 

any  obligation  to  do  so),  and  that  the  Tenant  will  repair  according  to 
notice  in writing, and  that  the Tenant will  leave  the Premises  in a good 
and  reasonable  state  of  repair,  allowing  for  reasonable wear  and  tear; 
and, 

 
(c) to prepare and  submit an annual preventative maintenance plan with a 

reporting out  schedule. The plan must be presented  to  the  Landlord on 
the anniversary date of the Lease. 

 
7.2 Abatement and Termination 
 
It  is agreed between  the  Landlord and  the Tenant  that  in  the event of damage  to  the 
Premises: 
 

(a) if the damage is such that the Premises or any substantial part thereof are 
rendered not reasonably capable of use and occupancy by the Tenant for 

345



 

15 
 

the purposes of  its business  for any period of  time  in excess of 10 days, 
then: 

 
(i) unless  the damage was  caused by  the  fault of negligence of  the 

Tenant or  its employees,  invitees, or others under  its control and 
the damage is not covered by insurance, from and after the date of 
occurrence  of  the  damage  and  until  the  Premises  are  again 
reasonably capable of use and occupancy as aforesaid, Rent shall 
abate  from time to time  in proportion to the part or parts of the 
Premises not reasonably capable of use and occupancy; and 

 
(ii) unless  this  Lease  is  terminated  as  hereinafter  provided,  the 

Tenant, may repair such damage with all reasonable diligence, but 
to  the  extent  that  any  part  of  the  Premises  is  not  reasonably 
capable of such use and occupancy by reason of damage which the 
Tenant is obligated to repair hereunder, any abatement of Rent to 
which the Tenant is otherwise entitled hereunder shall not extend 
later  than  the  time  by which,  in  the  reasonable  opinion  of  the 
Landlord,  repairs  by  the  Tenant  ought  to  have  been  completed 
with reasonable diligence; and 

 
(b) if  the Premises are  substantially damaged or destroyed by any  cause  to 

the extent such that in the reasonable opinion of the Landlord they cannot 
be  repaired or  rebuilt,  then  the  Landlord will  give written notice  to  the 
Tenant terminating this Lease agreement, whereupon the Tenant will give 
up  vacant  possession  of  the  Premises  no  later  than  60  days  after  the 
delivery of the notice. 

 
7.3 Service Interruptions 
 
The Tenant acknowledges to the Landlord that the Tenant’s right to quiet enjoyment, as 
per 6.1(a) of this Lease, may be  interrupted from time to time  in cases of accident and 
emergency,  in order  to  carry out maintenance,  repairs,  alterations,  replacements,  and 
upgrading, or for any other reasonable reason required by the Landlord. 
 
8. TAXES AND OTHER COSTS 

 
8.1  Tenant Tax Obligation 
 
The Tenant covenants with the Landlord: 
 

(a) to pay when due, all Property Taxes, business Taxes, business  license 
fees,  and  other  Taxes,  rates,  duties  or  charges  levied,  imposed,  or 
assessed by  lawful authority  in  respect of  the use and occupancy of 

346



 

16 
 

the  Leased  Premises  by  the  Landlord,  the  business  or  businesses 
carried on  therein, or  the equipment, machinery, or  fixtures brought 
therein  by  or  belonging  to  the  Tenant,  or  to  anyone  occupying  the 
Leased Premises wit the Tenant’s consent, or from time to time levied, 
imposed, or assessed in the future in addition or in lieu thereof, and to 
pay  the Landlord upon demand  the portion of any  tax, rate, duty, or 
charge levied or assessed upon the Premises that is attributable to any 
equipment, machinery, or fixtures on the Premises which are not the 
property of the Landlord or which may be removed by the Tenant; 

 
(b) to  pay  promptly  to  the  Landlord when  demanded  or  otherwise  due 

hereunder all Taxes  in  respect of all  Leasehold  Improvements  in  the 
Premises; and 

 
8.2   Goods and Services Tax 

 
In accordance with the applicable  legislation the Goods and Services Tax applies to this 
Lease.  

 
9.  UTILITIES AND ADDITIONAL SERVICES 
 
9.1 Utilities 
 
The Tenant shall be responsible for all aspects of, including payment of costs related to, 
utilities and services of whatever nature or kind required in connection with the Premises 
and  the  conduct by  the Tenant of  the Tenant’s business as described herein  including 
without limitation, water, telephone, sewer, hydro, power, heating, air conditioning and 
garbage disposal. 
 
10.  LICENSES, ASSIGNMENTS, AND SUBLETTING 
 
10.1 General 
 
It  is understood and agreed that the Tenant may not assign this Lease, or sublease the 
Premises, to another party. 
 
11.  FIXTURES AND IMPROVEMENTS 
 
11.1 Installation of Fixtures and Improvements 
 
The  Tenant will  not make,  erect,  install,  or  alter  any  Leasehold  Improvements  in  the 
Premises, any safe or special  lock  in the Premises, or any apparatus for  illumination, air 
conditioning,  cooling,  heating,  refrigerating,  or  ventilating  the  Premises,  in  any  case 
without having requested and obtained the Landlord’s prior written approval, which the 

347



 

17 
 

Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold.  In making, erecting, installing, or altering any 
Leasehold  Improvements  the  Tenant  shall  comply  with  the  tenant  construction 
guidelines as established by the Landlord from time to time, and shall obtain all required 
building  and  occupancy  permits  and  comply  with  all  laws  of  all  authorities  having 
jurisdiction.  The Tenant’s request for any approval hereunder shall be in writing and be 
accompanied by a reasonably detailed description of the contemplated work and, where 
appropriate, plans, working drawings, and  specifications.   All work  to be performed  in 
the Premises shall be performed by competent contractors and subcontractors and shall 
be performed and completed in a good and workmanlike manner. 
 
11.2 Liens and Encumbrances on Fixtures and Improvements 
 
In  connection  with  the  making,  erection,  installation,  or  alteration  of  Leasehold 
Improvements and trade fixtures, and all other work or  installations made by or for the 
Tenant in the Premises, the Tenant shall comply with all of the provisions of the Builders 
Lien Act, S.B.C. 1997, c. 45 and amendments  thereto, and other  statutes  from  time  to 
time applicable  thereto  (including any provision  requiring or enabling  the  retention of 
portions of any sums payable by way of holdbacks), shall permit the Landlord to take all 
steps to enable the Landlord to obtain the benefit of the provisions of the Builders Lien 
Act,  and,  except  as  to  any  lawful  holdback,  shall  promptly  pay  all  accounts  relating 
thereto.  The Tenant shall not create any mortgage, conditional sale agreement, general 
security agreement under  the Personal Property Security Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 359 and 
amendments thereto, or other encumbrance in respect of its Leasehold Improvements or 
trade fixtures, or permit any such mortgage, conditional sale agreement, general security 
agreement under the Personal Property Security Act, or other encumbrance to attach to 
the Premise. 
 
11.3 Discharge of Liens and Encumbrances 
 
If and when any builders’ or other lien for work, labour, service, or materials supplied to 
or for the Tenant or for the cost of which the Tenant may be in any way liable or claims 
therefore  shall  arise  or  be  filed  or  any  such  mortgage,  conditional  sale  agreement, 
general  security  agreement  under  the  Personal  Property  Security  Act,  or  other 
encumbrance shall attach, the Tenant shall within 20 days after receipt of notice thereof 
procure the discharge thereof, including any certificate of action registered in respect of 
any  lien, by payment or giving security or  in such other manner as may be required or 
permitted by  law, and  failing which the Landlord may  in addition to all other remedies 
hereunder  avail  itself  of  its  remedy  under  clause  16.1  and may make  any  payments 
required  to  procure  the  discharge  of  any  such  liens  or  encumbrances,  and  shall  be 
entitled  to  be  reimbursed  by  the  Tenant  as  provided  in  clause  16.1,  and  its  right  to 
reimbursement shall not be affected or impaired if the Tenant shall then or subsequently 
establish  or  claim  that  any  lien  or  encumbrance  so  discharged was without merit  or 
excessive or subject to any abatement, set‐off, or defence. 
 

348



 

18 
 

11.4 Removal of Fixtures and Improvements 
 
All Leasehold  Improvements  in or upon  the Premises shall  immediately upon affixation 
be and become the Landlord’s property without compensation therefore to the Tenant.  
Except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the Landlord in writing, no Leasehold 
Improvements shall be removed by the Tenant from the Premises either during or at the 
expiration or sooner termination of the Term, except that: 
 

(a) the Tenant may at the end of the Term remove its trade fixtures; 
 
(b) the  Tenant  shall  at  the  end  of  the  Term  remove  such  of  the  Leasehold 

Improvements  and  trade  fixtures  as  the  Landlord  shall  require  to  be 
removed; and 

 
(c) the  Tenant  shall  remove  its  furniture  and  equipment  at  the  end  of  the 

Term,  and  also  during  the  Term  in  the  usual  and  normal  course  of  its 
business where  such  furniture or equipment has become excess  for  the 
Tenant’s purposes or  the Tenant  is  substituting  therefore new  furniture 
and equipment. 

 
(d) all Leasehold Improvements shall be insured by the Tenant as described in 

Section 12.2 (b) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Landlord. 
 
The Tenant shall,  in the case of every removal either during or at the end of the Term, 
immediately make  good  any  damage  caused  to  the  Premises  or  License  Area  by  the 
installation and removal. 
 
11.5 Alterations by Landlord 
 
The Landlord reserves the right from time to time to make alterations and additions to 
the  Premises,  provided  that  in  exercising  any  such  rights,  the  Landlord  will  take 
reasonable steps  to minimize any  interference cause  to  the Tenant’s operations  in  the 
Premises, but by exercising any such  rights,  the Landlord shall not be deemed  to have 
constructively evicted the Tenant or otherwise to be in breach of this Lease, nor shall the 
Tenant be entitled to any abatement of Rent or other compensation from the Landlord. 
 
12.  INSURANCE AND LIABILITY 
 
12.1 Landlord’s Insurance 
 
The Landlord shall be deemed to have insured (for which purpose it shall be a co‐insurer, 
if and to the extent that it shall not have insured) the Premises and all improvements and 
installations made  by  the  Landlord  in  the  Premises,  except  to  the  extent  hereinafter 
specified,  in respect of perils and to amounts and on terms and conditions which  from 

349



 

19 
 

time to time are  insurable at a reasonable premium and which are normally  insured by 
reasonably prudent owners of properties similar  to  the Premises, as  from  time  to  time 
determined at reasonable intervals (but which need not be determined more often than 
annually)  by  insurance  advisors  selected  by  the  Landlord,  and whose written  opinion 
shall be conclusive.  Upon the request of the Tenant from time to time the Landlord will 
furnish a statement as to the perils in respect of which and the amounts to which it has 
insured the Premises.  The Landlord may maintain such other insurance in such amounts 
and upon such Terms as would normally be carried by a prudent owner. 
 
12.2 Tenant’s Insurance 
 
The Tenant shall take out and keep in force during the Term: 
 

(a) comprehensive  general  liability  (including  bodily  injury,  death  and 
property damage)  insurance on an occurrence basis with  respect  to  the 
business  carried on,  in, or  from  the Premises  and  the  Tenant’s use  and 
occupancy  thereof,  of  not  less  than  $2,000,000  per  occurrence,  which 
insurance shall include the Landlord as a named insured and shall protect 
the  Landlord  in  respect of  claims by  the Tenant as  if  the  Landlord were 
separately  insured,  shall  include  a  cross  liability  clause  and  have  a 
deductible of not more than $5,000 per occurrence or claim; and 

 
(b) insurance in such amounts as may be reasonably required by the Landlord 

in respect of fire and other such perils, including sprinkler leakage, as are 
from  time  to  time defined  in  the usual extended coverage endorsement 
covering  the Tenant’s  trade  fixtures and  the  furniture and equipment of 
the  Tenant  and  (except  as  to  Insured  Damage)  all  Leasehold 
Improvements  in  the  Premises,  and  which  insurance  shall  include  the 
Landlord as a named  insured as the Landlord’s  interest may appear with 
respect  to  the  insured  Leasehold  Improvements  and  provided  that  any 
proceeds recoverable in the event of loss to Leasehold Improvements; 

 
and if the Landlord shall require the same from time to time, then also: 
 

(c) tenant’s fire legal liability insurance in an amount not less than the actual 
cash value of the Premises; and 

 
(d) insurance  upon  all  plate  glass  in  or  which  forms  a  boundary  of  the 

Premises in an amount sufficient to replace all such glass; and 
 

(e) motor vehicle  insurance  for all motor vehicles used by the Tenant  in the 
conduct  of  its  business  shall  have  a minimum  public  liability  and  third 
party property damage insurance coverage of at least $2,000,000. 

 

350



 

20 
 

All insurance required to be maintained by the Tenant hereunder shall be on terms and 
with  insurers to which the Landlord has no reasonable objection and shall provide that 
such insurers shall provide to the Landlord 30 days’ prior written notice of cancellation or 
material alteration of such terms.   
 
The Tenant shall furnish to the Landlord the completed certificate as set out in Schedule 
G or other evidence acceptable to the Landlord as to the insurance within 14 days of the 
execution of this agreement.  Failure to provide such documents shall constitute default 
resulting in termination of this agreement.  The Tenant shall also furnish to the Landlord 
certificates of other evidence acceptable to the Landlord as to the insurance from time to 
time  required  to  be  effected  by  the  Tenant  and  its  renewal  or  continuation  in  force, 
either  by  means  of  a  certified  copy  of  the  policy  or  policies  which,  in  the  case  of 
comprehensive general liability insurance, shall provide such information as the Landlord 
reasonably requires.    If  the Tenant shall  fail  to  take out,  renew and keep  in  force such 
insurance the Landlord may do so as the agent of the Tenant and the Tenant shall repay 
to the Landlord any amounts paid by the Landlord as premiums forthwith upon demand. 
 
12.3 Limitation of Landlord’s Liability 
 
The Tenant agrees that: 
 

(a) the Landlord shall not be liable for any bodily injury to or death of, or loss 
or  damage  to  any  property  belonging  to,  the  Tenant  or  its  employees, 
invitees, or licensees or any other person in, on, or about the Premises, or 
for  any  interruption  of  any  business  carried  on  in  the  Premises,  and, 
without  limiting  the  generality  of  the  foregoing,  in  no  event  shall  the 
Landlord be liable: 

 
(i) for any damage other than Insured Damage or for bodily injury or 

death  of  anyone which  results  from  fire,  explosion,  earthquake, 
flood,  falling  plaster,  steam,  gas,  electricity,  water,  rain,  snow, 
dampness,  or  leaks  from  any  part  of  the  Premises  or  from  the 
pipes,  appliances,  electrical  system,  plumbing  works,  roof,  sub‐
surface, or other part or parts of the Premises of property, or from 
the streets, lanes, and other properties adjacent thereto; 

 
(ii) for  any  damage,  injury,  or  death  caused  by  anything  done  or 

omitted by  the Tenant or any of  its  servants or agents or by any 
other person; 

 
(iii) for the non‐observance or the violation of any provision of any of 

the  rules  and  regulations  of  the  Landlord  in  effect  from  time  to 
time or of  any  lease by  another  tenant or premises  in  the  same 
building or on the same property or any concessionaire, employee, 

351



 

21 
 

licensee,  agent,  customer, officer,  contractor, or other  invitee of 
any of them, or by anyone else; 

 
(iv) for  any  act  or  omission  (including  theft,  malfeasance,  or 

negligence) on  the part of any agent,  contractor, or person  from 
time to time employed by it to perform janitorial services, security 
services, supervision, or any other work  in or about  the Premises 
or the property; 

 
(v) for the failure to do anything required to be done by the Landlord. 

 
(b) The Tenant releases and discharges the Landlord from any and all action, 

causes  of  action,  claims,  damages,  demands,  expenses,  and  liabilities 
which the Tenant now or hereafter may have, suffer, or incur which arise 
from  any matter  for which  the  Landlord  is  not  liable  under  sub‐clause 
12.3(a), notwithstanding that negligence or other conduct of the Landlord 
or anyone for whose conduct the Landlord is responsible may have caused 
or contributed to such matter. 

 
12.4 Indemnity of Landlord 
 
The Tenant agrees to  indemnify and save harmless the Landlord  in respect of all claims 
for bodily  injury or death, property damage, or other  loss or damage arising  from  the 
conduct of any work by or any act or omission of the Tenant or any assignee, sub‐tenant, 
agent,  employee,  contractor,  invitee,  or  licensee  of  the  Tenant,  and  in  respect  of  all 
costs, expenses, and liabilities incurred by the Landlord in connection with or arising out 
of all such claims including the expenses of any action or proceeding pertaining thereto, 
and  in  respect  of  any  loss,  costs,  expense,  or  damage  suffered  or  incurred  by  the 
Landlord arising from any breach by the Tenant of any of  its covenants and obligations 
under this Lease.  This indemnity shall survive the expiry or termination of this Lease. 
 
13.  ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
(a)  Definitions 
  
For the purposes of this Section and Agreement, the following terms shall have the 
following meanings: 
 

 (i)  "Contaminants"  means  any  radioactive  materials,  asbestos  materials, 
urea  formaldehyde,  underground  or  above  ground  tanks,  pollutants, 
contaminants,  deleterious  substances,  dangerous  substances  or  goods, 
hazardous,  corrosive or  toxic  substances,  special waste or waste of any kind or 
any other  substance  the  storage, manufacture, disposal,  treatment, generation, 

352



 

22 
 

use, transport, remediation or Release  into the Environment of which  is now or 
hereafter prohibited, controlled or regulated under Environmental Laws; 

 
 (ii)  "Environment"  includes  the  air  (including  all  layers of  the  atmosphere), 
land (including soil, sediment deposited on  land, fill and  lands submerged under 
water)  and  water  (including  oceans,  lakes,  rivers,  streams,  ground  water  and 
surface water); 

   
 (iii)  "Environmental  Laws"  means  any  statutes,  laws,  regulations,  orders, 
bylaws,  standards,  guidelines,  permits  and  other  lawful  requirements  of  any 
federal, provincial, municipal or other governmental authority having jurisdiction 
over  the  Premises  now  or  hereafter  in  force  with  respect  in  any  way  to  the 
Environment,  health,  occupational  health  and  safety,  product  liability  or 
transportation of dangerous goods,  including  the principles of common  law and 
equity; and 
 
 (iv)  "Release"  includes  any  release,  spill,  leak,  pumping,  pouring,  emission, 
emptying, discharge, injection, escape, leaching, migration, disposal or dumping. 

 
(b)  Tenant’s Representations and Warranties 
 
 The Tenant represents and warrants to the City, and acknowledges that the City is 
relying on such representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement, that as 
of the date of this Agreement: 
 
  (i)  except as disclosed to the City in writing, the Tenant is not, and has never 

 been, subject to any charge, conviction, notice of defect or non‐compliance, work 
 order, pollution abatement order, remediation order or any other or proceeding 
under   any Environmental Laws; and 

 
  (ii)  except as disclosed  to and approved  in writing by  the City,  the Tenant’s 

 business  at  the  Premises  does  not  involve  the  sale,  storage,  manufacture, 
disposal, handling, treatment, generation, use, transport, refinement, processing, 
production,  remediation, Release  into  the Environment of, or any other dealing 
with any Contaminants. 
 

If  any  of  the  representations  and warranties  contained  in  this  section  are  untrue  or 
incorrect in any material respect, the same shall constitute a breach of this Agreement by 
the Tenant. 

 
(c)  Condition of Premises 
 
The  Tenant  acknowledges  and  agrees  that  the  City  has made  no  representations  or 
warranties with respect to the environmental condition of the Premises and is leasing the 

353



 

23 
 

Premises to the Tenant under this Agreement on an "as is, where is" basis with respect to 
their  environmental  condition.    Prior  to  taking  possession  of  the  Premises  under  this 
Agreement,  the  Tenant  has  performed  such  investigations  of  the  Premises  as  it 
considered appropriate and is satisfied as to their environmental condition. 
 
(d)  Use of Contaminants  
 
The Tenant shall not use or permit to be used all or any part of the Premises for the sale, 
storage,  manufacture,  disposal,  handling,  treatment,  generation,  use,  transport, 
refinement,  processing,  production,  remediation,  Release  into  the  Environment  of,  or 
any other dealing with, any Contaminants, without the prior written consent of the City, 
which  consent  may  be  unreasonably  and  arbitrarily  withheld.    Without  limiting  the 
generality of the foregoing, the Tenant shall in no event use, and does not plan or intend 
to use, the Premises to dispose of, handle or treat any Contaminants in a manner that, in 
whole  or  in  part, would  cause  the  Premises,  or  any  adjacent  property  to  become  a 
contaminated site under Environmental Laws. 
 
(e)  Compliance with Environmental Laws   
 
The Tenant shall promptly and strictly comply, and cause any person for whom it is in law 
responsible to comply, with all Environmental Laws regarding the use and occupancy of 
the Premises under or pursuant to this Agreement, including without limitation obtaining 
all required permits or other authorizations. 
 
(f)  Evidence of Compliance   
 
The  Tenant  shall  promptly  provide  to  the  City  a  copy  of  any  environmental  site 
investigation, assessment, audit or  report  relating  to  the Premises conducted by or  for 
the Tenant at any time before, during or after the Term (or any renewal thereof).   The 
Tenant  shall,  at  its  own  cost  at  the  City’s  request  from  time  to  time,  obtain  from  an 
independent  environmental  consultant  approved  by  the  City  an  environmental  site 
investigation  of  the  Premises  or  an  environmental  audit  of  the  operations  at  the 
Premises,  the  scope  of  which  shall  be  satisfactory  to  the  City  and  shall  include  any 
additional  investigations  that  the  environmental  consultant  may  recommend.    The 
Tenant shall, at the City’s request from time to time, provide the City with a certificate of 
a  senior  officer  of  the  Tenant  certifying  that  the  Tenant  is  in  compliance  with  all 
Environmental Laws and that no adverse environmental occurrences have taken place at 
the Premises, other than as disclosed in writing to the City. 

 
(g)  Confidentiality of Environmental Reports   
 
The Tenant shall maintain all environmental site  investigations, assessments, audits and 
reports relating to the Premises in strict confidence and shall not disclose their terms or 
existence  to any  third party  (including without  limitation, any governmental authority) 

354



 

24 
 

except as required by law, to the Tenant’s professional advisers and lenders on a need to 
know  basis  or  with  the  prior  written  consent  of  the  City,  which  consent  may  be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 
(h)  Records 
 
The Tenant  shall maintain at  the Premises all environmental and operating documents 
and  records,  including permits,  licences, orders,  approvals,  certificates,  authorizations, 
registrations and other such  records,  relating  to  the operations at  the Premises, which 
may be  reviewed by  the City  at  any  time during  the Term on  twenty‐four  (24) hours’ 
prior written notice, except  in the case of an emergency, when no prior notice shall be 
required. 
 
(i)  Access by City 
 
Without relieving the Tenant of any of  its obligations under this Agreement, the Tenant 
shall, at such reasonable times as the City requires, permit the City to enter and inspect 
the  Premises  and  the  operations  conducted  at  the  Premises,  to  conduct  tests  and 
environmental  investigations,  to  remove  samples  from  the  Premises,  to  examine  and 
make  copies  of  any  documents  or  records  relating  to  the  Premises,  to  interview  the 
Tenant’s employees and  to  take such steps as  the City deems necessary  for  the safety 
and preservation of the Premises. 
 
(j)  Authorizations  
 
The Tenant shall promptly provide to the City on request such written authorizations as 
the City may require from time to time to make inquiries of any governmental authorities 
regarding the Tenant’s compliance with Environmental Laws. 
 
(k)  Notices   
 
The Tenant shall promptly notify the City in writing of: 
 

(i)  any Release of a Contaminant or any other occurrence or condition at the 
Premises, or any adjacent property which could  subject  the Tenant,  the City or 
the Premises to any fines, penalties, orders or proceedings under Environmental 
Laws; 
 
(ii)  any charge, order,  investigation or notice of violation or non‐compliance 
issued against the Tenant or relating to the operations at the Premises under any 
Environmental Laws; and 
 

355



 

25 
 

(iii)  any notice,  claim,  action or other proceeding by  any  third party  against 
the  Tenant  or  in  respect  of  the  Premises  concerning  the  Release  or  alleged 
Release of Contaminants at or from the Premises. 
 

  (iv)   the  Tenant  shall  notify  the  appropriate  regulatory  authorities  of  any 
Release  of  any  Contaminants  at  or  from  the  Premises  in  accordance  with 
Environmental Laws   and failure by the Tenant to do so shall authorize, but not 
obligate, the City to notify   the regulatory authorities. 

 
(l)  Removal of Contaminants 
 
Prior to the expiry or earlier termination of this Agreement or at any time if requested by 
the City or required by any governmental authority pursuant to Environmental Laws, the 
Tenant  shall,  promptly  at  its  own  cost  and  in  accordance  with  Environmental  Laws, 
remove from the Premises any and all Contaminants, and remediate any contamination 
of  the Premises, or any adjacent property  resulting  from Contaminants,  in either  case 
brought onto, used at or Released  from  the Premises by  the Tenant or any person  for 
whom  it  is  in  law  responsible.    [For greater  certainty,  the  foregoing obligations of  the 
Tenant  shall  include, without  limitation,  the  treatment of water  (including  surface and 
ground water) and the remediation by removal of any soils containing Contaminants at 
levels  exceeding  the  standards  set  as  acceptable  at  the  time  of  remediation  by  the 
applicable governmental authority, being with respect to soils, the standard applicable to 
property  used  for  [commercial/industrial]  purposes  and  with  respect  to  water,  as 
determined by the governmental authority given the character and use of water  in the 
area of  the Premises.   Any  soil  so  removed  shall be promptly  replaced by  soil  free of 
Contaminants  at  concentrations  above  the  standard  described  in  the  preceding 
sentence.]    The  Tenant  shall  provide  to  the  City  full  information with  respect  to  any 
remedial  work  performed  pursuant  to  this  section  and  shall  comply  with  the  City’s 
requirements with respect to such work.  The Tenant shall use a qualified environmental 
consultant approved by the City to perform the remediation.  The Tenant shall, at its own 
cost, obtain such approvals and certificates from the B.C. Ministry of Environment, Lands 
&  Parks  in  respect  of  the  remediation  as  are  required  under  Environmental  Laws  or 
required by the City,  including without  limitation a certificate of compliance evidencing 
completion of the remediation satisfactory to the Ministry.  The Tenant agrees that if the 
City reasonably determines  that  the City,  its property,  its reputation or  the Premises  is 
placed in any jeopardy by the requirement for any such remedial work, the City may, but 
shall be under no obligation to, undertake itself such work or any part thereof at the cost 
of the Tenant. 
 
(m)  Ownership of Contaminants   
 
Notwithstanding  any  rule  of  law  to  the  contrary,  any  Contaminants  or  leasehold 
improvements  or  goods  containing  Contaminants  brought  onto,  used  at,  or  Released 
from, the Premises by the Tenant or any person for whom it is in law responsible shall be 

356



 

26 
 

and  remain  the  sole  and  exclusive  property  of  the  Tenant  and  shall  not  become  the 
property of the City, notwithstanding the degree of their affixation to the Premises and 
notwithstanding  the  expiry  or  earlier  termination  of  this  Agreement.    This  section 
supersedes any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary. 
 
(n)  Indemnity  
 
The  Tenant  shall  indemnify  and  save  harmless  the  City  and  its  directors,  officers, 
shareholders,  employees,  agents,  successors  and  assigns,  from  any  and  all  liabilities, 
actions, damages, claims,  remediation cost  recovery claims,  losses, costs, orders,  fines, 
penalties and expenses whatsoever  (including without  limitation,  the  full amount of all 
consulting  and  legal  fees  and  expenses  on  a  solicitor‐client  basis  and  the  costs  of 
removal,  treatment,  storage  and  disposal  of  Contaminants  and  remediation  of  the 
Premises,  and  any  adjacent  property) which may  be  paid  by,  incurred  by  or  asserted 
against the City or its directors, officers, shareholders, employees, agents, successors or 
assigns, during or after the Term (or any renewal thereof), arising from or in connection 
with any breach of or non‐compliance with the provisions of this Section by the Tenant 
or arising from or in connection with: 
 

(i)  any  legal  or  administrative  action,  proceeding,  investigation,  demand, 
claim or notice of any third party,  including without  limitation any governmental 
authority, against any one or more of them pursuant to or under Environmental 
Laws; or 
 
(ii)  any  Release  or  alleged  Release  of  any  contaminants  at  or  from  the 
Premises into the Environment, 
 
 related to or as a result of the use and occupation of the Premises by the Tenant 
or those for whom it is in law responsible or any act or omission of the Tenant or 
any person for whom it is in law responsible. 

 
(o)  Survival of Tenant’s Obligations 
 
The  obligations  of  the  Tenant  under  this  Section  (including,  without  limitation,  the 
Tenant’s  indemnity,  its  obligation  to  remove  and  remediate  Contaminants  and  its 
covenant  of  confidentiality)  shall  survive  the  expiry  or  earlier  termination  of  this 
Agreement.  The obligations of the Tenant under this Section are in addition to, and shall 
not limit, the obligations of the Tenant contained in other provisions of this Agreement. 
 
14.  SUBORDINATION, ATTORNMENT, REGISTRATION, AND CERTIFICATES 
 
14.1 Tenant’s Covenants 
 
The Tenant agrees with the Landlord that: 

357



 

27 
 

 
(a) Sale or Financing of Building 
 

The rights of  the Landlord under  this Lease may be mortgaged, charged, 
transferred, or assigned to a purchaser or purchasers, or to a mortgagee 
or trustee for bond holders, and in the event of a sale or of default by the 
Landlord  under  any  mortgage,  trust  deed,  or  trust  indenture  and  the 
purchaser, mortgagee, or trustee, as the case may be, duly entering  into 
possession of  the Premises,  the Tenant agrees  to attorn  to and become 
the tenant of such purchaser or purchasers, mortgagee, or trustee under 
the terms of this Lease. 

 
(b) Registration 
 

The Tenant agrees  that  the  Landlord  shall not be obliged  to deliver  this 
Lease  in  form  registrable under  the  Land Title Act, R.S.B.C. 1996,  c. 250 
and covenants and agrees with the Landlord not to register this Lease.  

 
(c) Certificates 
 

The  Tenant  agrees  with  the  Landlord  that  the  Tenant  shall  promptly 
whenever  requested  by  the  Landlord  from  time  to  time  execute  and 
deliver to the Landlord and, if required by the Landlord, to any mortgagee 
(including  any  trustee  under  a  trust  deed  or  trust  indenture)  or 
prospective  purchaser  (as  designated  by  the  Landlord)  a  certificate  in 
writing as to the status of this Lease at that time, including as to whether 
it  is  in  full  force  and  effect,  is modified  or  unmodified,  confirming  the 
rental  payable  hereunder  and  the  state  of  the  accounts  between  the 
Landlord and Tenant, the existence or non‐existence of defaults, and any 
other  matters  pertaining  to  this  Lease  as  to  which  the  Landlord  shall 
request a certificate.    If the Tenant fails to do so within seven days after 
the Tenant receives the form of certificate, the Tenant hereby irrevocably 
and  conclusively  authorizes  the  Landlord  to  complete,  execute,  and 
deliver  the certificate  for, on behalf of,  in  the name of, and as agent of, 
the Tenant. 

 
(d) Assignment by Landlord 
 

In the event of the sale by the Landlord of the Premises or the assignment 
by  the Landlord of  this Lease or any  interest of  the Landlord hereunder, 
and  to  the  extent  that  such  purchaser  or  assignee  has  assumed  the 
covenants and obligations of the Landlord hereunder, the Landlord shall, 
without further written agreement, be freed and relieved of liability upon 
such covenants and obligations. 

358



 

28 
 

 
15.  OCCURRENCE OF DEFAULT 
 
15.1 Unavoidable Delay 
 
Except as herein otherwise expressly provided,  if and whenever and  to  the extent  that 
either  the  Landlord  or  the  Tenant  shall  be  prevented,  delayed,  or  restricted  in  the 
fulfilment  of  any  obligations  hereunder  in  respect  of  the  supply  or  provision  of  any 
service or utility, the making any repair, the doing of any work or any other thing (other 
than  the payment of Rent) by  reason of  civil  commotion, war‐like operation,  invasion, 
rebellion, hostilities, sabotage, strike, or work stoppage, or being unable  to obtain any 
material, service, utility, or  labour required to fulfill such obligation or by reason of any 
statute,  law, or  regulation of or  inability  to obtain permission  from  any  governmental 
authority having lawful jurisdiction preventing, delaying, or restricting such fulfilment, or 
by  reason  of  other  unavoidable  occurrence  other  than  lack  of  funds,  the  time  for 
fulfilment  of  such  obligation  shall  be  extended  during  the  period  in  which  such 
circumstance operates to prevent, delay, or restrict the fulfilment thereof, and the other 
party  to  this  Lease  shall  not  be  entitled  to  compensation  for  any  inconvenience, 
nuisance, or discomfort thereby occasioned, nor shall Rent abate; but nevertheless the 
Landlord  will  use  reasonable  efforts  to  maintain  services  essential  to  the  use  and 
enjoyment of the Premises. 
 
15.2 No Admission 
 
The acceptance of any Rent from or the performance of any obligation hereunder by a 
person other than the Tenant shall not be construed as an admission by the Landlord of 
any  right,  title,  or  interest  of  such  person  as  a  sub‐tenant,  assignee,  transferee,  or 
otherwise in the place and stead of the Tenant. 
 
15.3 Part Payment 
 
The  acceptance  by  the  Landlord  of  a  part  payment  of  any  sums  required  to  be  paid 
hereunder shall not constitute waiver or release of the right of the Landlord to payment 
in full of such sums. 
 
16.  TENANT’S DEFAULT, REMEDIES OF LANDLORD, AND SURRENDER 
 
16.1 Remedying by Landlord, Non‐payment, and Interest 
 
In addition to all the rights and remedies of the Landlord available to  it  in the event of 
any default hereunder by  the Tenant, either by any other provision of  this Lease or by 
statute or the general law, and the event of default is not remedied within the respective 
time period for doing so, the Landlord: 
 

359



 

29 
 

(a) shall  have  the  right  at  all  times  to  remedy  or  attempt  to  remedy  any 
default of  the Tenant,  and  in  so doing may make  any payments due or 
alleged to be due by the Tenant to third parties and may enter upon the 
Premises  to  do  any work  or  other  things  therein,  and  in  such  event  all 
expenses  of  the  Landlord  in  remedying  or  attempting  to  remedy  such 
default together with an administrative charge equal to 15% of the total of 
such expenses  shall be payable by  the Tenant  to  the Landlord  forthwith 
upon demand; 

 
(b) shall have the same rights and remedies in the event of any non‐payment 

by the Tenant of any amounts payable by the Tenant under any provision 
of this Lease as in the case of non‐payment of Rent; and 

 
(c) shall  be  entitled  to  be  reimbursed  by  the  Tenant,  and  the  Tenant  shall 

forthwith  pay  the  Landlord,  the  amount  of  all  costs  and  expenses 
(including,  without  limitation,  legal  costs  on  a  solicitor  and  own‐client 
basis) incurred by the Landlord in connection with the default or in efforts 
to enforce any of the rights, or to seek any of the remedies, to which the 
Landlord is or may be entitled hereunder. 

 
16.2 Remedies Cumulative 
 
The Landlord and the Tenant may from time to time resort to any or all of the rights and 
remedies  available  to  it  in  the  event  of  any  default  hereunder  by  the  Tenant  or  the 
Landlord, as the case may be, either by any provision of this Lease of by statute or the 
general  law,  all  of which  rights  and  remedies  are  intended  to  be  cumulative  and  not 
alternative, as the express provisions hereunder as to certain rights and remedies are not 
to be  interpreted as excluding any other or additional  rights and  remedies available  to 
the Landlord or the Tenant, as the case may be, by statute or the general law. 
 
16.3 Right of Re‐entry on Default 
 
Provided and it is expressly agreed that: 
 

(a) if and whenever the Rent hereby reserved or other moneys payable by the 
Tenant or any part thereof, whether lawfully demanded or not, are unpaid 
and the Tenant shall have failed to pay such Rent or other moneys within 
five days after the Landlord has given to the Tenant notice requiring such 
payment; or 

 
(b) if  the  Tenant  shall  breach  or  fail  to  observe  and  perform  any  of  the 

covenants,  agreements,  provisos,  conditions,  rules,  regulations  or  other 
obligations on the part of the Tenant to be kept, observed, or performed 

360



 

30 
 

hereunder  and  such  breach  or  failure  continues  for  10  days  after  the 
Landlord has given the Tenant notice thereof; or 

 
(c) if without the written consent of the Landlord the Premises shall be used 

by  any  other  persons  than  the  Tenant  or  its  permitted  assigns  or 
permitted  sub‐tenants or  for any purpose other  than  that  for which  the 
Premises were  leased,  or  occupied  by  any  persons whose  occupancy  is 
prohibited by this Lease; or 

 
(d) if the Premises shall be vacated or abandoned or remain unoccupied  for 

15 days or more while capable of being occupied; or 
 

(e) if any of the goods and chattels of the Tenant shall at any time be seized in 
execution or attachment; or 

 
(f) if a receiver or receiver‐manager is appointed of the business or property 

of the Tenant, or  if the Tenant shall make any assignment for the benefit 
of  creditors or any bulk  sale, become bankrupt or  insolvent or  take  the 
benefit of any statute now or hereafter in force for bankrupt or insolvent 
debtors or (if a corporation) shall take any steps or suffer any order to be 
made for its winding‐up or other termination of its corporate existence; or 

 
(g) if any policy of insurance upon the Premises from time to time effected by 

the Landlord shall be cancelled or about to be cancelled by the insurer by 
reason of  the use or occupation of  the Premises or  License Area by  the 
Tenant or any assignee, sub‐tenant, or  licensee of  the Tenant or anyone 
permitted by the Tenant to be upon the Premises or License Area and the 
Tenant  after  receipt  of  notice  in  writing  from  the  Landlord  shall  have 
failed to take such  immediate steps  in respect of such use or occupation 
as shall enable  the Landlord  to  reinstate or avoid cancellation of  (as  the 
case may be) such policy of insurance; or 

 
(h) if  the Landlord shall have become entitled  to Terminate  this Lease or  to 

re‐enter the Premises under any provision hereof; 
 
then and in every such case it shall be lawful for the Landlord thereafter to enter into and 
upon the Premises or any part thereof  in the name of the whole and the same to have 
again, repossess, and enjoy as of its former estate, anything in this Lease to the contrary 
notwithstanding.   The  Landlord may use  such  force  as  it may deem necessary  for  the 
purpose  of  gaining  admittance  to  and  re‐taking  possession  of  the  Premises,  and  the 
Tenant hereby releases the Landlord from all actions, proceedings, claims, and demands 
whatsoever  for  and  in  respect  of  any  such  forcible  entry  or  any  loss  or  damage  in 
connection therewith. 
 

361



 

31 
 

16.4 Termination and Re‐entry 
 
If and whenever the Landlord becomes entitled to re‐enter upon the Premises under any 
provision of  this Lease,  the Landlord,  in addition  to all other  rights and  remedies, shall 
have  the  right  to  terminate  this  Lease by giving  to  the Tenant or by  leaving upon  the 
Premises notice in writing of such termination.  Thereupon, this Lease and the term shall 
terminate, and the Tenant shall  immediately deliver up possession of the Premises and 
License Area to the Landlord in accordance with clause 16.9. 
 
16.5 Right of Termination – No Default 
 
In the event that the Landlord requires the use of the Premises for whatever reason, the 
Landlord  shall  have  the  right  to  terminate  this  Lease  after  giving  the  Tenant  Six  (6) 
months written notice of the Landlord’s  intention to terminate.   The Tenant shall have 
the  reciprocal  right  to  terminate  the  lease  upon  Six  (6) months written  notice  to  the 
Landlord. 
 
16.6 Right of Termination – With Default 
 
In the event that the Tenant is in default of its covenants as per Section 5.0 or any other 
Tenant commitments and obligations as per this Agreement, the Landlord shall provide 
written notice of said default to the Tenant.  If sent by mail, the default notice shall be 
deemed to have been received by the Tenant 3 days after the mailing date of the notice. 
If the default has not been remedied to the satisfaction of the Landlord 18 days after the 
default notice was mailed  to  the Tenant,  this Agreement will  terminate at midnight on 
the 18th day after the default notice is mailed. 
 
16.7 Certain Consequences of Termination and Re‐entry 
 
If  the  Landlord  re‐enters  the Premises or  if  this  Lease  is  terminated by  reason of  any 
event set out in clause 16.3, 16.5 or 16.6, then without prejudice to the Landlord’s other 
rights and remedies: 
 

(a) the  provisions  of  this  Lease  which  relate  to  the  consequences  of 
termination, and the provisions of this Lease as they apply with respect to 
acts, events, and omissions which occurred prior to the termination, shall 
all survive such termination; 

 
(b) in addition to the payment by the Tenant of Rent and other payments for 

which  the Tenant  is  liable under  this  Lease, Rent  for  the  current month 
and the next ensuing three months shall immediately become due and be 
paid by the Tenant or the person then controlling the Tenant’s affairs; and 

 

362



 

32 
 

(c) the Tenant or person then controlling the affairs of the Tenant shall pay to 
the  Landlord on demand  such  reasonable expenses  as  the  Landlord has 
incurred,  and  a  reasonable  estimate  of  the  Landlord  of  expenses  the 
Landlord expects to incur, in connection with the re‐entering, terminating, 
re‐letting, collecting sums due or payable by the Tenant, and storing and 
realizing upon assets seized,  including without  limitation brokerage  fees, 
legal  fees, and disbursements,  the expenses of cleaning and making and 
keeping the Premises and License Area in good order, and the expenses of 
repairing the Premises and preparing them for re‐letting. 

 
16.8 Waiver of Distress and Bankruptcy 
 
The Tenant waives  the benefit of any present or  future statute  taking away or  limiting 
the Landlord’s right of distress and covenants and agrees that notwithstanding any such 
statute none of the goods and chattels of the Tenant on the Premises at any time during 
the Term shall be exempt from  levy by distress for Rent  in arrears.   The Tenant will not 
sell, dispose of, or remove any other  fixtures, goods, or chattels of the Tenant  from or 
out of  the Premises during  the  Term without  the  consent of  the  Landlord, unless  the 
Tenant  is  substituting  new  fixtures,  goods,  or  chattels  of  equal  value  or  is  bona  fide 
disposing of  individual  items which have become excess for the Tenant’s purposes; and 
the Tenant will be  the owner or  lessee of  its  fixtures, goods, and chattels and will not 
permit  them  to become  subject  to  any  lien, mortgage,  charge, or  encumbrance.    The 
Tenant agrees that it will not, without the Landlords’ consent, repudiate or disclaim this 
Lease  in  any  bankruptcy,  insolvency,  re‐organization,  or  other  proceeding  or  court 
application, and if required by the Landlord, waives in favour of the Landlord the benefit 
of s. 65.2 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. B‐3 as amended, and any 
provision of similar import. 
 
16.9 Re‐letting and Sale of Personalty 
 
Whenever  the  Landlord  becomes  entitled  to  re‐enter  upon  the  Premises  under  any 
provision of this Lease, the Landlord, in addition to its other rights, shall have the right as 
agent of the Tenant to enter the Premises and re‐let them (for a term or terms shorter or 
longer  than  the  balance  of  the  Term,  granting  reasonable  concessions  in  connection 
therewith), and  to  receive  the Rent  therefore, and as  the agent of  the Tenant  to  take 
possession of any furniture or other property thereon, and to sell the same at public or 
private sale without notice, and to apply the proceeds thereof and any rent derived from 
re‐letting  the  Premises  upon  account  of  the  Rent  due  and  to  become  due  under  this 
Lease, and the Tenant shall be liable to the Landlord for the deficiency, if any. 
 
16.10 Surrender on Termination 
 
Forthwith upon the termination of this Lease, whether by effluxion of time or otherwise, 
the Tenant shall vacate and deliver up possession of the Premises in a neat and tidy state 

363



 

33 
 

and in good and substantial repair in accordance with the Tenant’s obligation under this 
Lease to repair the Premises, but subject to the Tenant’s rights and obligations in respect 
of removal in accordance with clause 11.4, and subject to reasonable wear and tear.  At 
the same time the Tenant shall surrender to the Landlord at the place then fixed for the 
payment of Rent all keys and other devices which provide access to the Premises, or any 
part thereof and shall inform the Landlord of all combinations to locks, safes, and vaults, 
if any, in the Premises. 
 
17.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
17.1 Notices 
 
Any  notice  required  or  contemplated  by  any  provision  of  this  Lease  shall  be  given  in 
writing, and if to the Landlord, either delivered to an executive officer of the Landlord or 
delivered or mailed (by prepaid registered mail) to the Landlord at the address set out in 
sub‐clause 1.1(a), or  if  the Landlord has given  the Tenant notice of another address  in 
Canada to which notices to the Landlord under this Lease are to be given, then to the last 
such  address of which  the  Tenant has been  given notice;  and  if  to  the  Tenant, either 
delivered to the Tenant personally (or to a partner or officer of the Tenant if the Tenant 
is a firm or corporation) or delivered or mailed (by prepaid registered mail) to the Tenant 
at the Premises.  Every such notice shall be deemed to have been given when delivered 
or, if mailed as aforesaid, upon the third business day after the day of mailing thereof in 
Canada provided that if mailed, should there be a mail strike, slowdown, or other labour 
dispute which might affect delivery of such notice between the time of mailing and the 
actual receipt of notice, then such notice shall only be effective if actually delivered. 
 
17.2 Extraneous Agreements 
 
The  Tenant  acknowledges  that  there  are  no  covenants,  representations,  warranties, 
agreements, or  conditions expressed or  implied  relating  to  this  Lease or  the Premises 
save as expressly set out in this Lease and in any agreement to lease in writing between 
the  Landlord and  the Tenant pursuant  to which  this  Lease has been executed.    In  the 
event of any conflict between the terms of this Lease and such agreement to  lease, the 
terms of this Lease shall prevail.  This Lease may not be modified except by an agreement 
in  writing  executed  by  the  Landlord  and  the  Tenant,  and  no  verbal  agreements  or 
conversations with any officer, agent, or employee of the City, either before or after the 
execution of this agreement, shall affect or modify any of the terms or obligations herein 
contained. 
 
17.3 Time of Essence 
 
Time shall be of the essence in this Lease. 
 
17.4 Enurement 

364



 

34 
 

 
This Lease and everything herein contained shall enure to the benefit of and be binding 
upon  the  successors  and  assigns  of  the  Landlord  and  its  heirs,  executors,  and 
administrators and the permitted successors and permitted assigns of the Tenant. 
 
17.5 References to Tenant 
 
References  to  the  Tenant  shall  be  read  with  such  changes  in  gender  as  may  be 
appropriate, depending upon whether the Tenant is a male or female person or a firm or 
corporation.    If  the Tenant  is comprised of more  than one person or entity,  then each 
such person and entity is jointly and severally bound by the representations, warranties, 
agreements, and covenants of the Tenant herein and any notice given or deemed to have 
been given at any time to any such person or entity shall be deemed to have been given 
at the same time to each other such person and entity. 
 
17.6 Frustration 
 
Notwithstanding  the occurrence or existence of any event or circumstance or  the non‐
occurrence of any event or circumstance, and so often and for so long as the same may 
occur  or  continue which,  but  for  this  clause, would  frustrate  or  void  this  Lease,  and 
notwithstanding any statutory provision  to  the contrary,  the obligations and  liability of 
the  Tenant  hereunder  shall  continue  in  full  force  and  effect  as  if  such  event  or 
circumstance had not occurred or existed. 
 
17.7 Waiver 
 
No condoning, excusing, or overlooking by the Landlord or Tenant of any default, breach, 
or non‐observance by the Tenant or the Landlord at any time or times in respect of any 
covenant,  proviso,  or  condition  herein  contained  shall  operate  as  a  waiver  of  the 
Landlord’s or the Tenant’s rights hereunder  in respect of any continuing or subsequent 
default, breach, or non‐observance or so as to defeat or affect  in any way the rights of 
the  Landlord  or  the  Tenant  herein  in  respect  of  any  such  continuing  or  subsequent 
default or breach, and no acceptance of Rent by the Landlord subsequent to a default by 
the Tenant (whether or not the Landlord knows of the default) shall operate as a waiver 
by  the  Landlord, and no waiver  shall be  inferred  from or  implied by anything done or 
omitted by the Landlord or the Tenant save only express waiver in writing. 
 
17.8 Governing Law and Severability 
 
This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws in force in the 
province of British Columbia.  The venue of any proceedings taken in respect of or under 
this Lease shall be Kelowna, British Columbia as long as such venue is permitted by law, 
and the Tenant shall consent to any application by the Landlord to change the venue to 
Kelowna, British Columbia of any proceedings  taken elsewhere.   The Landlord and  the 

365



 

35 
 

Tenant agree that all the provisions of this Lease are to be construed as covenants and 
agreements as though the words importing such covenants and agreements were used in 
each separate section hereof.  Should any provision or provisions of this Lease be illegal 
or not enforceable, it or they shall be considered separate and severable from the Lease 
and  its  remaining provisions  shall  remain  in  force  and be binding upon  the parties  as 
though the said provision or provisions had never been included. 
 
17.9 Captions 
 
The captions appearing in this Lease have been inserted as a matter of convenience and 
for reference only and  in no way define,  limit, or enlarge  the scope or meaning of  this 
Lease or of any provision thereof. 
 
17.10 Acceptance 
 
The Tenant accepts this Lease, to be held by  it as tenant, and subject to the conditions, 
restrictions,  and  covenants  above  set  forth.    The  acceptance  of  possession  of  the 
Premises shall be conclusive evidence as against the Tenant that at the Commencement 
Date of the Term the Landlord had duly completed all work required to be completed by 
the Landlord prior to the Commencement Date of the Term and the were in good order 
and  satisfactory  condition  for  the  commencement  of  the  work  and  business  of  the 
Tenant. 
 
17.11 Deposit 
 
If  the  Landlord  is  holding  any  deposit  in  connection with  this  Lease,  then  unless  the 
Landlord agreed  in writing to different arrangements at the time the Landlord received 
the deposit, the deposit shall be held by the Landlord on a non‐interest bearing basis to 
be applied to the Annual Base Rent for that month of the Term during which Annual Base 
Rent is first payable hereunder. 
 
17.12 Expropriation 
 
If at any time during the Term the interest of the Tenant under this Lease or the whole or 
any part of the Premises shall be taken by any lawful power or authority by the right of 
expropriation, the Landlord may at  its option give notice to the Tenant terminating this 
Lease on the date when the Tenant or Landlord is required to yield up possession thereof 
to  the  expropriating  authority.    Upon  such  termination,  or  upon  termination  by 
operation  of  law,  as  the  case  may  be,  the  Tenant  shall  immediately  surrender  the 
Premises and all its interest therein, Rent shall abate and be apportioned to the date of 
termination, the Tenant shall forthwith pay to the Landlord the apportioned Rent and all 
other amounts which may be due  to  the  Landlord up  to  the date of  termination, and 
clause 16.10 shall apply.  The Tenant shall have no claim upon the Landlord for the value 
of its property or the unexpired Term of this Lease, but the parties shall each be entitled 

366



 

36 
 

to  separately  advance  their  claims  for  compensation  for  the  loss  of  their  respective 
interests in the Premises, and the parties shall each be entitled to receive and retain such 
compensation as may be awarded  to each  respectively.    If an award of  compensation 
made  to  the  Landlord  specifically  includes  an  award  to  the Tenant,  the  Landlord  shall 
account therefore to the Tenant.  In this clause the word “expropriation” shall include a 
sale by  the  Landlord  to an authority with powers of expropriation,  in  lieu of or under 
threat of expropriation. 
 
17.13 Statutory Functions 
 
Nothing contained herein shall impair or affect in any way the exercise by the Landlord of 
its  functions  and  authority  under  any  enactment,  constating  document,  law,  bylaw, 
resolution or other source of authority. 
 
 
   

367



368



 

38 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

THE LEASED PREMISE 
3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott Street 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Lease Area 

369



 

39 
 

SCHEDULE B 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

In this Lease the following expressions shall have the following meanings: 
 
“Additional Rent” means all  sums of money  to be paid by  the Tenant, whether  to  the 
Landlord  or  otherwise  under  this  Lease,  except  for Annual  Base  Rent  and Goods  and 
Services Tax payable by the Tenant. 
 
“Annual Base Rent” means the annual Rent set out  in sub‐clause 1.1(g) and payable by 
the Tenant as set forth in clause 4.2. 
 
“Basic Terms” means those terms set out in clause 1.1. 
 
“Commencement  Date”  means  the  date  the  term  commences  as  set  forth  in  or 
determined under sub‐clause 1.1(e) and subject to clause 3.2. 
 
“Goods  and  Services Tax” or  “GST” means  and  includes  any  and  all  sales Taxes,  value 
added Taxes, business transfer Taxes, or any other Taxes imposed on the Landlord or the 
Tenant from time to time  in respect of the Rent payable by the Tenant to the Landlord 
under this Lease or the Rental of the Premises or the provision of any goods, services, or 
utilities  whatsoever  by  the  Landlord  to  the  Tenant  under  this  Lease,  whether 
characterized as a Goods and Services Tax, sales Tax, value added Tax, business transfer 
Tax, or otherwise. 
 
 “Insured  Damage” means  that  part  of  any  damage  occurring  to  any  portion  of  the 
Premises  for which  the  Landlord  is  responsible,  of which  the  entire  cost  of  repair  is 
actually  recoverable by  the Landlord under a policy of  insurance  in  respect of  fire and 
other perils from time to time effected by the Landlord, or, if and to the extent that the 
Landlord has not  insured and  is deemed to be a co‐insurer or self‐insurer under clause 
12.1, would have been  recoverable had  the  Landlord  effected  insurance  in  respect of 
perils, to amounts and on terms for which it is deemed to be insured. 
 
“Land”  means  that  parcel  of  land  on  Abbott  Street  Bernard  Avenue  in  the  City  of 
Kelowna, British Columbia, more particularly described as Lots 1, 2 and 3, Plan KAP53240 
and Lot B, Plan KAP10727. 
 
“Lease  Year” means,  in  the  case  of  the  first  Lease  Year,  the  period  beginning  on  the 
Commencement  Date  and  terminating  12 months  from  the  last  day  of  the  calendar 
month  in which  the  Commencement Date  occurs  (except  that  if  the  Commencement 
Date occurs on the first day of a calendar month, the first Lease Year shall terminate on 
the day prior  to  the  first anniversary of  the Commencement Date) and,  in  the case of 
each subsequent Lease Year, means each 12‐month period after the first Lease Year. 

370



 

40 
 

 
“Leasehold  Improvements” means all  fixtures,  improvements,  installations, alterations, 
and additions now and from time to time hereafter made, erected or installed, whether 
by the Tenant, and the Landlord or anyone else,  in the Premises,  including all partitions 
however  fixed  (including  movable  partitions)  and  all  wall‐to‐wall  carpeting  with  the 
exception of such carpeting where  laid over vinyl tile or other finished floor and affixed 
so  as  to  be  readily  removable  without  damage,  but  excluding  trade  fixtures  and 
unattached free‐standing furniture and equipment. 
 
“Premises” means  the  land and building at 3020, 3030, 3040 and 3050 Abbott  Street, 
Kelowna, BC as set out in sub‐clause 1.1(c) and shown on Schedule A. 
 
“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest declared from time to time by the main branch, 
Bank  of Montreal,  Kelowna,  British  Columbia,  to  the  Landlord  as  the  annual  rate  of 
interest. 
 
“Rent” means and  includes  the Annual Base Rent, Additional Rent, and all other  sums 
payable by the Tenant to the Landlord under this Lease except for Good and Services Tax 
payable by the Tenant. 
 
“Taxes” means  all  Taxes,  rates,  duties,  levies,  and  assessments whatsoever, whether 
municipal, parliamentary, or otherwise, which are levied, imposed, or assessed against or 
in  respect of  the Premises,  the  Land, which  are  from  time  to  time  levied,  imposed or 
assessed  in the future  in addition or  in  lieu thereof,  including, without  limitation, those 
levied, imposed, or assessed for education, schools and local improvements. 
 
“Tax  Cost”  for  any  calendar  year means  an  amount  equal  to  the  aggregate, without 
duplication, of all Taxes in respect of such calendar year. 
 
Tenant’s Share” means the proportion of Taxes attributed to the Premises. 
 
“Term” means the Term of this Lease set forth  in sub‐clause 1.1(e) and any renewal or 
extension thereof and any period of permitted overholding. 
   

371



 

41 
 

 
SCHEDULE C – Reserve Fund Contribution 

 
 

Year  Payment to Reserve 

1  $2,500 

2  $2,500 

3  $5,000 

4  $5,000 

5  $5,000 

 
Reserve fund contributions to be reviewed for any lease renewal periods. 

   

372



 

42 
 

SCHEDULE D – Paddling Center: Operational/Business Requirements 
 
The Tenant is a community driven, public initiative to encourage healthy, active lifestyles 
through building and growing the paddling community. 
 
Key Business Plan Components: 

 membership recruitment and fees; 

 recreational canoe and kayak and SUP storage fees; 

 development of a comprehensive paddling program; 

 rental of canoes, kayaks and SUP’s; 

 development of paddle sport based events; 

 development of a competitive paddle program for members; 

 sponsorship. 
 
The Tenant will grow the sport by investing in program and club development, coach 
development and recruitment, facility enhancement, recruiting and maintaining 
members, developing a sustainable financial model and establishing community 
presence. 
 
 Tenant objectives of the Club  include the following: 

a. To secure water accessible location that will provide a central meeting 
place for paddling sport; 

b. To create a governance structure that is representative, accountable, 
transparent and sustainable; 

c. To create community awareness of the Tenant, it’s activities and it’s 
accomplishments; 

d. To increase visibility and understanding of paddle sport to the general 
public.; 

e. To establish a safe, friendly, encouraging, challenging and fun 
environment for members and participants; 

f. To promote membership, boat storage and program opportunities 
through a comprehensive marketing program 

g. Development of a comprehensive paddling program open to all members 
of the community, that includes; 

o  Youth and School programs. 
o  Learn to Paddle programs. 
o  Adaptive Paddling programs. 
o  Recreational to Race programs. 
o  Seniors Paddling programs. 
o  Coaching Clinics –and Water Safety programs. 
o Events and competitive opportunities 

373



 

43 
 

This programming goals and annual plan will be updated on an annual basis over the 
duration of the lease to reflect actual results and a changing environment.    The Club, 
while leading this exercise, will ensure City staff are included in the process 
 

PROGRAMMING GOALS  Metric 

Grow club membership 
 

 250 registered members by Dec 2015 

 Further develop membership structure – family 
memberships, associate memberships, social memberships

Ensure effective governance   Development of Board of Directors and Club Officers 

 Development of organizational structure 

 Supply City with minutes of board meetings 

 City liaison attends board meetings and AGM 

 Develop HR Policy (job descriptions, etc) 

Extend duration of 
operational season 

 Participation in paddling activities  from Apr through Oct 

Enhance program content  Variety of programs offered 

 Learn to Paddle programs for children and adults – 20/year

 Stroke improvement clinics for adults – 10/year 

 Weekly “training sessions” for members – 5/week 

 Club members participate in 6 out of town races 

Facility enhancement   Provide City with Detailed report on facility upgrades 

 30  additional indoor storage spaces 

  40 additional outdoor storage spaces 

 Additional facility amenities – indoor washrooms, change 
rooms, meeting space 

Expand community participation   Number of non‐members accessing facilities – 500/year 

 Number of guests – 400/year 

 Number of program participants – 300/year 

 Enhance social media  

 Number of monthly facility visits – 1000/year 

Continue to develop positive 
community relationships  

 Ongoing communication with neighbours, area residents, 
KLONA, business community in South Pandosy    

 Create partnership with at least 1 or more local businesses

 Host 2  open houses  
 

Develop Financial viability   Demonstrate balanced budget in 2015 

   

374



 

44 
 

SCHEDULE E – Incorporation Documents 

375



376



377



378



45 
 

SCHEDULE F 
 
 

Tenant Responsibility Checklist  
Kelowna Outrigger Racing Canoe Club Association 

 

Provided 
by the 
City, 
Cost 

borne by 
the City 

Provided 
by the 
City, 
Cost 

borne by 
the 

Tenant

Provided 
by the 

Tenant, 
Cost 

borne by 
the City

Provided 
by the 

Tenant, 
cost 

borne by 
the 

tenant

Does 
not 

apply

Boiler operating permits            X 

Electrical field safety representative          X 

Electrical operating permit          X 

Electrical system preventative maintenance       X 

Electrical system repairs         X 

Electrical/lights ‐ lamp & tube replacement        X 

Elevator equipment repairs         X 

Elevator maintenance contract          X 

Elevator operating permits            X 

Emergency lighting testing & repairs          X 

Exterior doors, windows, facades, etc.          X 

Fire alarm system repairs         X 

Fire alarm system testing & inspection contracts        X 

Fire extinguisher monthly & annual inspections        X 

Fire safety plan and fire drills          X 

Fire sprinkler system repairs         X 

Fire sprinkler system testing and inspection contracts      X 

379



 

46 
 

Furnishings (maintain & replace)          X 

Garbage removal            X 

HVAC preventative maintenance         X 

HVAC repairs               X 

Insurance ‐ automotive            X 

Insurance ‐ liability            X 

Insurance ‐ property, building          X 

Insurance ‐ tenant owned furnishings & fixtures        X 

Insurance ‐ tenant owned operation equipment, computers, & 
furnishings    X 

Interior walls, flooring, doors, ceilings,  etc.              X 

Internet              X 

Janitorial services & supplies              X 

Kitchen Exhaust Hood preventative maintenance               X 

Kitchen Exhaust Hood repairs               X 

Kitchen Hood Fire suppression system 
preventative maintenance               X 

Kitchen Hood Fire suppression repairs               X 

Kitchen Hood Fire suppression testing               X 

Landscape maintenance              X 

Licenses & permits              X 

Parking lots ‐ lighting, parking lines, sweeping, 
asphalt, signage, drainage etc.              X 

Pest control              X 

Plumbing system preventative maintenance               X 

Plumbing system repairs               X 

Recycling program              X 

Roof inspection & maintenance               X 

380



 

47 
 

Roof repairs               X 

Security system              X 

Signage              X 

Snow removal              X 

Taxes              X 

Telephone              X 

Tenant improvements              X 

Tenant improvements ‐ Maintenance              X 

Tree removal              X 

Utilities ‐ electricity              X 

Utilities ‐ natural gas              X 

Utilities ‐ propane            X 

Utilities ‐ water, sewer            X 

Vandalism (exterior)               X 

Vandalism (interior)               X 

Window Cleaning               X 

Window Cleaning (interior)              X 

381



48 
 

SCHEDULE G 
 
 

 
 

382



M U N I C I PA L  P R O P E RT Y  L E A S E  
( 3 0 2 0 - 3 0 5 0  A B B O T T  S T R E E T )  
K E L O W N A PA D D L E  C E N T E R  

383



H I S TO RY  

Location 
Temporary Use Permit – 3050 Abbott 

Pandosy waterfront charette 
Rezoning 

RU1/RU3 to P3 

Council Endorsement 
 
 
 

384



F U T U R E  

Interim location 
Lease 

Future location 
Relocation within Pandosy waterfront lands 

Park construction 
 

 
 
 

385



PA N D O S Y  WAT E R F R O N T  L A N D S  

 

386



L O C AT I O N  

 

387



L E A S E  S U M M A RY  

KEY TERMS 
Commencement Date: December 15, 2014 
Initial Term: 5 years 
Renewal Terms: 2 x 2 years (4 years total) 
Annual Base Rent: $2,500 in Year 1 and Year 2 

$1 per year thereafter 
Rent Type: Carefree to landlord 
Permitted Use: Paddle Center 
Reserve Contribution: $2,500-$5,000 per year 
Termination Clause: 6 months (reciprocal) 

388



K E Y  L E A S E  C O N D I T I O N S  

transferability of lease (§ 3.3) 
responsibility to neighbors (§ 5.1c) 
facility branding (§ 5.1j) 
status of tenant (§ 5.1n) 
parking (§ 5.1r) 
lease subject to rezoning (§ 6.1b) 
 

389



C O M PA R A B L E  L E A S E  A G R E E M E N T S   

Summary of Lease Details 
Organization Paddle Center Lawn Bowling Club Curling Club Badminton Club 

Initial Term: 5 years 1 year 17 years 5 years 

Renewal Terms: 2 x 2 years 4 x 1 year n/a n/a 

Base Rent: $1 $1 $1 $1 

Taxes Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

Utilities Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

M&R Paid By: Tenant Tenant Tenant Tenant 

Tax Exemption:* - Yes Yes Yes 

Reserve: $5,000 per year None None None 

Termination: 6 months 90 days 12 months 60 days 

*Organization applied and qualified for Permissive Tax Exemption in 2014 

390



 

391



Report to Council 
 

 

Date: 

 
9/29/2014 
 

File: 
 

1125-51 

To:  
 

City Manager 

From: 
 

J. Hancock, Manager, Real Estate Services 

Subject: 
 

Proposed Road Closure – Portion of Lane Adjacent to 551 Glenwood Avenue 

 

Recommendation: 
 
THAT Council receives the Report from the Manager, Real Estate Services dated September 
29, 2014, recommending that Council adopt the proposed closure of a portion of lane 
adjacent to 551 Glenwood Avenue; 
 
AND THAT Bylaw No. 10798, being proposed closure of a portion of lane adjacent to 551 
Glenwood Avenue, be given reading consideration; 
 
AND THAT the Mayor and City Clerk be authorized to execute all documents necessary to 
complete this transaction; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT upon registration pursuant to the Land Title Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c.250, 
information this transaction may be released to the public, subject to any privacy rights 
provided for in the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, 
c.165. 
 
Purpose:  
 
To close a portion of lane adjacent to and as requested by the owner of 551 Glenwood Avenue 
to facilitate the development of a mixed use commercial building. 
 
Background: 
 
The developer owns six separate properties located in the vicinity of Kelowna General 
Hospital. In order to maximize the development potential, the Developer wishes to acquire 
the portion of City laneway adjacent to the Developer-owned property at 551 Glenwood 
Avenue. To ensure that public access to the balance of the City-owned laneway between 
Glenwood Avenue and Royal Avenue is maintained, the developer is proposing to dedicate and 
construct a new lane along the eastern portion of their property at 551 Glenwood Avenue. A 
Survey showing the proposed lane closure is attached.  
 

392



Legal/Statutory Authority: 
 
Section 26 and 40, Community Charter 
 
Considerations not applicable to this report: 
Internal Circulation: 
Legal/Statutory Procedural Requirements: 
Existing Policy: 
Financial/Budgetary Considerations: 
Personnel Implications: 
External Agency/Public Comments: 
Communications Comments: 
Alternate Recommendation: 
 
 
Submitted by: J. Hancock, Manager, Real Estate Services  
 
Approved for inclusion: D. Edstrom, Director, Real Estate 
 
 
Attachments: 
 

1. Schedule A – Road Closure Plan 
2. Schedule B – Lane Dedication 

 
cc:  S. Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment 

R. Smith, Manager, Urban Planning  
S. Muenz, Manager, Development Engineering 
J. Moore, Manager, Long Range Policy Planning  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

393



 
 

Schedule A 
 

Road Closure Plan 
  
  

394



Schedule B 
 

Lane Dedication Area 

395



396



397



398



399



400



401


	Agenda
	2. DRAFT Minutes Sept 15 Reg meeting.pdf
	3.1 KPC PPXY.pdf
	4.1 2014 09 10 Report A14-0007 1185 McKenzie Rd.docx
	4.1 2014 09 10 Attachments A14-0007 1185 McKenzie Rd.pdf
	4.2 2014 09 10 Report A14-0008 1670 DeHart Rd.docx
	4.2 2014 09 10 Attachments A14-0008 1670 DeHart Rd.pdf
	4.3 2014 09 29 RTC TA14-0017.docx
	4.3 140808  CD18 Letter of Rationale.pdf
	4.3 Proposed CD18 - McKinley Beach Comprehensive Resort Development Zone.docx
	4.3 Existing CD18 zone.docx
	4.3.1 bl11012.pdf
	4.4 2014 09 29 Report OCP14-0013 Z14-0027 .docx
	4.4 2014 09 29 Attachments OCP14-0013 Z14-0027.pdf
	4.4.1 BL11005.pdf
	4.4.2 BL11006.pdf
	4.5 2014 09 29 Report Z13-0044 LG City Parks.docx
	4.5 Table A Attachments.docx
	4.5.1 BL11014.pdf
	4.6 2014-08-29 - Report - Health District Amendments.docx
	4.6 2014-08-07 -  Attachment - Zoning Bylaw Amendments.docx
	4.6.1 bl10997-1.pdf
	4.7 2014 09 29 Report TA14-0018 Amendment to P1 - NA Parking.docx
	4.7 2014 09 29 Attachment TA14-0018.pdf
	4.7.1 BL11013.pdf
	4.8 2014 09 29 Report  Z14-0030 519-539 Truswell Rd.docx
	4.8 2014 09 29 Attachments Z14-0030.pdf
	4.8.1 BL11015.pdf
	4.9 2014-09-29 Report Extension Z12-0046 to Feb 2 2015.docx
	4.9 ST PAUL DP1.pdf
	4.10 2014 09 29 Report DP14-0152 505 Doyle Ave.docx
	4.10 2014 09 24 Attachments DP14-0152 505 Doyle Ave.pdf
	4.10 2014 09 24 Permit DP14-0152 505Doyle Ave.docx
	4.11 Report to Council - OCP14-0012_Z14-0025.docx
	4.11.1 BL11007.pdf
	4.11.2 BL11008.pdf
	5.1 bl10833.pdf
	5.2 BL10989.pdf
	5.3 bl10995.pdf
	5.4 bl10856.pdf
	5.5 bl10857.pdf
	6.1 2014-09-29 Report - Memorandum of Understanding - Grant for French Library Material.docx
	6.1 2014-09-29 ORL Letter of Understanding.pdf
	6.1 2014-09-29 FAP Memorandum of Understanding.pdf
	6.2 2014 09 29 Overview of 2015 Arts, CultureHeritage Grants.docx
	6.2 2014 09 29 RTC 2015 Grants Appx A to E.pdf
	6.3 2014 sept 24 draft RTC MTBco letter of support.docx
	6.3 Gillard MTB location map.pdf
	6.4 2014-09-29 - Council Report - Fortune Marketing Lease.docx
	6.4 Schedule A - Lease Agreement.pdf
	6.4 Schedule B - Parkade Floor Plan.pdf
	6.4 Schedule D - Fortune Marketing Background.pdf
	6.4 Schedule C - KentMac Rent Estimate.pdf
	6.4 Item 6.4 - 2014-09-29 - Powerpoint - Fortune Marketing Lease.pdf
	6.5 FINAL 2014 09 29 - Report - Paddle Center Lease.docx
	6.5 Schedule A - Leased Premise.pdf
	6.5 Schedule B - FINAL EXECUTED Paddle Center Lease.pdf
	6.5 FINAL 2014-09-29 Presentation - Paddle Center Lease.pdf
	6.6 2014-09-29 Report - Bylaw 10798 - Glenwood Avenue (2).docx
	6.6 2014-09-29 - Schedule A - Road Closure Plan.pdf
	6.6 2014-09-29 - Schedule B - Road Dedication Plan.pdf
	6.6.1 bl10798.pdf
	7.1 bl10932-1.pdf

